WORLD RESOURCES INSTITUTE





Pesticides And The Immune System:

The Public Health Risks

ROBERT REPETTO SANJAY S. BALIGA

PESTICIDES AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM: The Public Health Risks

Robert Repetto Sanjay S. Baliga



WORLD RESOURCES INSTITUTE

March 1996

Kathleen Courrier *Publications Director*

Brooks Belford Marketing Manager

Hyacinth Billings Production Manager

Latifa Satterlee/Greenpeace *Cover Photos*

Each World Resources Institute Report represents a timely, scholarly treatment of a subject of public concern. WRI takes responsibility for choosing the study topics and guaranteeing its authors and researchers freedom of inquiry. It also solicits and responds to the guidance of advisory panels and expert reviewers. Unless otherwise stated, however, all the interpretation and findings set forth in WRI publications are those of the authors.

Copyright © 1996 World Resources Institute. All rights reserved. ISBN 1-56973-087-3

Printed on recycled paper

Contents

Ack	nowledgmentsv
Fore	ewordvii
Adv	risory Panel ix
I.	Introduction 1
II.	Trends and Patterns of Pesticide Use3The World Pesticide Market3Global Patterns4Latin America5Asia6Central Europe and the FormerSoviet Union7Africa8Pesticide Application Rates8
III.	Pesticide Exposure9Introduction9Occupational Exposure9Farmworker Families12Bioaccumulated Pesticide Products13Conclusion16
IV.	The Experimental and WildlifeEvidence17Experimental Studies17Two-Tiered ImmunotoxicologicalTesting20Wildlife Studies36Conclusion37

V.	The Human Evidence
	Introduction
	General Health Effects
	Cancer and Immunosuppression 41
	Allergic Reactions
	Autoimmunity and Immune
	Disregulation
	Pesticides' Effects on the
	Immune System
	Dioxin-Like Compounds 46
	More Comprehensive Studies 47
	Conclusion
VI.	Compounding Risk Factors
	Introduction
	Malnutrition
	Sickness and Infectious/Parasitic
	Disease
	Other Immunologic Risk Factors54
	The Prevalence of Compounding
	Risk Factors54
	Synergies Among Pesticides and
	Compounding Risk Factors
	Pesticide-Induced Immunosuppression
	and Global Change57
	Conclusion 58
1 711	Construitions on the common detions 50
V 11.	Conclusions and Recommendations 59
Glos	ssary65
Refe	erences

Acknowledgments

Te thank numerous colleagues who contributed time, expertise, and support throughout this project. In particular we are grateful for the guidance and assistance provided by the advisory panel listed elsewhere. We also thank the report's external reviewers, Monica Moore of the Pesticide Action Network, Ellen Silbergeld of the University of Maryland, and Nancy Kerkvliet of Oregon State University. We thank Walter Kaufman, Klaus von Grebmer, Andreas Luchinger, Klaus Leisinger, and Wilfred Samo of Ciba-Geigy Limited for their cooperation and suggestions. We thank the W. Alton Jones Foundation, the Rockefeller Foundation, the Jenifer Altman Foundation, and the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs for their encouragement and financial support. We are grateful to David Winikoff for valuable research assistance and Lyudmila Kovtyukh for making her own research and other Russian-language studies accessible to us.

Many colleagues within WRI have helped us with this study, including internal reviewers Jonathan Lash, Walter Reid, Alan Brewster, Devra Davis, and Ann Thrupp. Tine R. Nielsen and Wendy Vanasselt provided invaluable assistance in all phases of the project. Crescencia Maurer, Maura Paternoster, Donna Dwiggins, Carolina Katz, Changhua Wu, and Karen Berger helped by translating foreign language materials. Kathleen Courrier improved the manuscript with useful editorial suggestions. Hyacinth Billings did her usual superb production and publishing job with too little lead time. We thank Sam Boltik and Beth Behrendt for their help in obtaining research literature, and the policy affairs and publications staff for their assistance in distribution and dissemination.

> *R.R. S.S.B.*

Foreword

This report about the effects of pesticides on the human immune system makes one thing abundantly clear: we need to know more about these linkages, but we already know more than enough to take preventive action.

Hundreds of millions of farmworkers, farm households, and consumers are probably exposed to dangerous levels of pesticides. Most of these people live in the developing world and the countries of the former Soviet Union. In many cases, they are using chemicals with known acute and chronic toxicity and applying them without adequate safeguards.

The scientific evidence suggesting that many pesticides damage the immune system is impressive. Animal studies have found that pesticides alter the immune system's normal structure, disturb immune responses, and reduce animals' resistance to antigens and infectious agents. There is convincing direct and indirect evidence that these findings carry over to human populations exposed to pesticides.

Even a conservative guess about the years of productive life that are being lost around the world as a result of this problem would suggest that a small investment to minimize the risks will almost certainly provide benefits that far outweigh the costs.

Pesticides and the Immune System: The Public Health Risks continues an effort that dates back over many years at WRI to examine the health effects of environmental pollution and policies that will move us toward more sustainable agricultural practices. In Field Duty, Robert Wasserstrom and Richard Wiles assessed both the scientific and policy issues surrounding pesticide use and farmworker safety. In A Better Mousetrap, Michael J. Dover examined the strategies embodied in Integrated Pest Management that could reduce the health risks associated with pesticides. Paying the Price, by Robert Repetto, described how government subsidies for pesticides in developing countries encouraged wasteful use and needlessly increased health risks. More recently, Paul Faeth's *Growing Green* systematically examined the economic and environmental effects of changes in U.S. farm policy.

This study typifies WRI's team approach to research. The WRI team included Robert Repetto, WRI vice president and a former professor at the Harvard School of Public Health, and Sanjay Baliga, who graduated from Stanford University and acquired an M.P.H. degree at the University of Michigan. The team was aided by an advisory panel with extensive experience in this field.

Pesticide-induced immunosuppression is one of several emerging, imperfectly understood health risks associated with chemical exposures. The evidence assembled in this report underscores the need to continue improving our understanding of such risks. For our part, WRI plans to aggressively expand its work in this area in the coming years. In 1995 we began a new program on health, environment, and development headed by Dr. Devra Davis. This program is intended to fully inform policy-makers about the environmental determinants of threats to public health and about the opportunities to reduce the risks of disease through sound environmental stewardship.

Jonathan Lash President World Resources Institute

Advisory Panel

Michael Luster, Ph.D.

Head, Environmental Immunology & Neurobiology Section National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS) National Institutes of Health (NIH) and Chief, Toxicology and Molecular Biology Branch National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Donald Kennedy, Ph.D.

Bing Professor of Environmental Sciences Institute for International Studies & President Emeritus Stanford University

Dr. Edward M.B. Smith, F.F.O.M., RCP

Medical Officer Assessment of Risk and Methodologies International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS) World Health Organization (WHO)

Dr. Norbert Hirschorn, MD

Director, Family Health Division Minnesota Department of Health

I. Introduction

This report addresses a potentially serious risk to public health, the risk that many pesticides affect the human immune system in ways that suppress normal immune responses to invading viruses, bacteria, parasites and tumors. Based on accepted tests for immunotoxicity, evidence has accumulated from many laboratory experiments on various mammals and human cells exposed to widely used categories of pesticides. Unfortunately, these tests were not required when regulatory authorities screened most pesticides now on the market for potential health hazards.

Although extrapolating from laboratory test results to human health effects under actual exposure conditions is difficult, the experimental findings are supported by studies of mammals exposed to pesticides in the wild or in captivity and by epidemiological studies of people exposed to pesticides at work or through their diet. These epidemiological studies link pesticide exposure to immune system changes similar to those observed in laboratory experiments. Some also find elevated risks of infectious diseases or of certain cancers typical of immunosuppressed patients. Unfortunately, few epidemiological studies have been conducted (except in the former Soviet Union, where these concerns apparently arose decades ago). Difficult and expensive to carry out, such studies have not been a priority among the small community of environmental immunotoxicologists. But the need for more epidemiological studies, especially in the populations most at risk, is obvious.

The risks are greatest in many parts of the developing world and in countries of the former Soviet Union, where, compared to the industrialized world, much larger fractions of the populations still live in the countryside and work on farms. In developing regions, pesticide use is still growing rapidly, and compounds that have long been banned or restricted on health grounds in the United States are still in use. Moreover, pesticide regulations are weak and farmers lack the training and equipment to handle pesticides safely.

In developing regions, pesticide use is still growing rapidly, and compounds that have long been banned or restricted on health grounds in the United States are still in use.

People in these countries are at high risk from any chemical exposure that weakens their immune defenses. Few people have adequate housing, water supplies, and sanitation. Infectious and parasitic diseases are rampant: respiratory infections and gastro-intestinal diseases are the leading causes of death. Health care is inadequate, especially for low-income households, so people are forced to rely on their own defenses to recover from diseases. Widespread malnutrition has already weakened those immune responses. Fatality rates are high from common diseases measles and whooping cough, for example from which patients almost always recover in wealthy countries. On top of these other health risks, pesticide-induced immunosuppression might be substantially increasing the burden of common diseases. The consequences could remain undetected because people would die not from acute pesticide poisoning (although many do), but from such diseases as pneumonia or gastro-enteritis or the complications of measles. The fact that pesticide exposure weakened their immune responses and increased their vulnerability would remain unrecognized.

This report makes the case that existing evidence of a significant worldwide public health risk justifies both greater efforts to reduce pesticide exposures and much-expanded research into pesticide-induced immunosuppression and its health consequences. Chapter II describes patterns and trends in pesticide use in various parts of the world. Chapter III presents evidence that farmers, farm households, and households exposed to persistent pesticides through their diet represent large populations potentially at risk. Chapter IV summarizes a large amount of experimental research on pesticide immunotoxicity, citing the conclusions of immunologists and toxicologists who have reviewed this evidence. It also describes some important studies of immune deficiencies in marine mammals exposed to pesticides that bioaccumulate up the food chain. Chapter V summarizes epidemiological research on human populations, focussing especially on key studies carried out in Canada and the former Soviet Union. Chapter VI explains the compounding risk factors that make this issue especially critical in developing nations and countries in transition from socialism. The final chapter summarizes the entire report and presents our conclusions and recommendations.

II. Trends and Patterns of Pesticide Use

The World Pesticide Market

ata on worldwide pesticide sales and use are remarkably difficult to find. Few other \$30-billion-a-year industries are as reticent about the products they sell. Few are as concentrated, either. The top ten multinational pesticide companies (Ciba-Geigy, DuPont, Monsanto, Zeneca, Bayer, DowElanco, Rhone-Poulenc, Hoechst, American Cyanamid, and BASF) account for about two-thirds of world sales. The United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) surveys agricultural ministries in each country regarding pesticide use every year, but responses are not always reliable (Curti, 1994). A few market research firms sell data on pesticide sales in important national markets but the prices they charge puts the information out of reach for the general public.

In dollar terms, about 62 percent of the \$30 billion pesticide market in 1995 was in the United States, Western Europe and Japan, where intensive farming systems encouraged by internal price supports and external trade protection result in heavy applications per hectare. For example, average application rates in Western Europe are 7.3 kilograms of active ingredients per hectare, almost four times the world average of 1.9 kilograms. In weight of active ingredients, only 55 percent of the market was in developed regions. The difference arises because the advanced countries tend to buy more sophisticated and expensive products that operate more selectively at lower application rates. Most such products are still under patent protection and sell at considerably higher prices per kilogram than older broad-spectrum pesticides, many of which have gone off patent protection and have been banned or withdrawn from developed markets.

However, many of these older products are still produced and sold in developing country markets, either by domestic companies or by some multinationals acting through subsidiaries or joint ventures. These include DDT and other persistent organochlorine insecticides, which represent about 15 percent of the value of insecticide sales in regions outside of the United States, Western Europe and Japan (Wood MacKenzie, 1994a). Organochlorine pesticides' tonnage share is even greater, though it has been declining substantially. Approximately 70,000 to 80,000 tons of these compounds were applied in developing and formerly socialist countries in 1995, including public health and veterinary uses. The older and more toxic organophosphate and carbamate insecticides and herbicides also have very significant sales. Such products are sold in developing countries on a commodity basis with relatively little product support.

The key point from a public health perspective is that pesticides of toxicological concern, many long banned in the U.S. and elsewhere, are sold in large volumes in developing country markets. Although different information sources on country-by-country usage don't always agree, products under strict regulatory restriction, bans, or voluntary withdrawal in advanced countries but still widely sold and used in the Third World include alachlor, aldicarb, benomyl, captan, carbofuran, chlordane, cyanazine, DDT, dimethoate, endosulfan, EPN, mancozeb, lindane, monocrotophos, paraquat, parathion, toxaphene, and zineb. Many other widely used pesticides are under special regulatory review on health grounds in the United States, including the carbamates aldicarb (Temik), and carbaryl (Sevin), the herbicides alachlor (Lasso), atrazine, glyphosate (Roundup), and 2,4-D, and the organophosphate insecticides dichlorvos, malathion, and phorate. Although these pesticides have been reviewed for a range of acute and chronic toxicities, including possible risks of cancer and birth defects, they have not been reviewed in regulatory proceedings for potential toxicity to the immune system.

Although many pesticides have been reviewed for a range of acute and chronic toxicities, including possible risks of cancer and birth defects, they have not been reviewed in regulatory proceedings for potential toxicity to the immune system.

Global Patterns

In dollar terms, global pesticide sales increased by 11.2 percent annually between 1960 and 1992 but part of this increase represents inflation and a shift toward more expensive products. Sales growth decelerated during the 1980s and stagnated in the early 1990s because of recession or slow growth in OECD countries and the collapse of markets in Central Europe and the former Soviet Union. Although markets in these transitional economies will recover, sales volume is expected at best to stagnate in the United States, Japan, and Western Europe, and will decline substantially if agricultural protectionism is phased out. Sales value may still grow as older products are replaced with more sophisticated, expensive, and sometimes less toxic ones.

Most of the growth in the world pesticide market is in the developing countries. In value terms, growth between 1987 and 1993 in Latin America and Asia (outside Japan) was more than twice the world average. Corrected for inflation and exchange rate changes, growth in large developing country markets, including China, Brazil, Mexico, and India, is expected to range from 2.5 to 3.5 percent per year through 1998, two to three times the world average (Wood MacKenzie, 1994b). The commercialization and intensification of agriculture, the difficulty in expanding cropped acreage, the growth in demand for agricultural products as consumer incomes rise, and the shift to cash crops for domestic and export sales will all stimulate pesticide use. Growth is fastest in South and East Asia, followed by Latin America. Local production has increased substantially in the larger developing countries, such as Brazil, Mexico, China, and India. Major multinationals are increasing their presence in these expanding markets as barriers to direct foreign investment fall, and are introducing higher valued products in competition or partnership with domestic firms.

In densely populated Asian and Central American developing countries, insecticides account for a much greater share of the total pesticide market than in developed markets and transitional economies, where herbicides are equally important. Where typical farms are small and labor costs are low, weeding is done by hand. In the United States and Europe, by contrast, hand weeding is unheard of and rising energy costs have prompted a shift from mechanical tillage to chemical weed control.

Globally, organophosphates account for nearly 40 percent of total insecticide sales by value, followed by carbamates (20.4 percent), pyrethroids (18.4 percent), and organochlorines (6.1 percent). However, organochlorines are used almost entirely in developing and transitional economies, partly for public health vector control and animal health programs. However, these compounds also have agricultural uses on cotton, maize, and other crops—either alone or in mixtures (Wood MacKenzie, 1994a). Fruits and vegetables, cotton, and rice are the crops that are sprayed most intensively.

Latin America

Pesticide use in Latin America is expected to nearly triple by the year 2000, compared to use in 1980. Most of the increase is occurring in Brazil, the region's largest country, although the intensity of pesticide use is far greater in smaller countries, including Costa Rica, Belize, and Panama (Dinham, 1994; McConnell, 1993a). Testifying before a U.S. Senate panel, a researcher at the Pesticides Program at the National University School of Environmental Sciences in Costa Rica, called pesticide use in Central America "intensive, extensive, and thoroughly out of control" (Wesseling, 1991).

From 1984 to 1994, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) detained shipments of fruits and vegetables from Guatemala worth nearly \$18 million because of excessive pesticide residue levels.

The Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) uses figures for pesticide consumption (in kg) per agricultural worker as an indicator of the intensity of pesticide use in nine Latin American countries. By this measure, intensity was highest in Costa Rica, which used 14.0 kg/ worker/year. Next, in order, were Panama (10.0), Colombia (6.0), Mexico (4.5), Ecuador (2.5), El Salvador (2.5), Brazil (2.3), Honduras (2.1), and Guatemala (1.7) (McConnell, 1993a). Though Guatemala was the least intensive user in this group, other evidence nonetheless suggests serious overuse and exposure problems. From 1984 to 1994, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) detained shipments of fruits and vegetables from Guatemala worth nearly \$18 million because of excessive pesticide residue levels. In 1993 alone, these detentions were eight times those that Mexican produce—the next highest incurred for that year, even though Mexican exports of fruits and vegetables to the United States are far greater than Guatemala's (Thrupp, 1995).

The Brazilian agrochemical market has been growing at an average of 5 percent per year since 1983, despite macroeconomic difficulties. Structural adjustment is expected to increase agricultural exports and pesticide use in future years. At this point, most of the acreage of major crops (soybeans, maize, coffee, and wheat) is still not treated. There are already at least 50 pesticide manufacturers and formulators operating in Brazil, including most of the major multinationals. According to one information source, "The major insecticides used are commodities, such as toxaphene, DDT, carbaryl, malathion, monocrotophos, etc., although the pyrethroids are making substantial inroads.... Organophosphorus compounds still dominate with over 40% share" (Wood MacKenzie, 1994b, 47). Other common insecticides are endosulfan, chlorpyrifos, carbofuran, aldicarb, parathion and other organophosphates. Herbicides include atrazine, 2,4-D, glysophate, trifuralin, and others.

In Mexico, the major crop uses are on fruits and vegetables for export, followed by maize, sugarcane, cotton, and potatoes. NAFTA will increase agrichemical use on export crops. Organophosphates such as methamidophos and methyl parathion dominate the insecticide market, though DDT, endrin and BHC are still produced, carbofuran and other carbamates are important and use of pyrethroids has increased. Herbicides used include atrazine, 2,4-D, glysophate and paraquat. All the major multinationals have market share.

		Metric Tons	Hectares	Intensity
Country	Year	(MT)	(<u>'000 Ha</u>)	(Kg/Ha)
Latin America				
Belize	1992	993	57	17.40
Brazil	1990	67,000	61,350	1.10
Chile	1991	8,300	4,384	1.90
Colombia	1989	19,967	5,430	3.70
Costa Rica	1991	9,560	529	18.00
Ecuador	1990	6,200	2,750	2.30
Honduras	1992	8,147	1,855	4.40
Mexico	1989	48,000	24,720	1.90
Paraguay	1992	15,887	2,270	7.00
Suriname	1991	557	68	8.10
Trinidad & Tobago	1989	1,601	120	13.30
Asia				
Bangladesh	1989	4,500	9,137	0.50
China	1991	300,000	96,554	3.10
Hong Kong	1992	80	7	11.40
India	1991	72,094	169,500	0.40
Iran	1991	25,915	18,170	1.40
Jordan	1989	1,195	391	3.10
Malaysia	1992	44,721	4,880	9.20
Mongolia	1989	48	1,375	0.03
Myanmar	1992	357	10,039	0.04
Pakistan	1992	5,517	21,110	0.26
Papua New Guinea	1988	1,367	388	3.50
South Korea	1989	20,000	2,010	10.00
Sri Lanka	1992	4,633	1,903	2.40

Table 1. Pesticide Use Per Cropped Hectare

Asia

Most of the major agrochemical companies have targeted the fast-growing Asian pesticide market for their expansion plans. Together, the Asian nations produce 90 percent of the world's rice crop, which alone uses about 14 percent of the world's pesticide output (Dinham, 1994). Farming is intensive and typical farm sizes are tiny because agricultural land is extremely scarce in most Asian countries. Land is cropped two or three times per year wherever water conditions allow. Chemicals and other inputs are applied heavily to push up yields. After Japan, China and India are the largest users. Despite substantial research in China on biological pest control methods, over 100 million hectares of Chinese cropland—mostly planted to rice, fruits and vegetables, cotton, and wheat—are sprayed, typically with hand sprayers (Landell Mills, 1994a). China's production of pesticides more than doubled over the past decade to nearly 300,000 tons per year of active ingredients, including a range of organophosphate and pyrethroid insecticides.

Country	Year	Metric Tons (MT)	Hectares (′000 Ha)	Intensity (Kg/Ha)
Thailand	1990	23,160	29,000	0.80
Turkey	1990	17,618	27,689	0.60
Africa				
Angola	1987	518	3,450	0.01
Benin	1989	85	1,860	0.05
Botswana	1992	17	1,164	0.01
Burundi	1992	4,047	1,350	3.00
Cameroon	1992	1,700	7,020	0.24
Chad	1992	724	3,256	0.22
Congo	1989	5	168	0.03
Cote d'Ivoire	1992	5,330	3,690	1.40
Egypt	1992	5,548	2,600	2.10
Gambia	1993	100	180	0.56
Kenya	1992	2,032	2,440	0.83
Madagascar	1992	500	3,102	0.16
Mali	1992	295	2,203	0.13
Mauritius	1990	1	106	0.01
Morocco	1990	93,940	9,503	9.90
Mozambique	1988	262	3,130	0.08
Rwanda	1992	221	1,170	0.19
Seychelles	1991	9	7	1.30
Tanzania	1989	14,100	3,370	4.20
Togo	1987	1,700	669	2.50
Zaire	1991	1,075	7,880	0.14
Zambia	1989	1,700	5,268	0.32
Zimbabwe	1992	2,424	2,814	0.86

India has more than 20 local producers, including joint ventures with leading multinationals. Insecticides comprise two-thirds of the total pesticide market, and more than half of the total volume is used on rice and cotton. Installed production capacity in India is greatest for the organochlorines lindane and other BHC isomers (45,000 tons/yr), DDT (9,000 tons/yr), endosulfan (4,000 tons/yr), the organophosphates monocrotophos (2,500 tons/yr), malathion (10,000 tons/ yr), parathion (2,700 tons/yr), dimethoate (2,000 tons/yr) and a carbamate product, carbaryl (2,000 tons/yr). Pyrethroids expanded their market share rapidly until resistance problems emerged some years ago. Major herbicide products include butachlor, 2,4-D, paraquat, and atrazine.

Central Europe and the Former Soviet Union

Economic disruption and decline during the 1990s has depressed pesticide use considerably in this region. The collapse of intra-regional trade, the break-up of state farms, and sharp reductions in consumer purchasing power reduced agricultural demand. At the same time, state-owned pesticide plants, which dominated production, faced marketing and financial constraints and imports were curtailed by foreign exchange shortages. Thus, pesticide use in the states of the former Soviet Union in 1994 was only one-third as much as in the USSR in 1990. Sharp declines were also experienced in Eastern Europe, especially in Hungary, Rumania and Bulgaria.

Nonetheless, even in 1994, the region was a major consumer of pesticides. Roughly 80,000 tons of active ingredients were applied, about evenly divided between the countries of Central Europe and those of the former Soviet Union. Herbicides—used mostly on cereals—represent the largest share of the pesticide market (Landell Mills, 1994b). Phenoxy herbicides (2,4-D), triazine herbicides (atrazine) and acetanilide products (alachlor, metolachlor) are widely used. Copper compounds and sulfur are used in large volumes to control fungi and mites. Organophosphate and carbamate insecticides such as dimethoate and carbofuran predominate. In the former Soviet Union, over two-thirds of all pesticides are used on the cotton crop, which occupies less than 3 percent of total cultivated acreage.

Africa

Pesticide use in Africa is the lowest overall of all continents because poverty, instability, unreliable rains, and indifferent soils have kept smallholder agriculture from modernizing in much of the region. However, there are areas of intensive pesticide use—across North Africa, for example. The cotton-growing regions of Sudan, Egypt, and Cote d'Ivoire are also heavy pesticide users. Large-scale commercial farms and plantations producing coffee and other export crops in South Africa, Zimbabwe, and Kenya are also chemicalintensive. Structural adjustment in response to the debt problems of the 1980s has markedly increased export crop production, the major pesticide user. Cotton acreage in Africa doubled between 1983 and 1993, for example. According to one report, "many of the organochloride pesticides, such as DDT, toxaphene, lindane, chlordane, and heptachlor, which have been banned or whose use has been severely restricted in Europe and North America, are still marketed and used in Africa and much of the developing world" (Szmedra, 1994, 7). Data for Egypt suggest that organophosphates and carbamates dominate insecticide use there, primarily on cotton. In South Africa, another major consumer, such herbicides as atrazine, glyphosate, alachlor, and 2,4-D have relatively large sales volume.

Pesticide Application Rates

Aggregate consumption data are presented in Table 1 for 57 countries, collected from FAO and other sources (Dinham, 1994, 1993; FAO, 1994; Szmedra, 1994; WRI, 1994; PAN, 1989).

Costa Rica (18.0 MT/1,000 Ha), Belize (17.4), South Korea (10.0), Morocco (9.9), and Malaysia (9.2) are among the most intensive pesticide users but, even in countries where per hectare application rates are lower, persistent or hazardous pesticides, unsafe practices, or geographically concentrated patterns of use can create significant exposure risks for large populations. The overall picture emerges of heavy and growing use of highly risky pesticide products in large parts of the developing world.

III. Pesticide Exposure

Introduction

The public health risks of pesticide-induced immunosuppression depend not only on how toxic various compounds are, but also on how many people are exposed, what their risk-related demographic, socioeconomic and health profile is, what kinds of pesticides they are exposed to, and the extent and routes of exposure. Pesticide use patterns indicate that three large groups are potentially exposed: 1) farmers and farmworkers occupationally exposed to pesticides; 2) other members of farm households, especially in areas of intensive pesticide use; and 3) populations exposed to persistent pesticides that bioaccumulate in food.

Unfortunately, assessing exposure is difficult. No one is systematically measuring exposures, even among small farmers and farmworkers, the largest group at risk. Measuring the pesticide dose would be difficult anyway, since recommended monitoring techniques are expensive and the dose can vary widely depending on the crop, equipment, wind conditions, and the precautions taken.

However, descriptive studies discussed below show that farmworkers and other workers are actually liberally dosed when they use pesticides. *Clinical reports of pesticide intoxication demon*strate that moderate and heavy exposure is commonplace. Pesticide residues on foodstuffs and in water demonstrate potential non-occupational exposure. Pesticide residues in blood serum, breast milk, or urine confirm occupational and nonoccupational exposure, even though certain pesticides break down quickly in blood, and the liver and kidney break down and expel pesticides in urine. Cholinesterase depression provides another important biomarker of exposure to organophosphate pesticides, although depression is transient and normal values vary across individuals (He, 1993; Brewster, 1992; Krieger, 1992). The evidence in this chapter taken as a whole confirms that hundreds of millions of people are exposed significantly to pesticides each year.

Hundreds of millions of people are exposed significantly to pesticides each year.

Occupational Exposure

Almost half of the world's 6.5 billion people live in rural areas, mostly in farm households. Of the roughly 2 billion workers in the world in 1990, 1.1 billion—over half—are farmers, the largest occupationally exposed group. Of these, 95 percent live and work in developing countries (WRI, 1994; FAO, 1986). Most exposed workers are agricultural laborers and small farmers in areas of plantation or intensive agriculture. Although lapses in safety precautions also occur in developed countries, in the developing world inadequate safety and hygiene practices are the norm in applying, formulating, storing, transporting and manufacturing pesticides. There, most farmworkers are not trained in safe pesticide use, and the few regulations that address farmworker safety are unrealistic or unenforced.

A recent comparative study of pesticide use and exposure patterns in Brazil, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Paraguay, Venezuela, Egypt, South Africa, India, and Malaysia concluded that "in Third World countries, pesticides cannot be used with safety. Health and safety issues are exacerbated by a general lack of hazard awareness; the lack of protective clothing, or difficulty of wearing protective clothing in tropical climates; shortage of facilities for washing after use, or in case of accidents; the value of containers for re-use in storing food and drink; illiteracy; labelling difficulties relating either to language, complexity or misleading information; lack of regulatory authorities; and lack of enforcement" (Dinham, 1993, 38).

Pesticide warning labels do not ensure safe use. Often, they are printed incorrectly or in the wrong language and many users are illiterate. A survey by the Thai Division of Toxic Substances found that 44 percent of randomly selected pesticide formulations had the active ingredients incorrectly labelled (Tayaputch, 1988). Three fifths of Kenyan farmers, many of whom are literate, could not understand the instructions written on pesticide containers (Mwanthi, 1993a). Mexican farmworkers in the state of Chiapas poisoned by paraquat "did not know the proper dilution for paraquat use; they learned to use paraquat from friends, rather than from qualified authorities" (Tinoco, 1993, 80).

Even when instructions are readable, workers are exposed—usually through the skin—when using improper equipment to mix or spray pesticides. Organophosphates and carbamates are particularly capable of absorption through the skin, even if cotton clothing is worn (Grissom, 1992). Kitchen spoons, matchboxes, tin cans, and bottles are often used to mix active ingredients, which allows highly concentrated chemicals to touch bare skin (Chester, 1993; Castaneda, 1988).

Observations of Malaysian plantation workers identified several exposure routes. Knapsack sprayers, often using leaking and outdated hand sprayers, averaged 27.84 ml of dermal exposure per hour of application and spraying machine operators averaged 31.78 ml. Mixers' hands were also highly exposed, since many wore no protective gloves. When sprayers were refilled while still attached to their operators, pesticides spilled onto workers' backs. It was common for "operators to walk through the spray mists before the droplets settled on the target and also to walk into the sprayed areas, particularly where foliage was thick" (Tan, 1988, 411).

In tropical climates, sprayers rarely wear uncomfortable and costly protective clothing. Only 3 percent of a sample of Filipino rice farmers wore full protective clothing (long pants, long sleeves, mask and gloves) when spraying. One in five sprayed into the wind (Rola, 1993). In the northern Philippines, farmers spraying pesticides wore masks in only one quarter of spraying operations and never wore gloves or boots (Alba, 1988). In Sri Lanka, one in three pesticide users had head and arms unprotected while spraying, only one in ten wore face masks, and nine out of ten reported getting pesticides on their skin while spraying (on average 6 times per year) (Utsch, 1991). A survey in the West Indies indicated that 65 percent of respondents never used protective clothing when using pesticides (McDougall, 1993).

Agricultural fieldworkers rarely observe the re-entry period, the time required between spraying and other fieldwork. In one study, cultivators were exposed, on average, to 14 mg of parathion per day after disregarding the re-entry period and prematurely entering fields (Wolfe, 1975). In the Philippines, re-entry periods are not posted and farmers usually return to the fields the same day after spraying. "Thus, weeders as well as children and other household members in or near newly sprayed fields are also directly exposed to pesticides" (Rola, 1993, 38). Especially in countries where pesticides are applied by aerial spraying, fieldworkers and households living near fields can be significantly exposed by winddrift (Richter, 1992). Fumigation workers are especially likely to inhale pesticides.

Organophosphate (OP) and carbamate pesticides work by inhibiting the activity of cholinesterase, an enzyme essential for normal neuromuscular functioning. As exposure levels increase, cholinesterase activity decreases. Plasma or red blood cell cholinesterase levels is a widely used biomarker of exposure to OPs. Despite interindividual variability in baseline cholinesterase activity and inter-laboratory measurement variability, any substantial decrease in cholinesterase activity relative to a baseline period or to a control population indicates exposure (St. Omer, 1992).

Many studies demonstrate decreased cholinesterase activity among farmworkers in Latin America, where organophosphate insecticides and herbicides dominate. According to a WHO report, 10 to 30 percent of sampled farmworkers showed significant cholinesterase inhibition (WHO, 1990). Greenhouse and outdoor fumigation workers in Mexico showed significant cholinesterase depression (by 10 percent or more) after a one-day exposure to high levels of an organophosphate. Younger workers who were more likely to have engaged in more intense use of the pesticide suffered greater declines (Lopez-Carillo, 1993). In Nicaragua, a study using a 50 percent reduction relative to the mean of a control sample as a benchmark found that 19 percent of a sample of workers were occupationally exposed. The percentages ranged widely, from 37 percent of those who worked around the sprayplanes to 24 percent of fieldworkers and 8 percent of other agricultural workers in the sample. Fieldworkers, applicators, mixers, and loaders had the highest poisoning rates, and cotton was the crop associated with the most poisonings. By identifying 396 poisonings in a sample group that had reported only 7, this study also demonstrated the extreme underreporting of pesticide poisoning to health authorities (Cole, 1988). Other data from Nicaragua have also demonstrated lower

cholinesterase levels in populations living next to regularly sprayed cotton fields (Rivas, 1991). In Indonesia as well, a study conducted by the Directorate of Hygiene and Sanitation showed that of 448 Balinese farmers examined more than 35 percent had cholinesterase depression of 25 percent or greater (Sim, 1985).

Pesticides that are acutely neurotoxic, such as some organophosphates, are still widely used in developing countries. Poisoning incidents provide a crude indicator of significant exposure but reflect only the upper tail of the exposure distribution, indicating a much larger number of sub-acute exposures. Even so, poisonings are grossly underreported (AID, 1990; Jeyaratnam, 1990). Poisoning surveillance systems are usually maintained only at large urban hospitals. Village health centers may be completely excluded from monitoring reports. Most less severe poisoning cases never reach the hospital and many of those that do are misdiagnosed as stroke or respiratory and cardiovascular disease (Loevinsohn, 1987).

Self-reported rates of pesticide intoxication from surveys in Latin America run from 13 percent of agricultural workers per year (among cotton farmers in Mexico) to 12 percent lifetime incidence (among diversified farmers in Brazil) (McConnell, 1993a). These rates are consistent with the lifetime self-reported rates in Indonesia, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, and Thailand which ranged from 11.9 to 19.4 percent (Jeyaratnam, 1987). However, directly observed poisoning rates are much higher than self-reported rates because farmers typically discount or ignore the symptoms.

A prospective study of pesticide exposure among farmers in Central Java observed that in 21 percent of the spray operations the sample of farmers averaged three or more neurological, intestinal, or respiratory symptoms of poisoning. If taken as a functional definition of poisoning, this attack rate is much higher than previously documented or recognized by the farmers themselves. Only 9 percent of farmers in the sample selfreported pesticide poisoning incidents over the year (Kishi, 1995).

Farmworker Families

In many developing countries, families share the farmwork. Men, women and children typically have different agricultural work roles. On southeast Asian rice farms, men prepare the paddies and irrigate while women and children transplant, weed, harvest, and tend domestic animals. Aerial drift can expose young children being tended by older siblings on field boundaries or herding animals near the fields. Women and children who help prepare or apply pesticides may also be exposed. For example, in the Benguet district of the Philippines, nearly onethird of all children and one half of all wives of farmworkers help apply pesticides (Rola, 1989).

Storing pesticides improperly in the home also creates risks for farm families. In Central Java, more than four-fifths of farmers stored pesticides in their homes within easy reach of children; three-fourths stored these chemicals within the living quarters (including the kitchen). Fewer than one in four pesticide containers were kept sealed and half were leaking (Kishi, 1995). Surveys in St. Lucia and Sri Lanka found similar problems in farmers' houses (McDougall, 1993; Utsch, 1991). A Kenyan study reported that 62 percent of farmers store pesticides in areas used for sleeping or cooking. Half used cooking pots or water containers to mix pesticides (Mwanthi, 1993b). Furthermore, many farm households use the same pesticides to control house and garden pests that they use on the fields. Agricultural pesticides have even been used to eliminate head lice and other bodily infestations.

Farmers routinely dump pesticide containers near the fields or leave them to corrode in sheds or houses. In Sri Lanka, pesticide bottles and cans holding toxic residues are basically thrown "in the field, in the jungle, into a canal, the road, behind the house or just anywhere" (Utsch, 1991, 306). In the Brazilian states of São Paulo and Santa Catarine, respectively 21 and 27 percent of rural residents left empty pesticide containers in the field without taking any safety measures (Almeida, 1991). In Penang Island and Province Wellesley in Malaysia, nearly one-half of all farmers disposed of pesticide containers by throwing them into the rivers, into the bushes, or by burying them in the ground (Shabat Alam Malaysia, 1984). Recycling pesticide containers for water storage, bathing, and cooking is also common—though even more risky.

Applicators commonly dump unused pesticide formulations and rinse used containers and equipment in irrigation canals. A PAHO review of several Latin American countries concludes that "it is common to find residues of organochlorine and organophosphorus compounds in drainage, wells, and river water" (Henao, 1993, 38). In many rural communities, people bathe in irrigation canals and streams into which such drainage waters flow. In the Philippines, 96 percent of farmers washed in the same irrigation canals where they cleaned their spray units (Castaneda, 1988). According to a survey in Sri Lanka, nearly 40 percent of pesticide mixing locations were within 50 meters of bathing sites and 20 percent were within 10 meters. More than one in four drinking water sources were within 50 meters of the sites of pesticide mixing, and nearly one in ten were within 10 meters (Utsch, 1991). These observations of typical practices in rural areas of developing countries show how widespread the risks of pesticide exposure are for rural households.

A study of farm children in Nicaragua demonstrated that nearly 40 percent of them had significantly depressed cholinesterase activity.

Biomarkers of exposure in farmworker families confirm this conclusion. A study of farm children in Nicaragua demonstrated that nearly 40 percent of them had significantly depressed cholinesterase activity (McConnell, submitted). One in six Colombian teenagers who rotated between school and farmwork exhibited cholinesterase levels reduced by 20 percent or more (Henao, 1990). Similar cholinesterase reductions were identified for 33 percent of Nicaraguan farm children and 10 percent of Honduran neighbors of rice fields that were sprayed from the air (McConnell, 1990; Honduras, 1982). In Bolivia, nearly 10 percent of workers who demonstrated reduced cholinesterase activity were under 18 years of age (Bolivia, 1990). In Costa Rica, it was one in five, although it is illegal for people under 18 to handle pesticides (Wesseling, 1990).

A PAHO review found that occupational pesticide poisonings among children under 18 years of age accounted for roughly 10 to 20 percent of all poisonings (Henao, 1993). In the Philippines, children accounted for nearly one in eight poisonings (Rola, 1993). In Sri Lanka, children less than 10 years of age are predominant in accidental poisoning cases (Utsch, 1991). In the Department of Antioquia in Colombia, nearly one in five poisonings were recorded in children under 14 years of age (Nieto, 1990). Similar conditions were found in Nicaragua (McConnell, 1993b). Thus, biological indicators and symptoms show that not only farmworkers but also their families and children are exposed.

In California, children of migrant farmworkers living near sprayed fields experienced depressed cholinesterase activity and symptoms of acute pesticide exposure. Nearly one in five of these children had below-normal cholinesterase levels, even though they had not worked in the fields. Of the children who did fieldwork, 40 percent had abnormally low levels. "Observations indicated that toxic effects were associated with residential exposures to residues in drift" (Richter, 1992, 627).

Bioaccumulated Pesticide Products

The general population tends to have only low-dose, chronic exposures to pesticides but nonetheless may receive much larger doses if exposed to pesticides that are persistent and bioaccumulate. Groups within the general population that can be exposed to high levels of bioaccumulated pesticides include 1) habitual consumers of fish, livestock, and dairy products, 2) fetuses and nursing infants whose mothers' bodies have accumulated substantial levels of persistent pesticides, and 3) sick people who metabolize pesticide-bioaccumulated fatty tissues while ill.

The general population can be exposed to pesticides in three general ways: 1) vector control for public health and other non-agricultural purposes, 2) environmental residues, and 3) food residues. People are often exposed through spraying for vector control. Organochlorines, such as DDT, are still used in malaria control and other public health programs in many countries. A study in KwaZulu, South Africa found significantly elevated levels of DDT and metabolites in blood serum of people living in DDT-treated households. In small children the primary route seemed to be through breast milk (Bouwman, 1994). In Brazil, households sprayed with HCH against Chagas Disease had an order of magnitude higher serum content than did controls (Lara, 1987).

Roughly 85–90 percent of pesticides applied agriculturally never reach target organisms, but disperse through the air, soil and water.

Persistent pesticides move through air, soil, and water, finding their way into living tissues where they can bioaccumulate up the food chain into human diets. Roughly 85–90 percent of pesticides applied agriculturally never reach target organisms, but disperse through the air, soil and water (Moses, 1993). Although many organic pesticides quickly degrade in the environment, most organochlorine and metal-containing pesticides do not. The half-life of toxaphene in soil, for example, is up to 29 years (PAN, 1993). From soils, persistent pesticide residues can be taken up by plants and then by herbivores. High levels of persistent pesticide contaminants have been found in animal dairy products—in Kazakstan, for example, where pesticides have been heavily misused, and in the La Laguna Region of Mexico, where DDT residues in cows milk averaged 2.56 ug/g, well above standard tolerances (Lederman, 1993; Albert, 1990). In the Soconusco region of the State of Chiapas, Mexico and the Argentine cities of Santa Fe and Rosario, most butter and cheese samples contained pesticide residues (Lenardon, 1994; Albert, 1988).

Pesticides that are not bound in soils or taken up into plants and animals can drain into rivers and lakes and move into the aquatic food chain. Chlorinated pesticides have been detected in rivers in Tanzania, Colombia, Indonesia, Malaysia, China, and Thailand at levels suggesting "potentially severe damage" (Egboka, 1989; Meybeck, 1989, 189.) In Asia's densely populated rice growing areas, ecological bioaccumulation can be quite rapid since farmers commonly stock their flooded paddies with small fish and harvest them when the paddies are drained. In Malaysia, where this combined fish/rice culture is common, fish exposed to organochlorine pesticides in the paddies for only six months contained high levels of these bioaccumulated compounds (Meier, 1983).

Some volatile pesticides also reach the upper atmosphere and are carried hundreds or thousands of miles by the wind, only to fall into bodies of water and enter the aquatic food chain. Reports of this long range atmospheric transport come from North America, Asia, Africa, Oceania, Europe, and Siberia and the levels of organochlorines in the aquatic environment correlate strongly with levels of use in neighboring lands (Iwata, 1995, 1993).

In Michigan, people historically consuming more than 24 pounds of fish annually from the highly polluted Great Lakes showed DDT blood levels nearly 2.3 times that of a control group, even though the pesticide was banned in the United States decades ago (Hovinga, 1993). Other studies from the Great Lakes region corroborate these findings (Asplund, 1994; Fiore, 1989; Davies, 1988; Hallet, 1988).

A PAHO review of studies in Latin American countries concludes that "the pattern of the residues found [in human body tissues] is similar: high frequencies and levels of DDT and its metabolites, followed by BHCH, dieldrin, heptachlor epoxide and hexachlorobenzene" (Henao, 1993, 46). Another review found high concentrations of these organochlorines in people's body tissues in 22 Third World and formerly socialist countries (Kaloyanova, 1991a).

Many organic and metal-based pesticides can also pass from mother to unborn child through the placenta, potentially leading to birth defects, abnormal development of the immune system, and fetal death.

People bioaccumulate most organochlorine and metal-containing pesticides in their fat, where they tend to stay unless the fat is metabolized for energy—during bouts of illness, for example. Then, the contaminants may become bioavailable. Many organic and metal-based pesticides can also pass from mother to unborn child through the placenta, potentially leading to birth defects, abnormal development of the immune system, and fetal death (Sesline, 1994; Slikker, 1994).

Since dermal exposure is the main exposure route for farmworkers, pregnant women who continue to work in fields sprayed with pesticides may run an increased risk of exposing their unborn children. In developing countries, most pregnant women work until the onset of labor. Prenatal exposure via the mother is measurable in newborn infants. Blood serum DDT levels of newborn babies in São Paulo, Brazil averaged 14 ug/l, nearly half the average concentration in their mothers' bodies (Procianoy, 1981).

Infants are at great risk from pesticides in breast milk because their intake relative to bodyweight is so high.

Infants are at great risk from pesticides in breast milk because their intake relative to bodyweight is so high. Infants and children also metabolize many of these chemicals more slowly than adults do. Consequently, strong positive correlations are found between organochlorine levels in breast milk and in the blood of infants who breastfeed (Bouwman, 1993).

A 1991 study in Delhi, India found DDT and HCH residues in urban water, soil, and fauna. Even though DDT use had been banned for agricultural uses earlier, human breast milk samples showed DDT and HCH levels had not declined substantially over the past decade, and were comparable to levels found in the Punjab, an area of intensive farming. Infants ingesting such breast milk received roughly 12 times the allowable daily intake of DDT (Nair, 1992).

After a systematic review of data from Latin America, PAHO's Center for Human Ecology and Health concluded that "levels of organochlorine compounds, particularly DDT, in mother's milk are high, and frequently above appropriate guideline limits" (Henao, 1993, 45). Another thorough review of the global literature concluded that "the levels of these pesticides are now mostly much higher in human milk from developing countries than in that from industrialized countries" and "the persistent organohalogens seem to constitute the largest potential health problem" (Jensen, 1991, 184).

Studies of mothers' milk in Thailand, India, Turkey, and Kenya also demonstrated pesticide residues above recommended levels (Prapamontol, 1992; Jani, 1988; Karakaya, 1987; Kanja, 1986). More recent studies have detected high levels of DDT, dieldrin, and other organochlorines in human milk studies of Mexico, Colombia, Uruguay, and to a lesser extent in Costa Rica (Vargas, 1990; Viveros, 1990; Wesseling, 1990; Burger, 1987). Children continue to be exposed to organochlorine pesticides in developing countries, where these compounds are still produced and used. Fortunately, declines in use lead to decreased breast milk residues. In Guatemala, after DDT use was prohibited in 1979, breast milk residues decreased four-fold from 12.2 ppm in 1971 to 3.37 ppm in 1982 (De Campos, 1987).

Pesticide residues on foods create an important—though under-reported—exposure route for the general population in most developing countries. Episodes of mass pesticide poisonings often point to ingredients, such as seeds, flour, sugar, oils and wheat contaminated with pesticides in storage or transport (WHO, 1990). These dramatic incidents suggest that less extreme contamination of foodstuffs with pesticides is a more widespread risk.

Food standards in developing countries are typically neither as stringent nor as well enforced as those in the industrialized world, and pesticide residues are often found on agricultural products. Residues of DDT, endrin, lindane, and others were found on 25 to 88 percent of the food samples from the cities of Alexandria, Behera, Gharbia, Dakahlia, and others (Abdel-Gawaad, 1990). In Brazil, 13.6 percent of fruits and 3.7 percent of vegetables exceeded tolerance limits (Henao, 1993). Vegetables in town and city markets in the Philippines in 1985 showed the presence of DDT, aldrin, dieldrin, chlordane, heptachlor and other organochlorines, even though these compounds were sanctioned only for use against termites and not on food crops (Rola, 1989). Significant food residues have been found in many other countries, including Tunisia, Venezuela, and India (Dinham, 1993).

Conclusion

Taken as a whole the wide range and variety of evidence compiled here shows that exposure to pesticides with known human toxicity continues to be widespread and heavy in many countries around the world, among farmworkers and their families and the general population. Direct observations and biological measurements bear this out. Infants and children are among those subject to significant exposure.

IV. The Experimental and Wildlife Evidence

Experimental Studies

E xperimental studies on human cell cultures and laboratory animals provide strong evidence that many pesticides are immunotoxic. Such studies form part of all recommended batteries of tests used to evaluate chemicals for immunotoxicity. Test-tube (*in vitro*) studies employ tissues, cells, or cell components outside the body, making experiments easy to control and carry out. Researchers can isolate cells of interest (such as human immune cells), control exposures to the chemicals being studied, and analyze any effects carefully. However, *in vitro* experiments act on cell materials that are far simpler than living organisms, and so may give results that differ from those of actual exposures.

Experimental animal (*in vivo*) studies are also used extensively in toxicological research, because chemicals that are toxic to humans are usually toxic to other mammalian species. All mammalial (and avian and fish) immune systems are structurally similar (Turner, 1994). Humoral, cell-mediated, and non-specific immune responses are remarkably similar in humans and the rodent species used experimentally, and considerable evidence shows that animal models are valid for testing human immunotoxicity. For example, the immunosuppressive drug cyclosporin A, used in graft surgery and organ transplantation, has been found to have similar toxicological and immunosuppressive properties in a wide variety of mammalian species, including rats, mice, monkeys and humans (Dean, 1987). Canadian studies of the effects of heavy metals (including metal-based pesticides) on immune systems in several species, including earthworm, trout, mouse, rat, beluga whales, swine, calf, and humans, found that the effects were the same in all species; only the sensitivities differed (Fournier, 1995a, 1995b). The U.S. National Research Council Committee on Immunotoxicology has "accepted that the immune systems of many animals and humans are comparable; that animal models are available to assess immune dysfunction objectively; that positive immunosuppressants, such as cyclophosphamide and cyclosporin A, are used to validate assays; and that data obtained from animal studies can sometimes be verified in humans" (NRC, 1992, 3).

Nonetheless, the usefulness of tests on lab animals to predict human health impacts is still debated. Skeptics claim that the high doses administered to lab animals to detect effects in relatively small samples lead to many false positive results, and that extrapolating toxicity from these high doses to the much smaller doses to which humans are exposed is unreliable. To be sure, the high doses often administered to experimental animals can suppress immune parameters simply through toxic stress, and even if laboratory studies do measure some immune suppression, humans subject to similar exposures may not show clinical symptoms, since normal immune systems have overlapping defenses against attack (Botham, 1990).

On the other hand, the laboratory evidence of pesticide-induced immunotoxicity may underestimate actual risks precisely because the test

Box 1. How the Immune System Defends the Body

The immune system is essential to health and survival. It defends the body against pathogens and cancers through a complex interaction of white blood cells and blood serum molecules. Three distinct immunity mechanisms work in concert to recognize and eliminate bacteria, fungi, viruses, parasites, and cancer cells. These three branches generate a quick **primary response** to an invader as well as a more vigorous **secondary response**, should the invader reappear even months or years later.

One mechanism, **non-specific immunity**, involves *macrophages*, *neutrophils* and *natural killer cells* that roam the body on the lookout for new intruders. When encountering foreign or cancerous cells, macrophages and neutrophils ingest and destroy them in a process called phagocytosis; natural killer cells punch holes in them.

Another mechanism, **humoral immunity**, involves *B cells, antibody* proteins, and *complement* proteins. Produced by B cells, antibodies can bind to portions of foreign cells called *antigens*. Because B cells genes are readily rearranged, billions of distinct antibodies are present at any time in the body to protect against the almost infinite variety of antigens on invaders. When bound to antigens, antibodies neutralize foreign cells by activating scavenger cells or complement proteins that kill the foreign cells.

The third mechanism, **cell-mediated immunity**, involves another class of white blood cells

animals used are typically healthy young male adults fed carefully selected and nutritious diets (Olson, 1986a). In real populations, whether animal or human, the individuals most likely to suffer health consequences are those whose immune systems are weak because they are very young, aged, pregnant, sick, or malnourished (Luster, 1993a; NRC, 1993; IPCS, 1986).

called *T cells*, which also have receptors that can bind to antigens. Macrophages and B cells encounter and attack foreign invaders, process antigens from these invaders and present them for inspection to T cell receptors in a process called antigen presentation. After T cell receptors bind to the antigen, specialized *helper-T cells* secrete *lymphokines*, chemical messengers that travel to the foreign organism and induce nearby macrophages to kill it through a process called *delayed-type hypersensitivity*. In addition to cell-mediated immunity, these lymphokines affect humoral immunity by inducing B cells to produce large numbers of antibodies directed against the foreign organism. Helper-T cells assist B cells and macrophages in killing bacteria, fungi, and parasites.

Another cell-mediated immunity mechanism that works against viruses involves cytotoxic-T cells, another kind of T cell. Viruses typically penetrate inside human cells and can use the cell's own genetic mechanisms to reproduce. Fortunately, human cells can present viral antigens to T cell receptors. When this happens, cytotoxic-T cells kill the virally infected cell, keeping the infection from spreading. *Suppressor-T cells*, another class of T cell structurally similar to cytotoxic-T cells, help prevent excessive processes of cell-mediated immunity, which could kill off too many of the body's own cells. Cytotoxic and suppressor-T cells are also known as *effector-T cells*, because they directly bring about the destruction of compromised cells.

Experimental animal and test tube studies have generated much evidence of pesticideinduced immunotoxicity. Hundreds of studies have found that pesticides can induce changes in immune system structure and function, and these changes correlate closely in experimental animals with altered host resistance to pathogens (Vos, 1994). The laboratory evidence of pesticideinduced immunotoxicity may underestimate actual risks precisely because the test animals used are typically healthy young male adults fed carefully selected and nutritious diets.

Recently, the well recognized textbook, *Immu-notoxicology and Immunopharmacology*, reviewed and summarized over 100 primary experimental studies of the immunosuppressive nature of many classes of pesticides, including organochlorines, organophosphates, carbamates, and metal-based pesticides. Some studies show activation of particular immune system mechanisms, but the large majority shows various immunosuppressive effects (Barnett, 1994).

The review concludes that, among the organochlorines, aldrin and dieldrin reduce mouse resistance to viral infection through effects on macrophages, possibly including both their ability to kill infected cells and their ability to present viral antigen for specific humoral and cell-mediated immune responses. Chlordane and heptachlor have been found to affect the developing immune system, depressing the proliferation of immune system parent cells. They also retard the activation of macrophages and reduce humoral and cell-mediated immune functions in vitro. Lindane, BHC, and similar compounds also affect macrophage activity in vitro. In experiments in vivo, animals fed lindane-spiked diets were unable to resist a giardia infection while all control animals eliminated it. Some evidence of a non-monotonic immunotoxic effect at low and high exposure levels was found, though the evidence is ambiguous. There have been fewer studies of DDT's immunotoxic effects, because in OECD countries DDT has been banned from most uses for other reasons, but dose-dependent reductions in antibody production have been found in tested mammals and bird species (Barnett, 1994).

Among the organophosphorus and carbamate pesticides, malathion disregulates the immune system, especially affecting non-specific immune mechanisms. Chronic exposure at low doses over prolonged periods can also depress humoral immune responses. Parathion, a more acutely toxic compound, suppresses T-cell proliferative response and blocks both humoral and cell-mediated immune responses *in vitro*. It has also been shown to reduce host resistance to viral and bacterial infection in live animals (Barnett, 1994).

According to another recent review of organophosphate and carbamate immunotoxicity in Clinical Immunotoxicology, "there is increasing evidence that organophosphorus compounds exert immunosuppressive effects on human as well as animal cell systems" (Newcombe, 1992a, 359). Parathion has been found to reduce and delay production of antibodies to a previously unrecognized antigen. Other organophosphates also impair antigen presentation by macrophages. Other organophosphate pesticides, such as triphenylphosphate, suppress natural killer cell activity. OOS-TMP, an impurity formed in OP pesticides, has several immunotoxic effects, including suppression of antibody and cytotoxic-T cell production and a reduction in antigen presentation by macrophages. Research suggests that reduced antigen presentation and cytotoxic-T cell activity occur because organophosphates bind to essential enzymes on the immune cell, inhibiting their activity (Newcombe, 1992a).

Other reviews of the experimental literature from North America, Western Europe, and the former Soviet Union conclude that pesticides of many chemical classes are immunosuppressive in most laboratory animals (Rodgers, 1995, 1992; Holliday, 1994; Burrell, 1992a; Murray, 1992; Pruett, 1992a; Saboori, 1992; Sharma, 1992, 1978; Dayan, 1990; Descotes, 1988; Nikolaev, 1988; Thomas, 1988; Exon, 1987; Olson, 1986a; Smialowicz, 1984; Street, 1981; Dandliker, 1979; Ercegovich, 1973). Besides the pesticides mentioned above, many pesticide solvents, inert ingredients, and contaminants cause measurable immunosuppression in several species (Kerkvliet, 1994a, 1994b; Synder, 1994; Tryphonas, 1994; Vos, 1991).

Researchers in developing countries have also conducted and reviewed experimental studies of pesticide immunotoxicity. A group of toxicologists in India concluded that pesticides may render "people more prone to new or existing diseases by causing immunosuppression" (Bhatia, 1993, 61). Nearly identical observations were made by researchers in other developing countries, including Brazil and China (Gao, 1990; Queiroz, 1986).

Two-Tiered Immunotoxicological Testing

These review articles, based on hundreds of primary studies, state clearly that many pesticides have statistically significant effects on the immune system, but interpreting these effects is more difficult. It is unclear whether any single immunological change has potential health consequences in humans. To help resolve this issue, the U.S. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences recommended that immunotoxicologists use a two-tiered battery of experimental tests (Luster, 1995, 1993b, 1992, 1988). Tier 1 tests assess changes in sensitive immune parameters. If such changes are found—or if other evidence suggests immunotoxicity, Tier 2 tests can be used to measure functional changes more fully. Tests in each Tier examine humoral, cellular, and nonspecific components of immunity.

This tiered testing system provides a cascade of evidence. Substances that show immunotoxicity in tests from the second tier are almost always toxic in some tests from the first tier. Of course, exposure conditions, such as the level, duration, timing, frequency, and the pathway of the dose, may influence test outcomes. For example, baby mice fed hexachlorohexane showed heightened cell-mediated immunity, but adult mice fed the equivalent dose had diminished cell-mediated immunity (Meera, 1992). Live mice and mouse

	Immune Parameter	Test
Г	 Immunopathology 	 Pathology of Immune Organs
		 Complete Blood Counts
	 Humoral Immunity 	 B Lymphoproliferative Response
R		 Antibody Levels
	 Cell-Mediated Immunity 	 T Lymphoproliferative Response
l	Non-Specific Immunity	 Macrophage Activity
	Immunopathology	Differential Blood Counts
	Humoral Immunity	 Secondary Antibody Responses
I	 Cell-Mediated Immunity 	 Delayed Hypersensitivity
ł	ý	• T Cell Cytosis
	 Non-Specific Immunity 	 Phagocytosis
	 Host Resistance Models 	 Bacterial Challenge
		Parasite Challenge
		Viral Challenge
		Tumor Challenge

cells *in vitro* showed increased and decreased cellmediated immunity respectively when exposed to chlordane (Johnson, 1987, 1986). Nonetheless, as Table 3 and Table 4 make clear, many experimental studies provide substantial evidence that many pesticides induce immunosuppression, according to each set of tests in both Tier 1 and Tier 2 of the protocol.

The first screen measures pathological changes in immune system organs, including the thymus, where most lymphocytes mature. Baby mice whose thymuses are surgically removed have fewer circulating mature T cells and weakened immunity. Although its importance declines with age, abnormalities in thymic weight or structure suggest pesticide immunotoxicity (Kendall, 1991). Another immune organ, the spleen, serves as a biological sieve where macrophages mature and interact with T and B cells. Tests for pesticideinduced abnormalities in spleen weight indicate effects on macrophage development, antibody presentation, and cell-mediated immunity.

Pesticides can also undermine immunity by disrupting the process by which B cells produce antibodies. Normally, specific B cells proliferate in response to an antigen, but tests to measure this response show that pesticide exposure can reduce B cell proliferation and primary antibody response.

Cell-mediated responses are normally based on interactions between T cells, B cells, and macrophages. The Tier 1 tests for cell-mediated immunity measures the critical capacity of T cells to proliferate in response to a foreign agent (called T cell proliferative response). Experiments have shown that pesticide exposure can reduce T cell proliferative response and cell-mediated immunity.

Non-specific immunity, dependent on natural killer cells, neutrophils and macrophages, can respond to and destroy foreign organisms. Various tests measure non-specific immune cell activity, including their ability to mobilize in response to a foreign agent in a process called chemotaxis. Macrophages normally ingest and destroy bacteria, viruses, tumor cells and harmful particles through a process called phagocytosis. Tier 2 tests have also recorded decreases in chemotaxis and phagocytosis after pesticide exposure.

Tier 2 tests have also found that pesticides alter the absolute numbers and proportions of white blood cells and lymphocytes. Key tests in this battery also measure the secondary antibody response by first injecting a foreign agent into a live creature, allowing the immune response to develop, and then re-injecting the same agent to see how quickly antibodies are generated. This is analogous to testing whether vaccination would effectively protect a human subject. Pesticides can reduce the production of antibodies necessary for this secondary response.

Tier 2 tests also measure hypersensitivity, a process in which various immune system components, including macrophages, and T and B cells, work together to destroy invading agents and create an immunologic memory to ward off future attacks. Pesticides have been found to suppress hypersensitivity reactions.

Studies have shown that pesticide exposure significantly reduces resistance to bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections and promotes tumor growth in many animal species.

In host resistance tests, in experimental research, laboratory animals are injected with bacteria, viruses, parasites or tumor cells to see if chemical exposures alter the animals' ability to ward off infections (Bradley, 1995). In a sense the bottom line in experimental research, "host resistance models...offer endpoints that are clinically most relevant, and therefore useful for estimation of risk to man" (Van Loveren, 1995, 137). Such studies have shown that pesticide exposure significantly reduces resistance to bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections and promotes tumor growth in many animal species.

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
IMMUNOPATHOLOGY				
Thymus Weight				
Organochlorines				
Chlordecone	Rat	Oral	4	Smialowicz, 1985a
DDT	Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Street, 1975
DDT	Chicken	Oral)	Rao, 1977
Pentachlorophenol	Cow	Oral	\downarrow	McConnell, 1980
Organophosphates				
Diazinon	Rat	Oral	Ļ	Moon, 1986a
Dichlorvos	Rat	Oral	\uparrow	Institoris, 1995a
Dimethoate	Mouse	Under Skin	l l	Tiefenbach, 1980
Dimethoate	Rat	Oral	\uparrow	Institoris, 1995b
EPN	Rat	Oral	L L	Moon, 1986a
Fenitrothion	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Moon, 1986a
Fenthion	Rat	Oral	J	Moon, 1986a
Methyl Parathion	Rat, Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Institoris, 1995b;
Carbamates and Thiocarbaman Carbaryl Methyldithiocarbamate Zineb	<i>tes</i> Fish Mouse Rat	Oral, Dermal Oral Oral		Street, 1975 Walsh, 1975 Pruett, 1992b Vos, 1983a
en mageligt i staammaan maastaa ah ee sissi s	INGL	XIAI		4 002 1 200 CC
Metals and Minerals Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	Oral	L.	Dieter, 1983
Tributyltin	Chicken	Oral		Socacio, 1985
Tributyltin Chloride	Rat	Oral	v I	Bress, 1991
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral		Bress, 1991;
And the second s	INGL		✓	Smialowicz, 1989
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	↓ *	Krajnc, 1984
Other				
Atrazin	Rat	Oral	L	Vos, 1983a
Atrazine	Fish	Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975
Captan	Rat	Oral	Ů	Vos, 1983a
Cycloheximide	Mouse	Under Skin	↓ *	Olson, 1983
Maleic Hydrazide	Mouse	Under Skin	÷	Olson, 1983

Table 3. Continued				
Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Spleen Weight				
Organochlorines				
Chlordecone DDT	Rat Chicken	Oral		Smialowicz, 1985a Rao, 1977
DDT	Salmonid	Oral Oral, Dermal	↓ ↓	Walsh, 1975, 1974
Dieldrin	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975, 1974;
Endosulfan	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal	\downarrow	King, 1962 Walsh, 1975, 1974
Trichloroethylene	Mouse, Rat	Oral Oral	Ť.	Wright, 1991
HIDE LEADERSTEIL GLAURED ON GOULDANG, JUD OM OF LEADERSTEIL HAB AN HEILING AN HUNDERSTEIL HAB AN HUNDERSTEIL HAB	Maaluuluuratuuraan oo oo mis qadhaaniikaniika (Maalii Oosa)	namen de Maria de Carlon de Car Novembre de Carlon de	nangaraty, iking ang sujul nangara sujuka su arawa sujuka su su	iaanna 1990 aanna 1990 aanna 1990 an am ah
Organophosphates Azinphos-Methyl	Rat	Oral	L.	Vos, 1983a
Dichlorvos	Mouse	Oral		Casale, 1983
Dimethoate	Mouse	Under Skin	L.	Tiefenbach, 1980
Malathion Parathion	Mouse Mouse	Oral Oral	↓ ↓	Casale, 1983 Casale, 1983
Carbamates and Thiocarbam Carbaryl Chlorpropham Methyldithiocarbamate Molinate	Salmonid Rat	Oral, Dermal Oral Oral Oral	↓ ↑ ↑	Walsh, 1975, 1974 Vos, 1983a Pruett, 1992b Smialowicz, 1985b
Metals and Minerals Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Dieter, 1983
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Krajnc, 1984
Triphenyltín Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Hiroyuki, 1990
Triphenyltin Hydroxide	e Rat	Oral	\checkmark	Vos, 1984a
Other 2,4-D Atrazine Diuron	Salmonid Salmonid Rat	Oral, Dermal Oral, Dermal Oral	↓ ↓ ★	Walsh, 1975, 1974 Walsh, 1975, 1974 Vos, 1983a
HUMORAL IMMUNITY	/			
B Cell Proliferative Resp	onse			
Organochlorines Trichloroethylene	Rat	In Vitro	ţ	Wright, 1991
Organophosphates Malathion	Mouse	Oral		Rodgers, 1986

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Metals and Minerals	······································			
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	In Vitro	↓ *	Nakatsuru, 1985
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Dieter, 1983
Tributvltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	<u>^</u>	Vos, 1984b
Triphenyltin Hydroxide	e Rat	Oral		Vos, 1984a
Pyrethroids				
Allethrin	Mouse	In Vitro	L .	Stelzer, 1984
Cypermethrin	Mouse	In Vitro	1	Stelzer, 1984
Fenpropathrin	Mouse	In Vitro	\downarrow	Stelzer, 1984
Permethrin	Mouse	In Vitro	\downarrow	Stelzer, 1984
Other				
2,4-D	Mouse	Dermal		Blakely, 1986
Captan	Mouse	Oral	*	Lafarge-
				Frayssinet, 1982
CELL-MEDIATED IMM	UNITY			
T Cell Proliferative Resp	onse			
Organochlorines				
- Organochlorines Chlordane	Mouse	In Vitro	Ų	Johnson, 1987
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane	Mouse Mouse	Oral	↓ ↑ *	Johnson, 1986
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane	Mouse Mouse Mouse	Oral Prenatal	↓ ↑ * ↑	Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat	Oral Prenatal Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980;
<i>Organochlorines</i> Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene Lindane	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988
- Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979;
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Mouse Human	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane Pentachlorophenol	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Mouse Human Mouse	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970 Kerkvliet, 1985
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane Pentachlorophenol Pentachlorophenol	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Mouse Human	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro Oral In Vitro		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970 Kerkvliet, 1985 Prescott, 1982
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane Pentachlorophenol	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Human Mouse Chicken	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro Oral		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970 Kerkvliet, 1985
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane Pentachlorophenol Pentachlorophenol	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Human Mouse Chicken	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro Oral In Vitro		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970 Kerkvliet, 1985 Prescott, 1982
Organochlorines Chlordane Chlordane Chlordane Chlordecone Dieldrin Endrin Hexachlorobenzene Lindane Lindane Pentachlorophenol Pentachlorophenol Pentachlorophenol	Mouse Mouse Rat Mouse Human Mouse Mouse Human Mouse Chicken	Oral Prenatal Oral Oral In Vitro Oral Prenatal Oral In Vitro Oral In Vitro		Johnson, 1986 Barnett, 1985 Smialowicz, 1985a Loose, 1982 Park, 1978 Silkworth, 1980; Loose, 1978a Barnett, 1987 Cornacoff, 1988 Roux, 1979; Fisher, 1970 Kerkvliet, 1985 Prescott, 1982

Pesticide Dichlorvos Malathion Malathion Methyl Parathion Mevinphos Trichlorfon	Used Mouse, Carp Mouse Human Human Mouse Carp	Route In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro	of Change ↓ ↑ ↓	ReferenceCasale, 1993;Cossarini-Dunier, 1991Rodgers, 1990,1986Lee, 1979Du 1070
Malathion Malathion Methyl Parathion Mevinphos	Mouse Human Human Mouse	In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro	↓ ↓	Cossarini- Dunier, 1991 Rodgers, 1990, 1986 Lee, 1979
Malathion Methyl Parathion Mevinphos	Human Human Mouse	In Vitro In Vitro In Vitro	★	Rodgers, 1990, 1986 Lee, 1979
Methyl Parathion Mevinphos	Human Mouse	In Vitro In Vitro	↓	Lee, 1979
Methyl Parathion Mevinphos	Human Mouse	In Vitro In Vitro	\downarrow	Received and the contract of the second se
Mevinphos	Mouse	In Vitro	\checkmark	LOWL DEVY
	auto a su a s		Ų	Park, 1978 Casale, 1993
	Carp	In Vitro	→ ↓	Cossarini-Dunier,
			• •	1991
Carbamates and Thiocarbam	iates			
Aldicarb	Mouse	Oral	4	Shirazi, 1990;
				Olson 1987
Carbaryl	Mouse,	In Vitro	\mathbf{V}	Casale, 1993;
	Human	Lee, 1979	and the second statement of the second statement of the second statement of the second statement of the second	
Carbofuran	Mouse	In Vitro	.	Casale, 1993
Methiocarb	Mouse	In Vitro		Casale, 1993
Propham	Human	In Vitro	×	Park, 1978
Metals and Minerals				
Arsenic	Human, Cow	In Vitro	↑↓	McCabe, 1983
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Dieter, 1983;
				Gaworski, 1978
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	In Vitro	\downarrow	Nakatsuru, 1985
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Vos, 1984b
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Smialowicz, 1989
Triphenyltin Hydroxide	e Rat	Oral	+ *	Vos, 1984a
Pyrethroids				
Allethrin	Mouse	In Vitro	\mathbf{v}	Stelzer,1984
Cypermethrin	Mouse, Rabbit	In Vitro		Stelzer,1984;
				Desi, 1986
Fenpropathrin	Mouse	In Vitro	\downarrow	Stelzer, 1984
Permethrin	Mouse	In Vitro	Ŷ	Stelzer, 1984
Other				
2,4-D	Mouse	Dermal	1 A	Blakely, 1986
Atrazine	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Fournier, 1992
Captan	Mouse	Oral	l l	Lafarge-
Piperonyl Butoxide	Human	In Vitro	L	Fraysinnet-1982 Lee, 1979

Г

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
NON-SPECIFIC IMMU	NITY			
Macrophage/Neutrophil	/Natural Killer C	ell Activity		
Organochlorines				
Chlordane	Mouse	Prenatal	ų,	Theus, 1992a,
Chlordane	Guinea Pig	In Vitro	*	1992b, 1991 Suzaki, 1988
Chlordecone	Rat	Oral		Smialowicz, 1985a
Chlorfenethol	Goat	Oral	Ť.	Aripdzhanov,
		× A GAL		1973a, 1973b
Dieldrin	Rat	Oral	1	Hewett, 1988
Dieldrin	Mouse	Oral		Bernier, 1988;
				Fournier, 1988
alannann kularasan amilik bupatan an hisioliku si dan kulan an kulana a cunan kulan a san kulan sa sa sa sa sa	an de la constant de	aan aa ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa ah	a daankee waxaa xaanaa keesaa daha keesaa aaxaa aa	Jolicoeur, 1988;
				Hugo, 1988a,
	Let Proprietance Let Frankrigen - Frankrigen - Lit	1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 199		1988b;
				Krzystyniak,
				1987, 1986
Lindane	Mouse	In Vitro	<u> 1</u>	Meade, 1984
Endrin	Rat	Oral	1	Akubue, 1992
Hexachlorobenzene	Rat	Oral	lik Vilet	Ziprin, 1977
Pentachlorophenol	Fish	Oral, Dermal	Ļ	Anderson, 1992
Organophosphates				uuuuseen
Dichlorvos	Human	In Vitro		Lee, 1977
Dichlorvos	Carp	Oral, Dermal		Cossarini-Dunier,
	TY	T TT.		1991 L 1077
Naled	Human	In Vitro		Lee, 1977
Tetrachlorvinphos	Human	In Vitro		Lee, 1977
Trichlorfon	Carp	Oral, Dermal		Cossarini-Dunier,
				1331
Carbamates and Thiocarban			hanoooonaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa	
Aldicarb	Mouse	Under Skin	÷	Dean, 1990a, 1990b
Aldicarb	Mouse	Oral		Selvan, 1989
Barban	Rat	Oral	↓ 1	Olefir, 1973b
Carbaryl	Rat, Rabbit	Oral		Shtenberg, 1972
Carbaryl	Mouse	In Vitro	√	Forgue, 1990
EPTC Methyldithiocarbamate	Rat • Mouse	Oral Oral	↓ ↓	Olefir, 1973b Pruett, 1992b

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Metals and Minerals Tributyltin	Fish	Oral, Dermal	t.	Wishkovsky, 1989; Rice, 1980
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	, ,	Vos, 1984b
Other	Naesse <u>u D</u> AGGUSSERI <mark>N</mark> Kongonausen (saksi Maaranas		11.000.000 (12.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.0	- Jane garage and garag
Diquat Paraquat	Rat, Mouse Rat	Oral Oral	\downarrow	Styles, 1974 Styles, 1974
Neutrophil Chemotaxis				
Organochlorines DDT	Human	1		T - 1070
Endrin	Human	In Vitro In Vitro	\downarrow	Lee, 1979 Lee, 1979
Líndane	Human	In Vitro	L.	Lee, 1979
Organophosphates Crufomate	Human	In Vitro	l l	Lee, 1979
Methyl Parathion	Human	In Vitro		Lee, 1979
Carbamates and Thiocarbam Propham	ites Human	In Vitro	ter and	Lee, 1979
Metals and Minerals				
Copper	Rabbit	In Vitro		Ward, 1975
Mercuric Chloride Tributyltin Chloride	Rabbit	In Vitro In Vitro	\downarrow	Nordlind, 1990 Arakawa, 1984
Other				
Piperonyl Butoxide Triisopropylphosphate	Human Rabbit	In Vitro In Vitro	\rightarrow	Lee, 1979 Woodin, 1973
 Notes;				
\downarrow Indicates a Decrease				
↑ Indicates an Increase * Indicates a Graduated De	ose-Response			

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
IMMUNOPATHOLOGY				
Leukocyte Count				
Organochlorines			A	T 1 +007
Chlordane DDT	Mouse	Oral		Johnson, 1986
Endrin	Fish		\downarrow	Evdokimov, 1974 Mount, 1966
Mirex	Catfish	Oral, Dermal Oral, Dermal	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Rogillio, 1974
Pentachlorophenol	Chicken	Oral		Prescott, 1982
Organophosphates				
Dichlorvos	Rat	Oral	Ļ	Institoris, 1995a
Malathion	Fish	Oral, Dermal	\uparrow	Areechon, 1990
Monocrotofos	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Gupta, 1982
Phorate	Fish	Oral, Dermal	\uparrow	Chakrabarty, 1988
Phosalone	Fish	Oral, Dermal	Î. Î.	Reddy, 1991
Trichlorfon	Fish	Oral, Dermal	\downarrow	Siwicki, 1990
Carbamates and Thiocarbam		and the second state of th	ann ng galangan war thi shawan data parangan	
Maneb	Rat	Oral	¥.	Shtenberg, 1972
Other				
Atrazine	Fish	Oral, Dermal	\mathbf{k}	Prasad, 1991;
Chlormequat Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Fairbrother, 1986
Chlormequat Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Olson, 1984
Glyphosine	Mouse	Oral		Fairbrother, 1986
Phenthoate	Fish	Oral, Dermal	1	Chakrabarty, 1988
анно		860001990019333332994000000986664449979233333999444444		Walsh, 1975
Lymphocyte Count				
Organochlorines				
Chlordane	Mouse	Oral	1	Johnson, 1986
Dieldrin	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975, 1974
	Chicken	Oral	, V	Glick, 1974
DDT	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975, 1974
of an and the property of the second state of	Januoniu		Richter and Alexandra (Chanadal), com Alexandra	
Endosulfan		Oral	Ý	Glick, 1974
of an and the property of the second state of	Chicken Rat	Oral Oral	↓	Vos, 1983a
Endosulfan Mirex PCNB	Chicken	Remain MARBEROOM A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	↓	
Endosulfan Mirex	Chicken	Remain MARBEROOM A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	*	

Γ
		T		
Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Malathion Phorate	Fish Fish	Oral, Dermal Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975 Chakrabarty, 1988
Carbamates and Thiocarba	mates			
Aldicarb	Fish	Oral, Dermal	the states of the second	Gill, 1991
Carbaryl	Fish	Oral, Dermal		Walsh, 1975, 1974
Carbofuran Chlorpropham	Mouse Rat	Oral Oral	↓ ↑	Gupta, 1982 Vos, 1983a
Molinate	Fish	Oral, Dermal	1 1	Kawatsu, 1977
Metals and Minerals				
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	L L	Krajnc, 1984
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	Oral	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Dieter, 1983
Other				
2,4-D	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal	Ļ	Walsh, 1975, 1974
Phenthoate	Fish	Oral, Dermal		Chakrabarty, 1988
Atrazine	Rat	Oral	L.	Vos, 1983a
Atrazine	Salmonid	Oral, Dermal	Ļ	Walsh, 1975, 1974
Captan	Rat	Oral	4	Vos, 1983a
Diquat	Fish	Oral, Dermal		Berry, 1975
Endothall	Fish	Oral, Dermal	÷	Berry, 1975
Mercuric Chloride	Mouse	In Vitro	↓ *	Thaxton, 1973 Lawrence, 1981
Pyrethroids				
Cypermethrin	Rabbit, Rat	Oral	4	Desi, 1986, 1985
HUMORAL IMMUNIT	Ϋ́			
Secondary Antibody Re	esponse			
Organochlorines				
Chlorofenethol	Goat	Oral	L	Aripdzhanov,
Chlorobenzilate	Rat	Oral	个北	1973a, 1973b Nikolaev, 1972
Dieldrin	Mouse	Under Skin		Bernier, 1987
	Rabbit	Oral	L L	Wassermann, 1972
Dieldrin				
	Chicken	Oral	↓	Glick, 1974;
Dieldrin	A CONTRACTOR OF ALL ADDRESS OF ALL ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRES	Oral Oral, Dermal		Glick, 1974; Lukic, 1973 Zeeman, 1975

Table 4. Tier 2	Tests for	Pesticide	Immunotoxicity
-----------------	-----------	-----------	----------------

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Organochlorines (continue	ed)			
DDT	Rabbit	Oral	Ļ	Perelvgin, 1971;
- Construction of the first state of the first s	in the second of the second	o na 2011 anna 1940 an comh fra ann an Anna Anna An		Wassermann,
				1971
DDT	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Perelygin, 1971;
				Olefir, 1971
DDT	Rat	Oral	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Wassermann, 1969
Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse	Oral	Ý	Loose, 1979
Hexachlorobenzene	Rat	Prenatal	\uparrow	Vos, 1979a
Hexachlorobenzene	Rat	Oral	1	Vos, 1983b, 1979b
Lindane	Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Desi, 1978
Pentachlorophenol	Rat, Chicken	Oral	\downarrow	Exon, 1983;
				Prescott, 1982
Toxaphene	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Allen, 1983
Toxaphene	Mouse	Prenatal	\downarrow	Allen, 1983
Trichloroethane	Mouse	Oral	4	Sanders, 1985
Organophosphates Diazinon	Mouse	Oral		Moon, 1986a
Dichlorvos	Rabbit, Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Desi, 1980, 1978;
				Institoris, 1995a
Dimethoate	Mouse	Under Skin	Ļ	Tiefenbach, 1980
Dimethoate	Mouse, Rat	Oral	Λ.	Nikolaev, 1972
Dimethoate	Rat	Oral	*	Institoris, 1995b
EPN	Mouse	Oral	.	Moon, 1986a
Fenitrothion	Mouse	Oral		Moon, 1986a
Fenthion	Mouse, Rat	Oral	¥.	Moon, 1986a;
	abbactive and the second s			Nikolaev, 1972
Fenthion	Mouse	Oral	Ϋ́,	Nikolaev, 1972
Glyphosine	Mouse	Oral		Fairbrother, 1986
Malathion	Catfish	Oral, Dermal		Plumb, 1990
Malathion	Rodent	Oral		Desi, 1978
Methyl Parathion	Rat	Oral	÷.	Institoris, 1995b
Parathion	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Pruett, 1992c
Carbamates and Thiocarban	nates			
Aldicarb	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Olson, 1987
Aldicarb	Mouse	Oral		Hajoui, 1992
Aldicarb	Mouse	Oral	Ť.	Shirazi, 1990
	The second research is a second s			Shtenberg, 1972;
	Rat	Oral	\checkmark	ontendere 1972
Carbaryl	Rat	Oral	↓	Bolkhovitianova,

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Carbaryl	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Olson, 1986b;
				Wiltrout, 1978
Carbofuran	Mouse	Oral	↓	Fan, 1978
Maneb	Rat	Oral		Shtenberg, 1972
Zineb Ziram	Rat Rat	Oral Oral	↓ ↓	Shtenberg, 1972 Shtenberg, 1972
Metals and Minerals				
Copper	Mouse	In Vitro	1*	Lawrence, 1981
Nickel Sulfate	Mouse	Oral	↓ *	Graham, 1978
Sodium Arsenite	Mouse	Oral	$\mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{r}}$	Blakely, 1980
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	↓ ★	Vos, 1984b
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	^	Smialowicz, 1989
Triphenyltin Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Hiroyuki, 1990
Mercuric Chloride	Chicken, Mou	se Oral	4	Bridger, 1983; Dieter, 1983;
Other				
2,4-D	Mouse	Dermal	↓ *	Blakely, 1986
Captan	Mouse, Rat	Oral		Lafarge-Frayssinet,
				1982
Captan	Rat	Prenatal		Vos, 1983a
Chlordimeform	Mouse	Under Skin	• •	Shopp, 1985
Chloromequat Chloride	Mouse	Oral		Fairbrother, 1986,
				Olson, 1984
Cycloheximide	Mouse	Under Skin		Olson, 1983
Fluometuron Malaia Undersida	Rat	Oral Under Skin	↓ ↑	Nikolaev, 1972 Olson, 1983
Maleic Hydrazide CELL-MEDIATED IMMU	Mouse	Under Skin	1	015011, 1983
	INTTY			
Hypersensitivity				
Organochlorines		ana ana ana amin'ny soratra dia mampika amin'ny soratra dia soratra dia soratra dia soratra dia soratra dia so		
Chlordane	Mouse	Prenatal	Ļ	Barnett, 1985;
sa independenti se	THE REPORT OF THE OWNER OF THE	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	NINTERNAL STATENCE STATENCE	Spyker-Cranmer,
Chlandens	Mana	Que 1		1982 Johnson 1086
Chlordane DDT	Mouse	Oral	↓ ★	Johnson, 1986 Andre, 1983;
	Rat, Rabbit	Oral		Lukic, 1973;
				Wassermann,

	Animal	Exposure	Direction	
Pesticide	Used	Route	of Change	Reference
DDT	Rabbit	Oral	Ļ	Street, 1975
Hexachlorobenzene	Rat	Oral		Vos, 1983b
Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse	Prenatal	L	Barnett, 1987
Lindane	Mouse	Prenatal	\uparrow \downarrow	Das, 1990
Pentachlorophenol	Rat	Oral	↓ *	Exon, 1983
DDT	Rabbit	Oral		Street, 1975
Hexachlorobenzene	Rat	Oral	<u> </u>	Vos, 1983b
Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse	Prenatal	\downarrow	Barnett, 1987
Lindane	Mouse	Prenatal	\uparrow \downarrow	Das, 1990
Pentachlorophenol	Rat	Oral	↓ *	Exon, 1983
Organophosphates				
Diazinon	Rat	Oral	L	Moon, 1986b
EPN	Rat	Oral		Moon, 1986b
Fenitrothion	Rat	Oral	Ĵ	Moon, 1986b
Fenthion	Rat	Oral		Moon, 1986b
Metals and Minerals Copper Tributyltin Oxide Triphenyltin Hydroxid		Oral Oral Oral	↓ ↓ *	Pocino, 1991, 1990 Vos, 1984b Vos, 1984a
NON-SPECIFIC IMMUN Macrophage Phagocytos				
Organochlorines				
Dieldrin	Rat	Under Skin	Ų	Kaminski, 1982
DDT	Rat	Under Skin	\downarrow	Kaminski, 1982
DDT	Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Perelygin, 1971
Lindane	Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Grabarczyk, 1990
Pentachlorophenol	Rat	Oral	^ *	Exon, 1983
Toxaphene	Mouse	Oral	↓ *	Allen, 1983
Organophosphates				
Organophosphates Diazinon	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Moon, 1986b
	Mouse Mouse	Oral Oral	↓	Moon, 1986b Moon, 1986b
Diazinon		Town State and a state of the s		

Table 4. Continued				
Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Trichlorfon	Carp	Oral, Dermal	\downarrow	Siwicki, 1990
Carbamates and Thiocarban Carbaryl	uates Rat	Oral	L.	Shtenberg, 1972; Bolkhovitianova,
Carbaryl	Rat, Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	1969 Olefir, 1973b
Thiram	Rat, Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Peppy, 1983 Perelygin, 1971; Olefir, 1973b
Zineb	Rat, Rabbit	Oral	\downarrow	Perelygin, 1971
<i>Metals and Minerals</i> Nickel Sulfate Hydrate Tributyltin Chloride	Mouse Rabbit	Inhalation In Vitro		Haley, 1990 Elferink, 1986
Other Atrazine	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Fournier, 1992
HOST RESISTANCE		na nakazara na katana katan	a formanda a line for provincing (1999) and a formation of the second second second second second second second	CENTRAL METRO DO VOCA A REFERENCE RECEIVE DE LA CARTE DE LA CAR
Bacteria and Fungi				
Organochlorines DDT Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobenzene	Fish Rat Mouse	Oral, Dermal Prenatal Oral	↓ ↓ ↓	Schoenthal, 1963 Vos, 1979a Loose, 1979,
Lindane	Mouse	Oral	J.	1978b, 1977 Andre, 1983
Organophosphates Methyl Parathion	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Fan, 1978
Carbamates and Thiocarban Barban Carbaryl	nates Rat Mouse, Rat	Oral Oral	↓	Olefir, 1973a Andre, 1983; Olefir, 1973a, 1973b
Carbofuran EPTC Maneb	Mouse Rat Rat	Oral Oral Oral	\rightarrow	Fan, 1978 Olefir, 1973a Olefir, 1973a
Molinate	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Olefir, 1973a

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Thiram	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Olefir, 1973a
Metals and Minerals				
Arsenic Trioxide	Mouse	Inhalation	\downarrow	Aranyi, 1985
Tributyltin Oxide	Rat	Oral	\downarrow	Vos, 1984b
Triphenyltin Hydroxic	le Rat	Oral	Ļ	Vos, 1984a
Other				
Dinitrocresol	Rat	Oral	Ļ	Olefir, 1973a
Formaldehyde	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Dean, 1984
Viruses				
Organochlorines				
Chlordane	Mouse	Prenatal	1 L	Menna, 1985
DDT	Mouse	Under Skin	↓	Crocker, 1976
Dieldrin	Mouse	Under Skin	\downarrow	Krzystyniak, 1985
Dieldrin	Duck	Oral	\downarrow	Friend, 1974
Organophosphates				
Glyphosine	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Fairbrother, 1986
Parathion	Mouse	Oral	↓	Selgrade, 1984
Metals and Minerals				
Sodium Arsenite	Mouse	Oral	J.	Gainer, 1972
Other				
Chlormaquat Chloride	e Mouse	Oral	÷	Fairbrother, 1986
Parasites				
Organochlorines				
ĎDT	Chicken	Oral	Ļ	Radhakrishnan,

Pesticide	Animal Used	Exposure Route	Direction of Change	Reference
Hexachlorobenzene	Mouse	Oral	\downarrow	Loose, 1978b, 1977
Carbamates and Thiocarban Carbaryl	nates Quail	Oral	L.	Zeakes, 1981
Tumors				
Organochlorines Pentachlorophenol	Mouse	Oral	Ļ	Kerkvliet, 1982
Organophosphates Diazinon EPN Fenitrothion Fenthion	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse	Oral Oral Oral Oral	$\rightarrow \\ \rightarrow \\ \rightarrow \\ \rightarrow$	Moon, 1986b Moon, 1986b Moon, 1986b Moon, 1986b
Metals and Minerals Sodium Arsenate	Mouse	Oral	l.	Kerkvliet, 1980, 1978
Other Formaldehyde	Mouse		1	Dean, 1984
Overall Host Resistance				
Organophosphates Methyl Parathion	Mouse, Rabbi	it Oral	Ļ	Raise, 1983; Fan, 1984, 1981
<i>Notes;</i> ↓ Indicates a Decrease ↑ Indicates an Increase * Indicates a Graduated I	Dose-Response			

Assessing this research and its implications for human health risks, an often-cited review concluded that "a large body of evidence has accumulated over the past 20 years that exposure to environmental chemicals, many of which are pesticides or contaminants of pesticide formulations, can produce immune dysfunction (i.e., altered immune function and altered host resistance) in experimental animals following acute and subchronic exposure" (Thomas, 1988, 266). The authors note that translating these findings into demonstrable health risks to humans has been difficult, since humans are usually exposed to pesticides in chronic low doses and for other reasons, but that this caveat should not be interpreted to mean that people are not at risk.

Wildlife Studies

A major limitation of experimental studies involves dose-response extrapolation. Since exposure to the foreign chemical in animal experiments is purposely high and usually short-lived, the extrapolation of toxic effects to human exposures can be questioned. Wildlife studies can partially overcome these limitations by taking animals in their natural environments and studying the effects of pesticides under actual exposure conditions. Of course, the price researchers must pay when studying birds, fish, and mammals in the wild is that they usually can't control for other factors that might be implicated in the disease, including exposure to other potentially immunotoxic chemicals such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and dioxins that act through different mechanisms.

The laboratory and field evidence of pesticideinduced immunotoxicity in fish is ample (Zelikoff, 1994; Dunier, 1993; Zeeman, 1981). For example, young chinook salmon chronically exposed to pesticides in the Duwamish Waterway in Washington showed drastic reductions in humoral response (Arkoosh, 1994). So did fish from Visakhapatnam Harbor in India (Rao, 1990). The organophosphate pesticides trichlorfon and dichlorvos, frequently used to ward off ectoparasites and plankton in fishponds in Eastern Europe, reduced non-specific immune response in carp (Siwicki, 1990).

Rachel Carson's *Silent Spring* did much to warn the world's people of the subtle effects of the pesticide DDT on birds' ability to reproduce. Pesticides also weaken their ability to resist disease. Birds that feed on fish accumulate persistent organochlorine compounds, including pesticides and PCBs. Compared with non-exposed birds, herring gull and caspian tern chicks in the Great Lakes region had smaller thymuses and less T cell activity, the greater their exposure to these compounds (Grasman, 1995, 1994).

Like fish and birds, marine mammals are chronically exposed to organochlorine pesticides and PCBs from eating contaminated foods. Autopsies on dead whales from the highly contaminated St. Lawrence Seaway found high tissue concentrations of organochlorine pesticides and PCBs and severe bacterial infections, suggesting immunosuppression. Autopsies also demonstrated more frequent and severe tumors than found in whale populations elsewhere (De Guise, 1994). The authors concluded that "two factors could have contributed to such a high prevalence of [cancers] in that single population: exposure to carcinogenic compounds and decreased resistance to the development of tumors" (De Guise, 1995, 75).

A recent plague affecting dolphins in the Mediterranean, the North Sea and the North Atlantic gave rise to more research. In the early 1990s, dead dolphins were washing up on beaches in the Mediterranean with infections of normally tolerated viruses. According to one researcher of the British Government's Veterinary Science Laboratory, "We have gone back over the literature for more than a hundred years and we found nothing like it, no other cluster of virulent epidemics like we have now" (Simons, 1992, 10). Scientists hypothesized that organochlorine pesticides, PCBs and other chemical pollutants made these marine mammals more susceptible to the virus (Aguilar, 1993).

Researchers who assayed blood samples from live bottlenose dolphins captured off the Florida

coast determined that immune function had been compromised by high levels of organochlorine contaminants. In these dolphins, decreased T cell lymphocyte proliferative response was highly correlated with increased levels of bioaccumulated organochlorines (Lahvis, 1995). The dolphins exhibited "infections suggestive of immune dysfunction" (Lahvis, 1993, 115). The organochlorine contaminants stored in the blubber may have been mobilized during periods of sickness and reduced dietary intake, causing further immunosuppression.

Harbor seals have also suffered unusual dieoffs from morbillivirus infections in the Baltic and North Seas in the last decade, with mortality rates reaching 60 percent in some areas. Researchers at the Netherlands National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection conducted a prospective immunologic study on harbor seals. Seal pups captured off the relatively unpolluted Northwest coast of Scotland were fed uncontaminated fish for a one-year acclimatization period in holding tanks. Then, the seals were put into two tanks; one group was fed herring taken from the polluted Baltic Sea, while the other group was fed herring from Iceland as a control. Herring from both sources were purchased directly from fish markets and were intended for human consumption. After an initial three-week period, during which the young seals *refused to eat* the contaminated diet, both groups gained weight at about

the same pace. The dietary intake of pesticides and PCBs of seals fed Baltic fish was several-fold higher than that of controls, and led to a ten-fold higher concentration of organochlorines in their blubber. Both groups were tested at intervals for various immune system parameters. Seals that ate the organochlorine-rich diet showed significantly reduced natural killer cell activity, reduced T-cell proliferative response, antibody response, and neutrophil levels. In all, the authors concluded that the seals fed the contaminated herring had immune responses three times weaker than those of the control group and increases in opportunistic infections indicative of this weakened immune response (De Swart, 1995a, 1995b, 1994, 1993; Ross, 1995a, 1995b, 1994a). Though the specific role of pesticides remains undefined, it was "the first demonstration of immunosuppression in mammals as a result of exposure to environmental contaminants at ambient levels found in the environment" (Osterhaus, 1995).

Conclusion

This experimental and wildlife research literature provides substantial evidence that many pesticides are immunosuppressive. Although many health regulations have been based on such evidence alone, additional evidence from epidemiological studies of human populations also points toward the same conclusion.

V. The Human Evidence

Introduction

ew epidemiological studies have been carried out to assess changes in the human immune system from pesticide exposure or the health impacts of pesticide-induced immunosuppression, except in the former Soviet Union. Elsewhere, research into pesticides' health impacts has until recently concentrated on their damage to the nervous system and their potential role in cancer. Environmental immunotoxicology, a science that has developed rapidly in recent years, is concentrated in developed countries, where industrial chemicals have been a bigger worry than pesticides. Resources for epidemiological research on pesticide immunotoxicity have been extremely limited in developing countries, where pesticide-related risks are prominent. For these reasons, epidemiologists emphasize that scanty epidemiological evidence on pesticide immunotoxicity does not imply that there is no potential problem (Rose, 1992).

Most studies conducted so far suffer from various limitations. Measuring pesticide exposure accurately is virtually impossible in retrospective studies, which must rely on participańts' incomplete or biased recollections. Imperfect proxies for exposure, such as the average intensity of pesticide use in a geographic area or the occupation of the subjects of the study must sometimes be used, although doing so may bias the results.

Finding appropriate ways to measure a pesticide's impacts on the immune system also poses problems. Even the guidelines proposed by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control, which include detailed immunotoxicology testing protocols for use in epidemiological research, may not always predict changes in susceptibility to infectious disease or other clinical disorders accurately (CDC, 1990). Absent any chemical disruption, the immune system parameters tested in these protocols still vary substantially among normal individuals and over time for each person.

Moreover, although pesticide-induced immunosuppression may increase people's susceptibility to infectious and parasitic diseases, these diseases are so prevalent among low-income populations, and malnutrition and unsanitary living conditions are so widespread that distinguishing any greater susceptibility due to immune deficiencies is difficult. This is particularly problematic because it is difficult to measure differences among groups in their exposure to pathogens, let alone their exposure to pesticides. Given these limitations, the epidemiological evidence discussed below is far from definitive but should be considered together with the results of experimental and animal studies.

General Health Effects

One line of evidence stems from health studies linking pesticide exposure to increases in illness and death from infectious disease. Most such studies have not assessed immunological changes directly nor have they controlled for factors other

Box 2. How is the Human Evidence Assessed?

Scientists can use epidemiological and clinical studies to assess the health impacts of chemical exposure. *Epidemiology* is the statistical and biological analysis of the determinants, distribution and frequency of diseases. Epidemiologists can use descriptive, casecontrol, retrospective cohort, and prospective cohort studies in their analysis. Descriptive studies characterize causes of disease and provide a foundation for more thorough examination. Case control studies examine two similar groups of patients, one with a disease and one without, and then assess whether those with the disease were more exposed to a suggested risk factor than those without the disease. *Retrospective cohort studies* examine two populations, one that was exposed to a risk factor and another that was not, to determine whether the exposed population is more likely to suffer from a particular disease. *Prospective cohort studies* follow two groups over time, one exposed and another not exposed to a suspected health risk, and then ascertain whether the two groups differ in disease outcomes. For this reason, prospective studies are the most conclusive, but are expensive and time-consuming. *Clinical studies* consist of detailed reports on individuals who have been physically examined and subjected to a battery of laboratory tests after having been exposed to a suspected health risk.

than pesticide exposure that may also contribute to illness or immune system alteration. They can at most suggest a link between pesticide exposure and resistance to disease.

A good example of this material is a study of mortality trends and pesticide use in Central Luzon in the Philippines, where pesticide use had risen dramatically over the five-year period studied. Researchers found a clear association between pesticide exposure and mortality rates: mortality rates rose among adult male farmers exposed to pesticides in smallholder rice farming while falling for adult females in the same villages and for adult males living in nearby towns. Seasonal peaks in mortality among farmers coincided with periods of intensive pesticide application. Confounding factors, such as socio-economic status and smoking, were reported but not assessed statistically. Mortality from infectious diseases was not reported separately in all cases, so distinguishing between the effects of immunosuppression and those of acute pesticide poisoning was impossible (Loevinsohn, 1987).

Studies carried out in the cottongrowing regions of Uzbekistan in the former Soviet Union documented serious health consequences from indiscriminate pesticide use, including increased incidence and severity of infectious diseases.

Studies carried out in the cotton-growing regions of Uzbekistan in the former Soviet Union, documented serious health consequences from indiscriminate pesticide use, including increased incidence and severity of infectious diseases. Heavy spraying of numerous compounds, including organochlorine and highly toxic organophosphorus insecticides, exposed workers and populations living amid the fields to high chronic doses in water, air, and food (Bakhritdinov, 1991; Faiziev, 1989; Isakanderov, 1986).

These exposed populations in cotton-growing districts suffered markedly higher rates of respiratory, gastrointestinal, and acute inflammatory kidney infections than did residents of other districts where pesticide use was lower but other conditions were similar (Kovtyukh 1995c; Chugunikhina, 1994; Palvanova, 1987; Ubaydulayev, 1984). Whereas only 1.6 percent of non-exposed individuals living in urban areas in the Samarkand region of Uzbekistan experienced inflammatory and infectious kidney diseases, 7.9 percent of rural residents living in pesticide application zones did. This rate increased to 12.5 percent among people living near pesticide storage facilities (Allazov, 1994, 1992). One study of people living in areas bordering sprayed cotton fields reported a 51 percent increase in respiratory tract disorders and a 28 percent increase in gastrointestinal tract diseases after 4 months of intensive aerial spraying (Babadzanov, 1988; Katsenovich, 1981a). Another study established a close correlation (R = 0.86-0.91) between use of pesticides on local cotton fields and diseases of the gastrointestinal tract in children living nearby (Faiziev, 1989). Pesticide exposure also exacerbated preexisting infections: tuberculosis patients with signs of pesticide intoxication were 4.4-7.0 more likely to have developed severe damage to fibrous lung tissues than patients who weren't exposed (Volkova, 1991).

Other infectious disorders were also more frequent in pesticide-contaminated areas (Saliev, 1990; Dzumatov, 1988; Nuritdinova, 1985; Atabaev, 1983). Evidence suggests that pesticides were responsible for direct damage to organ systems, leaving open the role of immunosuppression. However, Russian reviews of this literature conclude that decreased host "resistance under the influence of pesticides is one of the causes of increased disease incidence among the population living in zones with their increased utilization" (Kovtyukh, 1995b, 51; Nikolaev, 1988).

Cancer and Immunosuppression

People exposed to pesticides are at increased risk of contracting certain cancers known to be associated with immune suppression. Beyond doubt, patients whose immune systems are deliberately or fortuitously depressed experience strikingly higher rates of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Leukemias and stomach cancer are more common among persons with primary immunodeficiency syndromes than in the general population; soft-tissue sarcomas, melanomas, and squamous carcinomas of the skin and lip occur disproportionately in renal transplant recipients (who receive immunosuppressive drugs to avert tissue rejection); and brain and skin cancers occur frequently among bone-marrow transplant recipients (Blair, 1992). Transplant patients treated with cyclosporin A, an immunosuppressive drug, have a 100-fold increased risk of lymphatic tumors. Most tumors associated with immunosuppression have been leukemias and lymphomas, rather than the whole range of common malignancies (Holleb, 1991).

Farmers, who as an occupational group experience lower risks of overall mortality, heart disease, and all cancers than other men of the same ages, experience elevated risk for many of the same cancers that immune-deficient patients develop.

Farmers, who as an occupational group experience lower risks of overall mortality, heart disease, and all cancers than other men of the same ages, experience elevated risk for many of the same cancers that immune-deficient patients develop (Maroni, 1993; Moses, 1993). An assessment of studies on farmers found significantly higher risks for Hodgkin's disease, melanoma, multiple myeloma, leukemia (all of which are cancers of the immune system) and cancers of the lip, stomach, and prostate (Blair, 1992). Higher risks were also found in this group of studies for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and cancers of the brain and connective tissue, but the differences from general rates were not statistically significant. The same results have been found in epidemiological studies in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia, China, and the Philippines (Blair, 1991; Shou-Zhen, 1987). Against a background of lower overall health and cancer incidence, these elevated risks suggest the presence of an occupational risk factor.

Since occupation is a weak proxy for exposure, studies based on occupation alone could seriously underestimate farmers' actual risks (Blair, 1990). Studies that improved the exposure measure by distinguishing farmers by age, amount of time spent in farming, or frequency of pesticide use found higher relative risks among more heavily exposed farmers (Figgs, 1995; Zahm, 1993). However, farmers are also exposed to other risk factors for cancer—organic dusts, fungal products, UV radiation, animal viruses, and diesel fuels and exhausts—complicating the matter.

Studies that specifically focussed on pesticide exposure have found that exposure to phenoxy acid herbicides and other pesticides is associated with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and soft tissue sarcomas—two cancers associated with immunosuppression. Exposure to insecticides was found to be asociated with leukemia, multiple myeloma and brain cancer (Blair, 1991, 1985). A study of farmers in Kansas found that the relative risks for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma were systematically related to the frequency of pesticide use and the intensity of exposure (Hoar, 1986).

A number of cohort and case-control studies indicate elevated risks of the same cancers among those occupationally exposed outside of agriculture, including industrial workers, golf course maintenance workers, forest product workers, and veterinarians (Kross, 1994; Hoover, 1991; Blair, 1982). Finally, studies have found that nonoccupational exposures to pesticides are also associated with higher risks of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, childhood leukemia, and brain cancer (Leiss, 1995; Savitz, 1990; Shu, 1988; Hemminki, 1981; Infante, 1978).

Researchers at the U.S. National Cancer Institute (NCI) have concluded that "Exposure to pesticides has been associated with cancers of the lymphatic and hematopoietic system and brain. Associations between phenoxyacetic acid herbicides and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in several countries from case-control and cohort designs and the existence of sharp exposure-response gradients build a strong case for a role for these herbicides in the development of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in farmers. Organophosphate insecticides and fungicides may contribute to farmers' risks of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, leukemia, soft-tissue sarcomas and brain cancer, but the evidence is not as strong..." (Blair, 1991, 348).

How pesticides increase these cancer risks is not thoroughly understood. Only about eight pesticides are judged likely to be direct carcinogens by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (Vainio, 1994; IARC, 1991). However, some carcinogenic agents activate cancers indirectly by altering the genetic materials of cells, disrupting cell division. Since lymphocytes routinely undergo extremely quick cell division, genetic damage can accumulate rapidly. Some pesticides do induce chromosomal damage in lymphocytes and a number of researchers have hypothesized that this mechanism activates cancers (Cuneo, 1992; Garry, 1992). Among Indian cotton field workers, pesticide exposure has been associated with chromosome damage (Rupa, 1991). Other studies show similar effects, linking such pesticides as diazinon, dimethoate, Dursban, and Phosdrin to chromosomal damage (Desi, 1992; Rupa, 1988; Páldy, 1987; Rita, 1987; Ziemsen, 1987; Sobti, 1982; Yoder, 1973).

Pesticides may also reduce host resistance to cancer-initiating viruses, such as the Epstein-Barr virus (Stancek, 1995; Trichopoulos, 1994). Epidemiological studies of farmers with elevated rates of lymphomas and leukemias suggest a positive interaction between exposure to pesticides and to farm animals that transmit cancer-related viruses (Sharp, 1986).

Alternatively, pesticides can permit cancers to develop by causing a breakdown in immune surveillance (Purchase, 1994; Newcombe, 1992b). One responsibility of the immune system is to eliminate dysfunctional immune cells. Cancerous cells may express traits that differentiate them from normal cells, enabling the cell-mediated immune system to mount a reaction against them (Lotzova, 1993; Steen, 1993). Natural killer cells, cytotoxic-T cells, and macrophages are all involved in this process. Immunodeficiencies may weaken these natural defenses that eliminate cancerous cells. Experimental studies using transplantable or virus-induced tumors in rats or mice can readily detect chemicals' immunosuppressive activity. "In fact, ample evidence demonstrates that exposure to immunotoxicants can diminish natural and/or acquired tumor resistance in welldefined tumor models" (Brooks, 1992, 196).

Thus, while some pesticides may activate cancers, others may act mainly as immunosuppressive cancer permitters (Newcombe, 1992b). An extensive review of laboratory studies concluded that pesticides may alter "functions of the immune system which may otherwise partially or completely abrogate the processes of tumorigenesis" (Exon, 1987, 77). In humans, pesticide exposure can heighten risks of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and soft-tissue sarcomas, as can co-existing or pre-existing immune problems, such as immunosuppressive drug therapy, a family history of immune deficiency, rheumatoid arthritis, and mononucleosis (Woods, 1987).

In summary, "pesticides could affect a variety of cancers through an immunological mechanism" (Davis, Blair, & Hoel, 1992, 43). The fact that farmers and others exposed to pesticides experience higher risks for the same cancers that afflict patients with clear immune deficiencies suggests that pesticides suppress the immune system and its self-regulating capabilities and thus raise cancer risks.

Allergic Reactions

Allergic reactions provide obvious evidence that pesticides have some clinically observable effects on the human immune system. An extensive review confirms that pesticide exposure induces allergic contact dermatitis, an inflammatory response that produces a rash (Germolec and Luster, 1994). Among others, the pesticides atrazine, parathion, dinitrochlorobenzene, maneb, zineb, dichlorvos, naled, and dithianone have been shown to be extreme skin sensitizers (Abrams, 1991).

Acute hypersensitivity, also called pulmonary allergic response is an antibody-mediated (IgE)

reaction with such manifestations as allergic rhinitis, asthma, and, in rare instances, extreme shock. Whether pesticides also cause pulmonary allergies is controversial, though the evidence cited below suggests that abnormally high IgE levels typically follow exposure to some pesticides. The fact that some pesticides produce allergic reactions does not imply that they are immunosuppressive, but does establish that they can sensitize the immune system.

Autoimmunity and Immune Disregulation

The human body can produce antibodies directed against itself—autoimmune antibodies but a competent immune system normally weeds them out. However, a damaged one may not be able to prevent their development or may even stimulate them. Although the clinical consequences of autoimmunity differ markedly from those of immunosuppression, both disorders sometimes appear in the same individual since they can both arise from a poorly regulated immune system. For example, laboratory mice injected with low doses of the immunosuppressive drug, cyclosporin A, demonstrate symptoms of autoimmunity, including overproduction of autoimmune antibodies, even though they are clinically immunosuppressed (Majoor, 1991).

Some pesticides, especially metal-based ones (i.e. arsenic, copper and mercury), are well recognized agents of chemically-induced autoimmunity (Druet, 1995). "There is ample evidence to indicate that pesticides do perturb normal immune function and preliminary information suggesting that, at least in experimental animals, pesticides can induce [autoimmune] antibodies" (Rosenberg, 1995). The epidemiological literature on pesticide-induced autoimmunity in humans is limited, but studies of pesticide-exposed individuals have shown increases in autoimmune antibodies as well as changes in lymphocyte structure and function consistent with autoimmunity.

Patients chronically exposed to the organochlorine termiticide chlordane evaluated two to four years after their last exposure demonstrated clinical and immunological symptoms "highly suggestive of immune pathology and probably a chlordane/heptachlor-induced autoimmune disorder" (Broughton, 1990, 68). These subjects showed significant increases in a class of lymphocytes that can respond to and damage human tissue, as well as increased rates of autoantibodies against human cells and tissues (Broughton, 1990). Nearly identical immunological results were found in patients exposed to the fungicide pentachlorophenol, the insecticide chlorpyrifos, and the fumigant formaldehyde (Thrasher, 1993, 1990; McConnachie, 1991; Madison, 1991).

Some pesticides conjugate with human cells, eliciting an immune response to the complex that is incidentally autoimmune. In the cotton, tobacco, and vegetable growing regions of Samarkand in Russia, rural workers and some urban residents exposed to organochlorine and organophosphate pesticides harbored antibodies against both pesticides and cells of the liver, lungs and brain (Krivoruchko, 1989). Similar results were observed in other groups, especially farm and factory workers exposed to pesticides elsewhere in the former Soviet Union (Nikolaev, 1988; Rakhmanov, 1975; Brusilovskii, 1973; Kozintseva, 1973; Katsenovich, 1970). Agricultural and vector control workers exposed to organochlorine pesticides for more than 7 to 10 years exhibited autoantibodies to immune system cells along with decreased leukocyte counts (Nikolaev, 1975).

Russian researchers found that autoimmune symptoms arose mainly from pesticides' disregulation of the immune system. Agricultural and factory workers with varying degrees of pesticide poisoning exhibited reduced effector-T cells counts and lymphoproliferative responses, but B cells and antibody levels increased (Nikolaev, 1988; Abdullayev, 1986; Ruzybakyev, 1983; Katsenovitch, 1981a, 1981b). Normally, effector-T cells (and their suppressor-T cells subsets) deactivate B cells. Pesticide-induced suppression of these effector-T cells could lead to concomitant overproduction of B cells and antibodies and generate an autoimmune response. While autoimmune disorders are less critical than immunosuppressive ones for people in developing countries, where the toll of infectious and parasitic diseases is so high, pesticide-induced autoimmunity and immunosuppression may be correlated.

Pesticides' Effects on the Immune System

During the 1970s and 1980s, most clinicians focussed on crude measures of immunotoxic potential, such as antibody ratios, complement levels, and white blood cell counts. Deviations in one or more of these immune components have been observed among a number of pesticide-exposed groups, including formulators in India, greenhouse workers in Argentina, factory workers in Poland and China, sprayers and greenhouse workers in Hungary and the former Soviet Union, and rural children in Cuba (Desi, 1992; Diez Córdova, 1991; Jingbo, 1991; Nikolaev, 1988; Albiano, 1986; Kashap, 1986; Wysocki, 1985). Bacteriocidal enzymes in saliva and blood and such external defenses as skin and mucous membrane immunity have also been found to be altered according to the duration and intensity of pesticide exposure (Bezrodnaya, 1990; Nikolaev, 1988; Kuzmenok, 1987; Dorofeyev, 1985). While these crude biomarkers do indicate immunotoxic potential, it is difficult to connect them with clinical symptoms and disorders.

More to the point, several clinical studies have examined the possibility that organophosphates and carbamates bind to and alter esterases, vital membrane-bound proteins that help immune system cells interact with and destroy foreign organisms. Among American and Eastern European factory workers, organophosphates were found to bind chemically to esterases on non-specific cells, such as monocytes, inactivating the esterases and suppressing the monocytes (Esa, 1988; Wysocki, 1987; Emmett, 1985). Neutrophils require esterases to move about by chemotaxis, which organophosphates suppress.

Among machine operators, packers, aerial spayers, and farm infants and children in the

former Soviet Union, pesticide exposure has been associated with dose-dependent reductions in the phagocytic activity of non-specific cells—a process that also requires esterases (Aristovskaya, 1989; Mogilnaya, 1989; Saidarimov, 1989; Nikolaev, 1988; Ladnova, 1984; Ivashina, 1980; Gronik, 1978). Greenhouse workers highly exposed to pesticides in enclosed spaces were found to be particularly vulnerable to the effects of pesticides on macrophage and neutrophil activity, including phagocytosis (Romash, 1987; Komarova, 1984; Zolotnikova, 1980a, 1980b).

Among factory workers in Poland, organophosphates were also found to inactivate esterases and to damage neutrophil function. These workers had symptoms indicative of neutrophil suppression, including recurrent respiratory tract infections that were correlated with the duration of pesticide exposure. Since neutrophils and macrophages protect the respiratory tract, the investigators concluded that the most likely explanation of the increased morbidity was the pesticides' localized immunosuppressive effects on pulmonary neutrophil function (Morgan, 1992; Hermanowicz, 1984, 1982).

Although infections of the upper respiratory tract are routinely associated with pesticide exposure, the pathology of the disorders are not completely known. Inhaling pesticides may also promote infections by directly damaging lung epithelial cells (Mushak, 1992). Chronic bronchitis, asthmas, and pneumonitis have been associated with exposure to agricultural and industrial chemicals with high volatility and small mass, including pesticides (Nordman, 1994; Zejda, 1993; Senthilselvan, 1992; Rastogi, 1989; Davidvan, 1986; Burge, 1985). Paraquat has been shown to disregulate macrophage activity, increasing secretion of damaging free oxygen radicals (Addo, 1986). In short, pesticides probably precipitate or exacerbate respiratory tract disorders through both immunosuppression and other mechanisms.

Most immunologists have by now adopted analytical techniques that can measure potential pesticide-induced immunosuppression more accurately. They can count the absolute numbers and ratios of various B cells and T cells (including helper-T cells and effector-T cells). These parameters are more sensitive indicators of potential problems in cell-mediated and humoral immunity. For example, AIDS-induced alterations in helper-T cells can be detected long before clinical symptoms appear.

Epidemiologists in the former Soviet Union have long observed that T cell counts and functions are suppressed after pesticide exposure.

Epidemiologists in the former Soviet Union have long observed that T cell counts and functions are suppressed after pesticide exposure (Kovtyukh, 1995b; Kaloyanova, 1991b; Nikolaev, 1988). For example, residents of agricultural districts of Karakalpakstan in southern Russia demonstrated reductions in T cell counts over control groups and higher rates of infectious diseases than the general population of the former Soviet Union (Eshanov, 1993).

A study among residents of cotton-growing districts exposed to butiphos recorded reductions in effector-T cell and helper-T cell counts coupled with significantly suppressed lymphocyte proliferative responses. Additionally, increased spontaneous B cell proliferative responses indicated that B cells were disregulated (Ruzybakyev, 1989a, 1989b). These immunoalterations were amplified among factory and agricultural workers exposed to a variety of pesticides (Maksudov, 1992; Madzhidov, 1990; Samedov, 1990; Saidarimov, 1989; Zinchenko, 1987). According to other Soviet studies, children appear to be particularly susceptible to the suppressive effects of pesticides on T cells (Kovalchuk, 1990; Zolotnikova, 1990; Aristovskaya, 1989; Jabtorov, 1987; Polchenko, 1987a, 1987b; Talankin, 1987; Fokina, 1985).

Studies conducted outside of the former Soviet Union have also recorded pesticide-induced changes in lymphocyte counts and function. Among Indian factory workers chronically exposed to several pesticides, blood lymphocyte levels decreased by as much as 66 percent in a maximally exposed group. In a group asked to take time off from work experimentally, immune parameters returned to normal within three months. The researchers concluded that the "exposure induced deviations…were time related and cessation of exposure or its withdrawal resulted in achieving normal levels" (Khan, 1993, 742).

American and Italian workers exposed to pentachlorophenol (PCP) had significantly diminished helper-T cell counts and lymphocyte proliferative response, and experienced flu-like illness and urinary tract infections (Colosio, 1993; McConnachie, 1991). Nearly identical results were obtained from individuals exposed to the organochlorine pesticide chlorpyrifos (Thrasher, 1993).

Germans exposed to PCP exhibited decreases in the ratio of helper-T cells to effector-T cells—an important indicator of possible immunosuppression—along with suppressed lymphocyte proliferative response. Bronchitis and colds were frequent among this group. In all, "these results indicate that increased levels of pentachlorophenol in blood can lead to severe T lymphocyte dysfunction" (Daniel, 1995, 287).

After consuming groundwater contaminated with the carbamate, aldicarb, healthy women in Wisconsin also showed significant decreases in the ratio of helper-T cells to effector-T cells. The women with lowest helper-T cells counts were rescreened a year later, with consistent results that indicated aldicarb's chronic effect on T cells (Hong, 1991; Mirkin, 1990; Fiore, 1986).

Dioxin-Like Compounds

Dioxin-like compounds are a subset of polycyclic halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons, similar in that they bind to a particular intracellular receptor. Though most organochlorine pesticides do not bind to this receptor, dioxins are found as contaminants in some pesticide products, such as pentachlorophenol. Some PCBs, widely used industrial compounds formerly also used in the United States as pesticide extenders, are dioxinlike compounds. So is hexachlorobenzene, an extensively used fungicide often found as a contaminant in other pesticides (Saboori, 1992). Such contaminants in pesticide formulations might sometimes produce immunotoxic effects. Ninetynine percent pure pentachlorophenol (PCP) is not immunosuppressive in mice, but formulation quality PCP (86 percent pure) is; the dioxin contaminant is the likely culprit (Kerkvliet, 1982).

Since dioxin-like componds were first recognized as persistent organic pollutants, attempts to assess their risks—such as EPA's draft Health Assessment Document for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo*p*-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds—have been controversial. Regardless, substantial evidence from experimental animal, wildlife, and human epidemiological studies suggests that dioxin-like compounds, including PCBs and the prototype dioxin, 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin (2,3,7,8-TCDD) are immunosuppressive. According to researchers at the National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection in The Netherlands, "from...investigations in humans, it can be concluded that dioxin and related compounds cause immune alterations, particularly of the cell-mediated immunity. As a consequence, the resistance to infectious agents may be impaired as well. The findings in humans correlate with the findings in experimental animals" (Vos, 1991, 84).

The evidence of TCDD-induced immunotoxicity in humans stems from several incidents. In 1971, dioxin-contaminated wastes from a pesticides factory were sprayed on local roads in Missouri. Among exposed groups, including children, ratios of helper-T cells to effector-T cells and lymphoproliferative response were suppressed (Smoger, 1993; Hoffman, 1986). An explosion at a herbicide factory in Seveso, Italy in 1976 sent a large cloud of smoke and ash containing pesticides and its dioxin-like compounds into nearby communities. One group of exposed children showed increased rates of childhood infectious diseases, while another group exhibited suppressed humoral immunity (Pocchiari, 1979). Some other epidemiological studies have shown similar immunological and clinical outcomes, though others have proved inconclusive (Institute of Medicine, 1994; Kerkvliet, 1994a, 1994b; Ray, 1992).

A review of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) suggests "that PCBs are immunosuppressive" as well (IPCS, 1993, 41). During the spring of 1979, people in Taiwan consumed rice-bran oil contaminated with PCBs, and their symptoms-called Yu-Cheng (Oil Disease)-included rashes and increases in certain infections. Among consumers of the contaminated oil, effector-T cell counts and serum antibody levels were significantly suppressed, as were levels of neutrophils and monocyte subsets (Chang, 1982, 1981, 1980). A followup assessment of helper-T cell and effector-T cell counts three years after the accident revealed that "the chronic effect of PCB or its derivatives upon the immune system may last for more than three years, and the immunotoxicity affects both B and T lymphocyte functions, in addition to numbers" (Wu, 1984, 184). People exposed to PCB-contaminated rice oil in Japan in 1968, exhibited nearly identical symptoms: altered serum antibody levels, altered ratios of helper-T cells to effector-T cells, and secondary respiratory infections (Kuratsune, 1989).

More Comprehensive Studies

Two little-known groups of studies from central Moldova and northern Canada provide additional evidence of the risks of pesticide-induced immunosuppression. In both studies 1) exposure to pesticides is well established; 2) significant dose-related changes in immune biomarkers are reported; and 3) specific diseases and other clinical manifestations are reported and linked to exposure.

Retrospective studies conducted in the farming regions of central Moldova (in the former Soviet

Union) have examined the human health effects of pesticide exposure. From the 1960s through the 1980s, agricultural districts in central and southern Moldova applied pesticides at rates as high as 40 kg per hectare per year, almost 20 times the world average. Copper-containing fungicides, organophosphates, organochlorines, carbamates, and pyrethroids predominated (Moldova, 1992a; Lupashku, 1984, 1980; Socolov, 1984).

Over the years, pesticide residues accumulated in soils, water, and agricultural products. In soils from one village in the Strasheny district, where an average of 22.73 kg/ha/yr of active ingredients were applied annually from 1983 to 1992, hexachlorane isomers, DDT and DDT metabolites exceeded accepted standards by up to twentyfold. Peaches and other small fruit were heavily contaminated, averaging 2 mg of copper per kg of fruit (Moldova, 1992b). Surface waters and pit wells drawing from agricultural run-off were contaminated. In one survey, researchers detected pesticide residues above accepted standards in 10 to 15 percent of water samples (Kovtyukh, 1995a).

Epidemiological studies in Moldova have implicated pesticide exposure with increasing rates of infectious disease. In one study, teenagers in villages where pesticide application was greatest exhibited rates of infections of the respiratory tract and digestive tract two to five times and three times higher, respectively, than controls from areas of lower use (Vasilos, 1993, 1989, 1986). Based upon this association, researchers conducted a retrospective study of healthy children's immune systems in these villages. Nearly 80 percent of highly exposed infants and children showed significant deviations in more than five immunological parameters. T cell ratios and counts were significantly altered and subjects' lymphocyte proliferative responses were suppressed, indicating losses in cell-mediated immunity (Kozlyuk, 1989a, 1989b, 1987a, 1987b).

Among adults in Strasheny, a district of intensive pesticide use, the incidence of respiratory, reproductive, and sensory organ diseases, ulcers, and miscarriages was higher than in a less exposed district. Complementary studies of the general adult population in these districts demonstrated that immune parameters changed significantly with increasing pesticide exposure. Nearly one third of adults in pesticide-exposed communities showed significant deviations in more than five immune system parameters, while more than two thirds showed similar changes in two to five parameters. Most of the alterations were observed in T cell counts and ratios, as well as in phagocytic activity (Kovtyukh, 1995a, 1994). The authors concluded that "individuals continuously exposed to pesticides and, living in areas with increased pesticide [use]...exhibit immunity disorders at the cell and humoral level" (Kovtyukh, 1995a, 31).

Among occupationally exposed farmers in particular, researchers found elevated rates of the infectious diseases of the following organ systems: gastrointestinal, urinary tract, female genital tract, and respiratory tract.

Among occupationally exposed farmers in particular, researchers found elevated rates of the infectious diseases of the following organ systems: gastrointestinal, urinary tract, female genital tract, and respiratory tract. Morbidity due to these infectious diseases increased with increasing occupational reliance on pesticides, an approximate measure of dose (Kovtyukh, 1995a; Vasilos, 1989). Researchers subsequently measured immune parameters in samples of agricultural and factory workers and found that T cell counts and ratios were altered and humoral responses were suppressed depending upon duration of pesticide exposure (Anisimova, 1990, 1989, 1987; Kozlyuk, 1989a, 1987a; Russu-Lupan, 1989, 1983). In all, "individuals with occupational longterm exposure to pesticides exhibit immunodysfunction," and "nearly all the deviations observed are enhanced with longer exposure to pesticides" (Kovtyukh, 1995a, 33).

In these studies from Moldova, confounding factors that were not completely controlled, such as smoking status and exposure to other pollutants, make it difficult to pin down the role of pesticide exposure on these diseases. These agricultural regions exhibit severe contamination from other pollutants—especially nitrates from chemical fertilizers and animal manures—that can affect health (Kozlyuk, 1989c). Yet, experimental animals exposed to the copper-based pesticides applied in Moldova undergo immunologic changes similar to those experienced by the Moldovans.

Ultimately, the major limitation of these Moldovan studies is their retrospective approach. The researcher had to test the immune status of healthy individuals exposed to pesticides, because illness itself influences the subject's immune status. Prospective studies allow researchers to observe exposure, immunological change, and health outcome together in the same sample group. Such a prospective study is under way in arctic Canada among the Inuit, whose isolation limits the possible sources of exposure.

The background levels of health of native populations in the Arctic is extremely poor. The Inuits "exhibit morbidity and mortality rates in some dimensions in excess of even the poorest Third World countries" (Drew, 1992, 163). Children are highly susceptible to infections. In the 1980s, Inuit children in Hudson's Bay were found to be 30 times more likely to suffer from meningitis than American children (Proulx, 1987). Chronic otitis (infection of the inner ear) was epidemic among Inuit children in Northern Quebec, resulting in high rates of hearing impairments (Julien, 1987). During the same period, other researchers measured immune parameters in healthy Inuit children in the Northwest Territories. In comparison to healthy children from southern Canada, the healthy Inuit children had lower T cell percentages, helper-T cell counts and lymphocyte proliferative responses, as well as altered antibody levels. Altogether, "significant

differences in both cellular and humoral immunity are found in both normal and recurrently ill Inuit infants" (Reece, 1987, 62). The immune system changes are similar to those found in the Moldovan studies.

Transported by atmospheric winds, ocean currents, and rivers from as far away as Mexico, persistent contaminants have been found to accumulate in arctic Canadian ecosystems in extremely high levels (Pearce, 1995; Barrie, 1992; Lockart, 1992; Muir, 1992; Thomas, 1992). Because fish, whale, seal, walrus, and bear meat are mainstays of their diet, some Inuits consume relatively large amounts of polycyclic halogenated organochlorine compounds, including PCBs, dioxins, and organochlorine pesticides, and bioaccumulate these agents in fatty tissues over years of exposure (Kinloch, 1992). In the early 1990s, PCB, DDE, and mirex concentrations in Inuit breast milk were four, four, and ten times higher, respectively, than for women from control groups (Dewailly, 1993a, 1992, 1991, 1989). PCB concentrations in Inuit breast milk fat equalled and in some cases, surpassed that in beluga whale blubber. Because these organochlorine compounds can cross the placental barrier and bioccumulate, these findings aroused concerns over adverse health effects on Inuit infants including increased susceptibility to infections (Dewailly, 1993b).

This motivated a prospective cohort study of Inuit infants born in 1989–90, which revealed that breast-fed Inuit babies that had accumulated higher doses of organochlorines were significantly more likely to have experienced acute otitis media attacks. As breast-feeding normally confers protection against infectious diseases and as Inuit breast milk contains high levels of organochlorines, researchers hypothesized that these residues had altered the children's immune status. In comparison to bottle-fed babies, these breast milk-fed babies demonstrated decreased ratios of helper-T cells to effector-T cells that were correlated with duration of breast-feeding and organochlorine levels in breast milk (Dewailly, 1993c). In addition, Inuit babies are hard to vaccinate, since many fail to produce a primary antibody response to the usual vaccines. The infectious disease incidence among the Inuit children "appears to be associated with immune dysfunction as measured by a low immunization take rate, and raises issues of altered host resistance" (Birnbaum, 1995, 158; Lindstrom, 1995). However, since levels of pesticide and non-pesticide organochlorine compounds correlate closely in the babies examined, researchers can't disentangle whether one or the other, or both, are suppressing immune responses.

Conclusion

The results from human studies presented here are consistent with the evidence from experimental, animal, and wildlife studies. Exposure to many pesticides produces significant changes in immune system structure and function, including reduced and altered T cell populations, reduced lymphocyte proliferative response, reduced cellkilling activity, and altered antibody levels in circulation. There is evidence that these changes can be accompanied by increased risks of infectious diseases and cancers associated with immunosuppression, even in otherwise healthy populations. Though not conclusive, the weight of evidence gives grounds for concern. Clinicians agree that susceptible groups are more likely to suffer adverse health consequences from any immune suppression. The majority of people in developing countries, including children, the sick and the malnourished fall into this category.

VI. Compounding Risk Factors

Introduction

n healthy people, some immunosuppression may occur without discernible effects, because the immune system has overlapping and redundant capacity to deal with challenges. Perhaps for this reason, many studies that measured changes in the immune system after chemical exposure detected no health consequences. But many people are immunologically vulnerable, because they are very young or very old, malnourished, or already chronically ill. All these conditions weaken immune defenses. For such people, who make up a large fraction of the population in developing and formerly socialist countries, further immunosuppression from pesticide exposures can raise markedly the risks of serious illness or death.

Many people are immunologically vulnerable because they are very young or very old, malnourished, or already chronically ill. All these conditions weaken immune defenses.

Immunologists recognize such threshold effects. According to one authority, "The immune system contains many redundancies and back-

ups, so that any given abnormality may be compensated for by other functional pathways. Thus, it is possible that an abnormality may be present but not clinically manifest unless a pathway of compensation becomes compromised or a severe challenge occurs" (Rose, 1992, 14). However, should this redundant capacity be depleted, further immunosuppression could significantly reduce resistance to infections. A wellknown textbook of immunotoxicology states, "Although the concept is controversial, data suggest that there is tremendous functional reserve in the immune system in individual animals and humans. Biologically relevant effects occur only after the functional reserve capacity has been exceeded" (Burrell, 1992b, 227). In developing countries alone, there are billions of people-infants and children, the malnourished, and the sick—who are immunologically stressed, and many of these people are also regularly exposed to pesticides.

Demographic Factors

The human immune system is not fully developed at birth and remains immature in early childhood. The fetus depends mainly on the placental barrier to protect it from its mother's infections and on her antibodies that pass across the placenta (Lewis, 1995). The mother's uterine tissue also produces prostaglandin and other substances that keep her immune system from attacking the fetus, which contains the father's genetic material and might otherwise be rejected as foreign (Chaouat, 1993; Sargent, 1993; Starkey, 1993). Although pregnant women are not severely immunocompromised in this way, they are more likely to get reproductive and urinary tract infections and such parasitic blood infestations as malaria.

In surviving infants, colostrum and breast milk provide antibodies and allow their own immune defenses time to develop (Hanson, 1993; Stephens, 1993). During gestation and infancy, the thymus develops slowly. Children under two, especially those exposed to infections in the womb, still have relatively few mature circulating T cells and low cytokine levels, so they are deficient in those T cells involved in immunologic memory (Sigal, 1994; English, 1992). Non-specific immunity, especially in the respiratory tract, is also undeveloped. Alveolar macrophages, nonspecific cells involved in eliminating aerosol particles in the lung, are not present at birth and only work imperfectly in the early weeks of life. Infants are prone to acute respiratory infections, therefore, mainly because they have difficulty generating non-specific immune responses at the site of primary bacterial invasion (Yoder, 1994). Also, antibody levels reach normal adult levels only by the time children reach age 10. For all these reasons, a population containing large numbers of infants and children is at particularly high risk from immune suppression.

Worldwide, malnutrition is the most common cause of secondary immunodeficiency.

Malnutrition

The immunosuppressive effects of malnutrition are well known. Worldwide, malnutrition is the most common cause of secondary immunodeficiency. Malnutrition and infection typically interact in childhood sickness and death. The sick child typically eats less and, in cases of diarrhea, cannot absorb nutrients effectively. The sick, malnourished child cannot resist infection, in part because of specific effects that nutritional deficiencies have on the immune system.

Protein-energy malnutrition atrophies the thymus, reduces the number of mature lymphocytes (especially helper-T cells), and impairs cell-mediated immune responses (Keusch, 1993; Chandra, 1992). Protein-energy malnutrition also impairs natural killer cell activity, depresses blood levels of interleukin-1 (a protein that stimulates the immune system), and elevates production of prostaglandins and cortisol, hormones that suppress the immune system (Salimonu, 1993; Simpson, 1993; Hoffman-Goetz, 1988).

Some vitamin and mineral deficiencies also lead to immunosuppression. Vitamin A deficiencies are associated with reduced lymphocyte counts and proliferative responses, indicating reductions in cell-mediated immunity. Macrophage functions and natural killer cell counts are also suppressed in Vitamin A deficient patients and can be restored with vitamin supplements. Vitamin A deficiency in children can also alter the differentiation and maturation of B cells, reducing antibody response (Ross, 1994b; Watson, 1993). Vitamin A deficiency coupled with measles ranks among the most widespread causes of child morbidity and mortality in the world today, mainly because the syndrome depletes natural defenses against secondary infections. In fact, vitamin A supplemented diets have decreased childhood mortality in developing countries (Keusch, 1994).

The B vitamins, water-soluble enzyme helpers and building blocks of DNA, are also essential for proper immune response. B vitamin deficiencies suppress T cell proliferative response, hypersensitivity reactions, and some T cell subsets (Carver, 1994; Van Buren, 1994). B vitamin malnutrition also reduces antibody production and immune surveillance by natural killer cells (Jyonouchi, 1994; Kulkarni, 1994).

Vitamin E deficiencies have been implicated in suppressed T cell proliferative response, cytokine production, and macrophage function. Vitamin E protects cytotoxic lymphocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils from the damaging effects of oxidation. Deficiencies in the antioxidant B-carotene can also lead to oxidative damage of white blood cells. Vitamin E also plays a key role in reducing the synthesis of natural immunosuppressive agents, such as prostaglandin (Meydani, 1993).

Vitamin C deficiencies suppress non-specific immune mechanisms, such as neutrophil chemotaxis, respiratory burst function, and macrophage phagocytosis. Vitamin C malnutrition can reduce cytokine production, reducing the activation of monocytes into macrophages that can destroy bacteria and viruses (Cunningham-Rundles, 1993; Muggli, 1993).

Small amounts of minerals, including iron and zinc, are also needed for normal immune functioning. Iron is vital to respiration, by which cells generate energy, and mitosis, by which cells divide. Because lymphocytes undergo rapid cell division for proliferative responses, these immune cells can be limited by iron deficiencies. Anaemia reduces T cell proliferative responses, delayed hypersensitivity reactions, and cell-mediated immunity (Bryan, 1993). Phagocytic mechanisms are suppressed in anaemic patients because the enzymatic reactions that destroy foreign organisms require iron. Hence, anaemia increases infectious morbidity and mortality (Bhaskaram, 1988).

Zinc deficiencies are a well-known cause of immunosuppression, affecting both lymphoctyes and macrophages and resulting in increased rates of infections in children (Dardenne, 1993). Because zinc is required for the enzymatic synthesis of DNA and in hormone functions, deficiencies of this mineral can limit lymphocyte proliferative response. Thus, zinc deficiency causes reductions in circulating T cells and delayed hypersensitivity reactions. Moreover, zinc appears to be vital to enzymatic activity in respiratory burst, a process by which phagocytic cells destroy foreign bacteria in the respiratory passages (Cook-Mills, 1993; Prasad, 1993). For all these reasons, malnutrition in its various guises is a potent additional risk factor compounding chemicalinduced immunosuppression.

Sickness and Infectious/Parasitic Disease

Besides causing the stress and weight loss that accompany illness, infectious agents can alter the immune system directly. Viruses—the intracellular parasites that commandeer a host cell's biochemical machinery to reproduce themselves—can infect immune system cells, taking over essential cell functions and causing premature cell death. Since proper defenses require interaction among immune cells, viral infection of a subset of immune cells can lead to a broader immune dysfunction and an acute infection (McChesney, 1987).

The measles virus suppresses T cell and B cell proliferative responses and cytotoxic-T cell activity. It also locks its host (predominantly lymphocytes) into an early stage of growth before cell division, differentiation, and proliferation can occur. Cytomegalovirus also suppresses T cell proliferation and cytotoxic activity, as well as natural killer cell activity and antibody production. Herpes virus predominantly infects T cells, arresting cell division and differentiation. The hepatitis B virus can produce severe immunosuppression by infecting both monocytes and lymphocytes, especially in the liver and kidneys (Alp, 1994; McChesney, 1987). Secondary bacterial infection-a normal consequence of viral diseases-is responsible for most measles-related fatalities in developing countries, and bacterial pneumonia usually follows lung infections caused by influenza virus and cytomegalovirus (Coovadia, 1988).

Although bacteria don't typically penetrate host cells, some bacteria do secrete protein components that suppress host defense mechanisms. The common Staphylococcus and Pseudomonas bacteria make their hosts more susceptible to secondary infections by secreting proteins aptly termed leukocidins, which can kill macrophages and neutrophils (Noda, 1995). Toxins produced by the Diphtheria bacterium can destroy leukocytes by inhibiting their protein synthesis (McConkey, 1994).

Some microorganisms such as the Pertussis (whooping cough) bacterium and its toxins penetrate and damage mucous tissues in the gut and lungs, impairing local host defense mechanisms (Relman, 1995). The Cholera, Shigella, and Salmonella toxins alter the permeability of gut tissues, causing tissue damage, severe fluid loss and weakening barriers against infectious agents (DuPont, 1995). Recovery from the damage is slow and concurrent secondary infection is likely. Because of similar mechanisms of tissue damage in the lung, "if the lung is exposed to another infection before it has fully recovered from an earlier insult, the damage is likely to be considerably more extensive" (Berman, 1991, 326). Thus, viral and bacterial agents can directly suppress both immunological and non-immunological host defense mechanisms.

In addition, the immune response to pathogens sometimes causes more damage than the invading agent. Immune cells located near injured tissue often secrete Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) which at low levels assists in host defenses, but at higher levels "evidently has some means of inducing immunosuppression" (Clark, 1992, 318). Overproduction of this chemical especially during parasitic infestation can lead to septic shock or cachexia, a chronic persistent wasting syndrome (Tracey, 1992). Similarly, though cytokines assist in host defenses, they can actually suppress immune functions if they are chronically stimulated. As "immunosuppression is a frequently encountered feature of chronic infection," cytokines could be involved in down-regulating the immune response, especially to parasitic agents, such as malaria, leishmania, trypanosoma, and schistosomiasis (Sher, 1992, 181).

In short, viral, bacterial, fungal and parasitic diseases contribute to weakened immunity in several ways. Populations in which such communicable diseases are widespread are highly vulnerable to the effects of further suppression of the immune system, and, of course, are at risk of higher mortality from common infectious diseases.

Other Immunologic Risk Factors

Immunosuppressive fungal metabolites known as mycotoxins are ubiquitous in rice, corn, and soybean fields and grain storage facilities. Occuring worldwide in the global food supply, the most immunotoxic of these fungal products is aflatoxin, which can induce clinically significant immunosuppression in humans, swine, cows, and turkeys (Honstead, 1992). Besides reducing resistance to infections, these mycotoxins alter antibody and lymphocyte proliferative responses, complement and natural killer cell activities, and neutrophil chemotaxis (Pestka, 1994; Sorenson, 1993; Richard, 1992).

Farmwork and other outdoor activities may expose people to high doses of UV light that compound other risks of immunosuppression.

According to the World Health Organization, "evidence has accumulated in studies of animal models that exposure to high doses of UV-B radiation produces selective alterations in the immune function that are mainly seen in the form of suppression of the normal delayed type cutaneous immune responses" (WHO, 1990, 22). In humans, synergistic interactions between sunlight-induced immunosuppression and viral agents may increase the frequency of skin cancer (Bouwes Bavinck, 1995; Rivas, 1994). Farmwork and other outdoor activities may expose people to high doses of UV light that compound other risks of immunosuppression.

The Prevalence of Compounding Risk Factors

Widespread in developing countries, the compounding risk factors described above interact to produce high rates of illness and premature death. The demographic structure of developing countries makes them immunologically vulnerable. Of the approximately 250 million pregnant or lactating women and two billion children under the age of 15 in the world, about 90 percent live in the developing countries. The number of live births a typical African woman will have during her lifetime—six—is three times that of the average American woman. The percentage of the population under age 15 in India—35 percent—is twice as large as it is in Germany.

Immune function also declines among the aged. This is a particular risk factor for high-income countries in which populations—including farm populations—are aging. In some developing countries where the demographic transition is virtually complete, such as China, life expectancy is already comparable to that in the United States and the fraction of elderly people in the population is also high. Although developing country populations generally contain a much smaller fraction of elderly people, this does not offset the heightened vulnerability of the young to infectious diseases.

Malnutrition is widespread in the Third World. Nearly a billion people, mostly women and children, are chronically hungry. They don't eat enough to satisfy basic protein and calorie needs, let alone other nutritional requirements. Largely because of maternal malnutrition, a quarter of the babies born in the developing world (and more than a third in South Asia) have low birthweight (UNICEF, 1995). Low birthweight babies have much poorer chances of surviving neonatal diseases, but for those who do, nutritional deficits continue. Thirty-seven percent of children under five are moderately or severely underweight for their heights, and 43 percent are stunted (i.e., quite short for their ages) (UNICEF, 1995).

Deficiencies in vitamins and essential minerals are equally widespread. Only half the developing world's half-billion children under five consume enough vitamin A, for example; more than 13 million are sufficiently deficient in this critical nutrient that they suffer night blindness or worse (UNICEF, 1995). These nutritional deficiencies are enough to weaken immune defenses among large fractions of the developing country population.

Iron deficiency anaemia affects more than one out of three people—roughly 1.4 billion—in developing countries. Pregnant women, infants, children, adolescents, and those infested with certain parasites are prone to be anaemic. Nearly two thirds of pregnant women in South Asia and more than two fifths of young children globally are (DeMaeyer, 1989). "Because iron deficiency is the most prevalent nutritional disorder in the world and because it is most common in women of reproductive age and their children, the implications of dysfunctional immunity resulting from iron deficiency are vast" (Sherman, 1992, 607).

The burden of parasitic and infectious disease compounds this assault on the body's defenses. The World Health Organization estimates that on average, each child under five in the developing world undergoes three or four severe attacks of diarrhea or dysentery each year. More than three million succumb, making this the fourth most common cause of death worldwide. Each child is likely to suffer five to eight bouts of pneumonia or other acute lower respiratory infections annually before reaching the age of five, assuming the child manages to survive. Each year four million do not (WHO, 1995a).

Communicable diseases are responsible for nearly half of all deaths in the developing world.

Respiratory and diarrheal infections, tuberculosis, malaria, and measles are all among the ten leading causes of death worldwide. Communicable diseases are responsible for nearly half of all deaths in the developing world, but less than 10 percent of mortality in developed countries. Communicable diseases are far more prevalent in developing countries, largely because living conditions are typically so unsanitary and unhealthy, and people who contract these diseases are far more likely to die from them because their natural defenses are weak and medical care is often unavailable.

Some infectious diseases are resurgent. Tuberculosis, once considered a disease of the past, was declared a global emergency in 1993. Nine million new cases are expected in 1995, mostly in developing countries. Almost three million people will die from it. Approximately two billion people carry the tuberculosis mycobacterium, but those whose immune systems are fully competent keep it in check. When the immune system weakens, an active disease emerges. Tuberculosis commonly afflicts AIDs patients, but WHO estimates that only 4 percent of the active tuberculosis cases worldwide are associated with HIV. Tuberculosis has grown dramatically in Central Europe and the former Soviet Union, where chemical pollution is widespread (WHO, 1995b; Dolin, 1993).

Many opportunistic infections that typically appear among immunocompromised patients, such as AIDs sufferers, are also resurgent in broader populations among those who do not carry the HIV virus.

Many such opportunistic infections that typically appear among immunocompromised patients, such as AIDs sufferers, are also resurgent in broader populations among those who do not carry the HIV virus. The infectious agents are widespread but typically contained by functioning immune mechanisms. Along with the tuberculosis mycobacterium, they include streptococcus pneumonia (pneumonia and otitis media), listeria monocytogenes (listeriosis), cryptococcis neoformans (cryptococcosis), pseudomonas aeroginosa (lower respiratory tract infection), candida albicans (candidiasis, thrush), and herpes simplex virus (Lederberg, 1992). This increase in opportunistic infections suggests that the immune competence of large populations may be impaired.

Synergies Among Pesticides and Compounding Risk Factors

Developing country populations, which contain relatively large proportions of children, pregnant and lactating women, malnourished and sick people, are immunologically stressed to begin with. Pesticide exposure exacerbates an already precarious situation. "A large proportion of the populace, being under stress from malnourishment and disease, is exquisitely sensitive to further insult from environmental toxicants. Malnourishment, infectious disease, and toxic chemicals interact with each other and with the immune system" (Jamall, 1991, 372). Consequently, pesticides' immunosuppressive effects could have more pronounced health consequences in developing countries than elsewhere, and pesticides could significantly affect immune responses at lower doses.

Despite advice from the U.S. National Research Council's Committee on Immunotoxicology, few experimental or epidemiological studies have actually examined either the additive or synergistic interactions of chemicallyinduced immunotoxicity and other immunological risk factors (NRC, 1992). Yet, nutritional deficiencies can magnify pesticide toxicity. Malnourished animals are less able to detoxify and excrete pesticides. For example, proteindeficient laboratory rats are more susceptible to liver damage from malathion exposure than well-fed rats. Extrapolating from experimental studies, researchers conclude: "Malnutrition prevalent in many developing country populations could therefore bring about an increased susceptibility to [pesticide] intoxication, especially in women and children" (Forget, 1991, 16). Studies of children exposed to pesticides in the cotton-growing regions of Uzbekistan confirm this risk: pesticide-induced T and B cell immunodeficiencies were especially striking among children with pre-existing iron deficiency anaemia (Sadikova, 1990).

Researchers rarely conduct immunotoxicity experiments on sick animals because any immunoalteration could be attributed to either the sickness or to pesticide exposure and controlling for each is painstaking. Yet, previous or concurrent sickness is known to make pesticides more toxic. In humans exposed to pesticides, T and B cell deficiencies are more noticeable among people with pre-existing liver disease, GI tract disorders, and chemical sensitivities (Rea, 1994, 1991; Umarova, 1985; Fedorina, 1981). Sickness may also make pesticides more toxic or bioavailable. To meet the increasing energy demands of illness, the sick individual normally metabolizes fatty tissues, where some pesticides accumulate. In particular, pesticide stored in fatty bone marrow tissue where lymphocytes regenerate may become bioavailable during disease episodes (Fleming, 1993; McConnachie, 1992; Rea, 1992).

In short, developing country populations and many people elsewhere in the world probably have little immunological redundancy and their ability to repel common infectious agents is diminished. Many of them—the half of the world's population who live in rural areas in farm households—are increasingly exposed to pesticides known from experimental studies to be immunosuppressive. Such exposures constitute a potentially large public health risk that is almost completely hidden from view.

Pesticide-Induced Immunosuppression and Global Change

The increasing use of potentially immunosuppressive pesticides is only one aspect of the worldwide threat to the immune system. Many countries are industrializing rapidly with few environmental controls. Consequently, exposure to immunotoxic industrial chemicals, such as PCBs, dioxins, and heavy metals is increasing. Meanwhile, global emissions of CFCs and other substances that deplete stratospheric ozone have exposed people living in temperate and higher latitudes to increasing doses of potentially immunosuppressive ultraviolet B radiation.

At the same time, vector-borne diseases are spreading rapidly as worldwide transport and human migration carry the disease vectors across borders and continents, exposing populations to diseases to which they have little natural or acquired immunity. For example, a mosquito carrier of dengue hemorrhagic fever has become well-established in the southern United States. Similarly, large-scale population movements, deforestation, and other land use changes are bringing people into contact with new infections, including those like the Ebola virus that has apparently crossed from an animal reservoir to humans. These current trends could be amplified by climate alterations that either change the range of disease vectors or force people to move out of habitats subject to increased flooding or drought (Patz, 1996).

Multiple assaults on the immune system, spreading disease vectors, and a diminishing range of control options surely are causes for concern.

Many disease vectors and infectious agents have developed resistance to the chemicals that previously controlled them. Malaria has again spread worldwide mainly because the mosquito carrier is now resistant to DDT and other insecticides used for vector control. The tuberculosis mycobacterium is now resistant to many antibiotics. Antibiotic-resistant Staphylococcus infections are posing a growing health risk in many hospitals around the world. This combination of multiple assaults on the immune system, spreading disease vectors, and a diminishing range of control options surely is cause for concern. These trends are especially threatening in the developing countries, where they compound the problems of malnutrition, demographic vulnerability, inadequate preventive and curative health services, and elevated rates of infectious disease.

Conclusion

In all, the human health threats of pesticide-induced immunosuppression are potentially severe, especially in developing countries where compounding risk factors are common. The effects of global change can only amplify these threats. Unfortunately, little is being done to address these concerns.

VII. Conclusions and Recommendations

The preceding chapters establish that there are substantial grounds for concern about the public health risks from pesticideinduced suppression of the immune system, especially in less developed countries and countries in transition. The tonnage of pesticides used in these countries will continue to increase as agricultural production intensifies. Chemicals with known acute and chronic toxicity are still widely used, including many that have been banned, severely restricted, or withdrawn from agricultural uses in the United States and Europe.

Controls over pesticide use in developing country agriculture are generally lax. Typically, government regulations over marketing and use are weakly enforced. Distribution networks provide for less product stewardship and support than in more advanced markets. Many pesticides in use in developing country markets no longer have patent protection and are produced and sold on a commodity basis. Pesticides are often used in applications and in ways for which they are not intended, creating safety and health risks.

Though systematic estimates of overall exposure are not available, evidence indicates that hundreds of millions of farmworkers, farm households, and consumers are probably exposed to dangerous levels of pesticides. Direct observations of pesticide handling, spray operations, and disposal confirm significant occupational exposure. Observations of household practices in pesticide storage and disposal, proximity to pesticide applications, and washing and food preparation establish that rural household members can be exposed through various routes. These observations are confirmed by biological measurements of pesticide residues in the body and of acetylcholinesterase depletion. The presence of persistent bioaccumulative pesticide residues in foods, body tissues and human breast milk indicate that consumers far removed from agricultural operations can also be significantly exposed.

A large body of experimental evidence based on *in vitro* and *in vivo* models suggests that many of the pesticides to which such populations are exposed damage the immune system. Established testing protocols for use with experimental animals show that many organochlorine, organophosphate, carbamate and metallic pesticides are immunotoxic. They alter the normal structure of the immune system, disregulate and disturb immune responses, and reduce the exposed animals' resistance to antigens and infectious agents. This assessment of the experimental evidence is widely shared by immunotoxicologists working in this field.

Studies in the wild of fish, birds, and mammals exposed to pesticides and other organochlorine compounds through their diet also provide evidence that these compounds are immunosuppressive. In particular, a carefully controlled prospective study of harbor seals in captivity provided conclusive evidence that dietary exposure to pesticides and other polyhalogenated aromatic hydrocarbon compounds resulted in significant alteration and suppression of immune functioning. There is direct and indirect evidence that these findings carry over to human populations exposed to pesticides. The indirect evidence stems largely from studies of cancer risks in populations occupationally exposed to pesticides. Farmers and other exposed workers are at significantly elevated risks of cancers that are typically found in people who are immunosuppressed because they have AIDS, because they are taking immunosuppressive drugs to safeguard organ transplants, or because they suffer from genetic immunological deficiencies. The same cancers of the immune system occur at elevated rates in people known to be immunosuppressed and in groups exposed to pesticides.

Clinical and epidemiological studies of humans who are occupationally or accidentally exposed to pesticides provide direct evidence that normal immune system structure and functions are thereby altered. In general, these findings are consistent with the experimental evidence, showing reductions or disruptions in cell-mediated and non-specific immunity. Many of these studies have not assessed or have not found concomitant evidence of reduced host resistance to infectious disease or other significant clinical consequences. Other epidemiological studies show an association between pesticide exposure and increased risks of chronic health disorders, including infectious diseases, but without assessing or documenting alterations in the immune system.

For several reasons, few epidemiological studies on human populations have been designed to investigate pesticide exposure, immunological change and immunosuppression, and resulting increased health risks from infectious or other diseases. Until recently, concern over pesticide toxicity centered on cancer risks and acute poisonings, rather than on immunotoxicity or other chronic effects. In addition, environmental immunotoxicology is a relatively young discipline and there are few such scientists working in developing countries, where risks are highest. Finally, such studies are difficult to design and implement: the problems in measuring exposure and immunological changes, controlling for confounding risk factors, and detecting elevated risks from high background levels are substantial. Because research funding has also been inadequate, no such studies have been carried out in the developing countries.

However, considerable research of this kind has been carried out in the former Soviet Union in regions of heavy pesticide use. Studies have shown dose-dependent effects of pesticide exposure on cell-mediated, non-specific, and autoimmunity. Associated with these changes, researchers have demonstrated elevated risks to exposed populations from infectious and other chronic diseases.

Important epidemiological research focussed on an isolated Canadian Inuit population that eats mainly fish and marine mammal flesh contaminated with bioaccumulative pesticides and other organochlorine compounds is reaching similar conclusions. Infants who ingest these compounds through contaminated breast milk show pronounced immunological deficiencies and elevated risks of infections, including meningitis and inner ear infections.

There are reasons to be especially concerned about the immunosuppressive effects of pesticides on exposed populations in developing countries. In those countries, infectious and parasitic diseases are by far the most important causes of illness and death and are largely responsible for the reduced overall life expectancy. Case mortality rates for such diseases as measles, which often leads to secondary bacterial infections, are much higher than in richer countries. Unsanitary living conditions, unprotected water supplies, crowded settlements, and inadequate housing mean that children and adults are inevitably highly exposed to infectious and parasitic diseases. Lack of access to curative health services and lack of money to purchase medicines imply that people must rely largely on their own natural defenses to survive and recover. However, children, malnourished people in general, and the chronically ill have weakened immunological defenses. To a far greater extent than healthy farmers in the American Midwest, they are clinically

vulnerable to further immunosuppression due to chemical exposures.

Consequently, the evidence presented in this study points to a serious but unrecognized public health concern, especially in developing countries and other regions where vulnerable populations are heavily exposed. At a minimum, an appropriate response would include an expanded program of epidemiological research sited in such regions and specifically designed to investigate the immunosuppressive effects of pesticide exposure and consequent health impacts on vulnerable populations. This research would seek to confirm whether pesticides now in use have immunosuppressive effects under actual exposure conditions, and if so, whether this results in elevated health risks to susceptible groups.

These investigations warrant a very high priority according to criteria set by a WHO expert group established to set research priorities in environmental epidemiology (WHO, 1994). These criteria include:

- the size and wide distribution of the population exposed;
- the increasing extent and intensity of exposure;
- the biological plausibility of and experimental evidence for adverse health effects;
- the lack of adequate epidemiological evidence in humans;
- the potential synergism with other risk factors;
- the likelihood of impacts on sensitive subgroups; and
- the potentially high morbidity and mortality costs.

Indeed, this expert committee has already concluded that epidemiological research on pesticide health effects, particularly on the immune system, deserves high priority.

To our knowledge, even though leading immunotoxicologists around the world recognize the need, almost no such research is under way. Nor is any to be found in the current workplans of major health research or funding agencies. The World Health Organization and its affiliates are currently constrained by severe funding shortages, and despite interest, have not been able to mount a research program on this subject. Neither are other specialized UN agencies supporting such research: not UNICEF, despite its strong interest in maternal and child health, nor the ILO, despite its responsibilities for worker health and safety around the world. Agenda 21, which contains the commitments made by governments at the UN Conference on Environment and Development to work for sustainability, puts priority on controlling communicable diseases and reducing health risks from environmental pollution and hazards. It sets ambitious targets to reduce deaths from measles, childhood diarrhea and other communicable diseases by the end of the century and it charges international organizations with the responsibility of supporting national efforts to achieve these goals.

The World Health Organization should take the lead in designing and organizing an appropriate program of epidemiological and other research to address this risk. The major pesticide companies also have a responsibility to ensure that the products they sell do not pose a threat to the human immune system.

In view of its central responsibility among the UN agencies in protecting the health of people around the world from environmental assaults, the World Health Organization should take the lead in designing and organizing an appropriate program of epidemiological and other research to address this risk. Member governments should provide the necessary financial support for this program.

Little or no funding has been allocated from national health research or foreign assistance budgets for such research. The health research budgets of countries of the former Soviet Union, in which considerable epidemiological work was previously undertaken, have all but collapsed. In the United States, the Environmental Protection Agency, the National Cancer Institute, and the National Institutes of Health have funded research on pesticides' health risks, including experimental studies of immunotoxicology, but little or no epidemiological research focussed on immunotoxic effects, and none in developing countries. Government health research budgets, especially for environmental epidemiology, are being drastically cut in 1996. The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) has also financed some health effects research on pesticides through cooperative arrangements with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), but none directed toward these risks. Its funding is also being cut. Agricultural sustainability and the protection of maternal and child health have been among USAID's highest program priorities, and have led to efforts to reduce pesticide risks in developing countries by promoting Integrated Pest Management programs. Through its cooperation with CDC, USAID should also support epidemiologic research on pesticides' health risks to immunologically vulnerable populations in developing countries.

Multilateral development banks—the World Bank, in particular—should also support such investigations. The World Bank has invested enormous resources in water supply and sanitation systems in developing countries to reduce exposures to infectious and parasitic agents. The Bank has also invested heavily in primary health care systems to deal with the heavy burden of morbidity from infectious and parasitic diseases. Yet, billions of people are still without adequate water and sanitation or adequate health care. It may well prove highly complementary and cost-effective to reduce environmental threats to the immune system, thereby helping developing country populations resist and recover from infectious diseases that take such a deadly toll among children and other vulnerable groups in developing countries.

The major pesticide companies also have a responsibility to ensure that the products they sell do not pose a threat to the human immune system. Many of these companies, including Ciba-Geigy, DuPont, and Monsanto, have made strong corporate policy commitments to product safety. They have joined Responsible Care, a voluntary chemical industry organization devoted to environmentally sound production methods and lifecycle product stewardship. In that spirit, they should join and support health research programs to ensure that the products they—or their subsidiaries and affiliates—make and sell do not pose immunotoxic health risks.

Regulatory agencies should substantially strengthen their surveillance and control over the use of potentially immunotoxic pesticides.

Finally, of course, government regulatory agencies should substantially strengthen their surveillance and control over the use of potentially immunotoxic pesticides. The use of banned and restricted pesticides, the sale of pesticides without proper labels, and the improper disposal of pesticide containers should be prevented. Thorough immunotoxic testing should be required as a condition of continued registration of products for sale. Government agricultural ministries should substantially expand programs of training and extension in safe pesticide use. In most developing and transitional economies, these programs are badly handicapped by a lack of personnel and operating funds. Budgets for these programs should be substantially increased. A good way for governments to do this would be to authorize the agricultural ministry to levy a moderate flat fee per kilogram of active ingredients on all pesticides sold, with the resulting revenues dedicated to health research, training, extension, and development of IPM programs. Since the current pesticide market in developing and transitional markets exceeds \$2 billion per year, a relatively modest fee could raise enough revenues to expand these regulatory, research and training programs substantially.

A flat fee per kilogram of active ingredients would also help shift pesticide use away from the more dangerous compounds. It would fall more heavily on pesticides that are cheap on a per kilogram basis and are used at relatively high application rates in terms of kilograms per hectare. These include the older organochlorine, organophosphate, and carbamate compounds that pose some of the most serious health risks, including immunotoxicity. The relative cost of using such compounds would rise, compared to compounds that cost more per kilogram but are applied sparingly. Farmers would be encouraged to substitute newer pest control products, many of which are safer. Such a fee would also encourage the adoption of Integrated Pest Management systems and other practices to reduce overall pesticide use. Market as well as regulatory mechanisms can be used to reduce health risks and encourage efficient pest management practices.

The overriding point, however, is that this public health concern should not be neglected. If it is true that pesticides in widespread, increasing, and largely uncontrolled use are immunosuppressive, then mortality rates from common infectious diseases that already account for most deaths in developing countries may be much higher than need be. People may continue to die from respiratory and gastrointestinal infections in large numbers, as they always have, and the added risk to their natural defenses from chemical exposure might remain undetected. Already, the evidence of pesticide-induced immunosuppression warrants a conclusive research program and precautionary actions.

Robert Repetto is Vice President and Senior Economist at WRI and Director of the Institute's Program in Economics and Population. Formerly, he was an associate professor at the School of Public Health at Harvard University and a member of the faculty at Harvard's Center for Population Studies.

Sanjay S. Baliga is a research analyst in the Program in Economics and Population. With formal training in biology, economics, and public health, he has focussed extensively on environment-health-population dynamics for sustainable development.

Glossary

Acquired Immunity

Immunity that develops following initial exposure to an antigen, usually involving T cells and B cells.

Allergy

Hypersensitivity to an antigen resulting in inflammation and tissue damage.

Antibody

Proteins also called immunoglobulins (Ig) produced by B cells in response to an immune challenge and capable of binding to a specific antigen. There are four types of antibodies, IgA, IgE, IgG, IgM, each having distinct functions.

Anticholinesterase

Any compound capable of binding to and inhibiting the enzymatic activities of cholinesterase. Anticholinesterase compounds include organophosphate and carbamate pesticides.

Antigen

A foreign component that reacts specifically with antibodies or T cells. Antigens are usually protein or carbohydrate constituents on or in bacteria, viruses, parasites, or tumor cells.

Antigen Presentation

The process by which macrophages, B cells, and virally infected cells display antigens from foreign organisms on their surface. T cells inspect these antigens presented to them and kill the infected host cell or foreign cell or induce macrophages and B cells to do so.

Antigen Presenting Cell

Cells that are capable of processing and presenting antigens to T cells. Antigen presenting cells are usually macrophages or B cells.

Autoimmunity

An immune response directed against an organism's own cells or components.

B cells

Cells, also called B lymphocytes, that produce antibodies.

Cell-Mediated Immunity

An immune response requiring interactions between T cells and other host cells during an immune challenge. Include delayed-type hypersensitivity and cytotoxic-T cell responses.

Chemotaxis

Directed movement of cells in response to a foreign agent. Non-specific immune cells such as neutrophils undergo chemotaxis.

Cholinesterase

An enzyme needed for proper neuro-muscular function. Without cholinesterase, an important neurotransmitter (acetylcholine) is not broken down, which leads to overstimulation of nerve endings.

Complement

The set of blood proteins that, when activated, form a cascade of interactions leading to the death of a foreign cell.

Cyclosporin A

A potent immunosuppressive drug widely used to prevent rejection of transplanted organs.

Cytokines

Chemical messengers usually secreted by macrophages in response to an immune challenge that affect growth and differentiation of other cells.

Cytotoxic

Able to kill cells.

Cytotoxic-T Cell

A kind of T cell able to destroy virally infected cells when presented with a viral antigen by the infected cell. Cytotoxic-T cells, like suppressor-T cells, contain a membrane-bound protein called CD8.

Delayed-Type Hypersensitivity

A cell-mediated immune response involving T cells, macrophages, and chemical messengers in response to a stimulus.

Effector-T Cell

A class of T cell containing CD8 that includes cytotoxic-T cells and suppressor-T cells.

Esterases

Enzymes essential for proper energy exchange and chemical transformation. Some chemicals that bind to and inhibit esterases block normal cellular functions.

Helper-T Cell

A class of T cells containing CD4 that releases growth and differentiation factors when presented with an antigen. Helper-T cells instruct B cells and macrophages to kill foreign organisms.

Host Challenge

The deliberate exposure of a laboratory animal to bacteria, viruses, parasites, or tumor cells in order to test whether the animal has a healthy immune system.

Humoral Immunity

Immune responses mediated by antibody and complement (in contrast to cell-mediated immunity).

Hypersensitivity

A state of heightened responsiveness to an antigen. There are several types of hypersensitivity reactions, including delayed-type hypersensitivity.

Immune Surveillance

Process by which the immune system destroys cancerous and other abnormal cells by recognizing specific antigens on these cells that distinguish them from healthy cells.

In Vitro

Experiments with tissue, cells, or cell components performed outside the body.

In Vivo

Experiments performed in a living organism.

Leukemia

A cancer of the blood characterized by increased numbers of abnormal white blood cells in circulating blood.

Leukocyte

Any blood cell that is not a red blood cell, including lymphocytes, natural killer cells, monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils. Also called white blood cells.

Lipophilic Compound

Any compound that is chemically similar to oil and is repelled by water. Since fatty tissues are themselves chemically similar to oil, lipophilic compounds accumulate in fatty tissues.

Lymphocyte

A class of immune cells including T cells and B cells derived from a common precursor cell and involved in acquired immunity.

Lymphocyte Proliferative Response

The process of lymphocyte growth, differentiation and multiplication in response to a stimulus.

Lymphokines

Chemical messengers that are secreted by T cells in response to an immune challenge and that affect growth and differentiation of other cells.

Lymphoma

A cancer of lymphoid tissue, such as Hodgkin's lymphoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

Macrophage

A large non-specific cell capable of phagocytosis and able to present antigens to helper-T cells.

Monocyte

A macrophage precursor cell similar to macrophages but incapable of phagocytosis or antigen presentation.

Natural Killer (NK) Cell

A non-specific cell that can recognize and destroy some types of tumor cells in the process of immune surveillance.

Neutrophil

A non-specific cell that can respond to and destroy foreign organisms through phagocytosis. Neutrophils are similar to macrophages but are incapable of antigen presentation.

Non-Specific Immunity

Host defenses usually involving natural killer cells, neutrophils, and macrophages that function on initial exposure to a specific antigen independently of T cells and B cells.

Phagocytosis

A process by which cells ingest and destroy foreign cellular and particulate matter. Macrophages and neutrophils are capable of phagocytosis.

Primary Immune Response

The cellular and humoral immune response to an initial exposure to antigen. This response has a longer lag phase, shorter duration, and smaller effect than the secondary response.

Secondary Immune Response

The heightened, more rapid immune response, usually requiring a cell-mediated mechanism, that follows a second or subsequent exposure to a foreign agent.

Spleen

A small, secondary immune system organ located near the liver where macrophages mature and T cells, B cells, and macrophages interact.

Suppressor-T Cell

A kind of T cell that can inhibit or down-regulate immune responses. Suppressor-T cells, like cytotoxic-T cells, contain a membrane-bound protein called CD8.

T Cells

Lymphocytes defined by the presence of a T cell receptor protein (CD4 or CD8). Three known subsets of T cells are helper-T cells, which contain CD4 proteins, cytotoxic-T cells, and suppressor-T cells, both of which contain CD8 proteins.

Thymus

A small, primary immune system organ located near the sternum where T cells mature.

White Blood Cells

Immune cells, such as lymphocytes, natural killer cells, monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils that are also known as leukocytes.
References

- Abdell-Gawaad, A.A., "Ecotoxicological Impact of Organophosphorous Pesticides in Egypt," Report prepared for Greenpeace International, (The Egyptian Society of Toxicology, Cairo: October 1990).
- Abdullayev, N.H., and R.M. Ruzybakyev, "[T-Immunodeficient States as the Result of Chronic Effects of Pesticides]," [Immunodeficiencies and Allergy: Summaries of the Republic All-Union Symposium], (Moskov: 1986), 5, (in Russian).
- Abrams, K., D.J. Hogan, and H.I. Maibach, "Pesticide-Related Dermatoses in Agricultural Workers," Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews, (July–September 1991), 6(3): 463–492.
- Addo, E., and T. Poon-King, "Leucocyte Suppression in Treatment of 72 Patients with Paraquat Poisoning," *The Lancet*, (May 17, 1986), 1117–1120.
- Aguilar, A., and J.A. Raga, "The Striped Dolphin Epizootic in the Mediterranean Sea," *Ambio*, (December 1993), 22(8): 524–528.
- Agency for International Development (AID), "II. Pesticide Use and Poisoning: A Global View, Reports to the United States Congress," (AID, Office of Agriculture, Washington, DC: September 1990).
- Akubue, P.I., and S.J. Stohs, "Endrin-Induced Production of Nitric Oxide by Rat Peritoneal Macrophages," *Toxicology Letters*, (1992), 62: 311–316.

- Alba, O.M., "A Preliminary Study on Exposure of Rice Farmers to Pesticides," in P.S. Teng and K.L. Heong, eds., *Pesticides Management and Integrated Pest Management in Southeast Asia*, (Consortium for International Crop Protection, College Park, Maryland: 1988), 417–421.
- Albert, L.A., "Environmental Contaminants in Mexican Food," in J.O. Nriangu and M.S. Simmons, eds., Food Contamination from Environmental Sources, (John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York: 1990), Advances in Environmental Science and Technology, Volume 23, 541–577.
- Albert, L.A., and C. Barcenas Pazos, "Contaminacion por Plaguicidas Organoclorados en Muestras de Quesos Procedentes del Soconusco, Chiapas, Mexico," *Revista de la Sociedad Quimica de Mexico*, (Mayo–Junio de 1988), 32(3): 78–85, (in Spanish).
- Albiano, N.F., E. Matos, R. Uizich, E.C. de Bujan, D. Loria, N. Sobel, and F. Dulout, "Effects on the Health by Long-Term Exposure to Pesticides: Clinical and Biochemical Study," Acta Bioquimica Clinica Latinoamericana, (1986), XX(1): 65–72, (in Spanish).
- Allazov, S., "The Role Pesticides in Kidney Affections," Urologiia i Nefrologiia (Moskva), (1994),
 (4): 42–44, (in Russian).
- —, [Acute Infections and Inflammatory Diseases of the Kidney], Dissertation for Doc.Med. Sci.M., (1992), (in Russian).

- Allen, A.L., L.D. Koller, and G.A. Pollock, "Effect of Toxaphene Exposure on Immune Responses in Mice," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1983), 11: 61–69.
- Almeida, W.F., and G.E. Garcia, *Plaguicidas y sus Efectos en la Salud en Brasil*, (Universidade de São Paulo, Campinus: 1991), (in Portuguese).
- Alp, N., and L.K. Borysiewicz, "The Immunology and Pathogenesis of Persistent Virus Infections," in J.G.P. Sissons, L.K. Borysiewicz, and J. Cohen, eds., *Immunology of Infection*, (Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht: 1994), Immunology and Medicine Series, Volume 25, 99–114.
- Anderson, R.S., and L.L. Brubacher, "In Vitro Inhibition of Medaka Phagocyte Chemiluminescence by Pentachlorophenol," *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, (1992), 2: 299–310.
- Andre, F., F. Gillon, C. Andre, S. Lafont, and G. Jourdan, "Pesticide-Containing Diets Augments Anti-Sheep Red Blood Cell Non Reaginic Antibody Responses in Mice but May Prolong Murine Infection with Giardia muris," *Environmental Research*, (1983), 32: 145–150.
- Anisimova, L.A., A.S. Kozlyuk, I.T. Shroit, E.S. Pivnik, and A.L. Bakulenko, "The Immunity Status of Individuals Occupationally Exposed to Pesticides," *Gigiena Truda i Professionalnye Zabolenaviia*, (1987), (6): 15–18, (in Russian).
- Anisimova, L.A., and E.S. Pivnik, "[Disturbances of Immunity in Machine-Operators Exposed to Pesticides]," [Proceedings of the First Republic All-Union Immunological Congress, Volume 2], (Moskow: 1989), 162, (in Russian).
- Anisimova, L.A., E.S. Pivnik, A.L. Bakulenko, and A.S. Kozlyuk, "[The Health State and Immune Status of Machine-Operators in Dependance on Length of Occupational Exposure to Pesticides]," [Health Protection], (1990), (3): 37–40, (in Russian).
- Arakawa, Y., and O. Wada, "Inhibition of Neutrophil Chemotaxis by Organotin Com-

pounds," *Biochemisty and Biophysics Research Communications*, (1984), 123: 543–548.

- Aranyi, C., J.N. Bradof, W.J. O'Shea, J.A. Graham, and F.J. Miller, "Effects of Arsenic Trioxide Inhalation Exposure on Pulmonary Antibacterial Defenses in Mice," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1985), 15: 163–172.
- Areechon, N., and J.A. Plumb, "Sublethal Effects of Malathion on Channel Catfish, Ictalurus punctatus," *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1990), 44: 435–442.
- Aripdzhanov, T.M., "Effect of Pesticides Antio and Milbex on the Immunologic Reactivity and Certain Autoimmune Processes of the Body," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1973a), (7): 39–42, (in Russian).
- —, "An Experimental Study of the Effect of Anthio and Milbex on Immunobiologic Reactivity and Certain Autoimmunologic Processes of the Body," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1973b), (7): 101–102, (in Russian).
- Aristovskaya, L.V., N.V. Goryacheva, L.V. Kratkova, "[The Immunological Indices of Children in Rural Districts of the Samarkand Regions]," [Proceedings of the First Republic All-Union Immunological Congress, Volume 2], (Moskow: 1989), 164, (in Russian).
- Arkoosh, M.R., J.E. Stein, and E. Casillas, "Immunotoxicology of an Anadromous Fish: Field and Laboratory Studies of B-Cell Mediated Immunity," *Modulators of Fish Immune Responses: Models for Environmental Toxicology/Biomarkers, Immunostimulators, Volume 1,* (SOS Publications, Fair Haven, New Jersey: 1994), 33–48.
- Asplund, L., B.-G. Svensson, A. Nilsson, U. Eriksson, B. Jansson, S. Jensen, U. Wideqvist, and S. Skerfving, "Polychlorinated Biphenyls, 1,1,1,trichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethane (p,p'-DDE) in Human Plasma Related to Fish Consumption," *Archives of Environmental Health*, (November/December 1994), 49(6): 477–486.

Atabaev, S.T., and S.A. Khaidarov, "Hygienic Studies of the Stability of Methylnitrophos and Pentachloronitrobenzene Used in Agriculture," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1983), (2): 74–75, (in Russian).

Babadzanov, A.C., "[Studies of the Influence of Pesticides on the Health of Rural Populations]," [Actual Problems of Hygiene of an Agri-Industrial Complex], (Collection of Scientific Works, Tashkent: 1988), 18–21, (in Russian).

Bakhritdinov, S.S., "[Hygienic Studies of a Real Load on a Population in the Region with Intensive Utilization of Agrichemicals]," [Actual Problems of Food and Hygiene in Uzbekistan], (Collection of Scientific Works, Tashkent: 1991), 11–19, (in Russian).

Barnett, J.B., L. Barfield, R. Walls, R. Joyner, R. Owens, and L.S.F. Soderberg, "The Effects of In Utero Exposure to Hexachlorobenzene on the Developing Immune Response of BALB/c Mice," *Toxicology Letters*, (1987), 39: 263–274.

Barnett, J.B., and K.E. Rodgers, "Pesticides," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 191–211.

Barnett, J.B., L.S.F. Soderberg, and J.H. Menna, "The Effects of Prenatal Chlordane Exposure on the Delayed Hypersensitivity Response of BALB/c Mice," *Toxicology Letters*, (1985), 25: 173–183.

Barrie, L.A., D. Gregor, B. Hargrave, R. Lake, D. Muir, R. Shearer, B. Tracey, and T. Bidleman, "Arctic Contaminants: Sources, Occurence and Pathways," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 122: 1–74.

Berman, S., "Acute Respiratory Infections," Infectious Disease Clinics of North America, (June 1991), 5(2): 319–336.

Bernier, J., M. Fournier, Y. Blais, P. Lombardi, G. Chevalier, and K. Krzystyniak, "Immunotoxic-

ity of Aminocarb: I. Comparative Studies of Sublethal Exposure to Aminocarb and Dieldrin in Mice," *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, (1988), 30: 238–250.

Bernier, J., P. Hugo, K. Krzystyniak, and M. Fournier, "Suppression of Humoral Immunity in Inbred Mice by Dieldrin," *Toxicology Letters*, (1987), 35: 231–240.

Berry, C.R., *The Effects of Herbicide Treatment on a Reservoir Ecosystem*, Dissertation for Ph.D., (Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia: 1975).

Bezrodnaya, V.A., [The Hygienic Estimation, Production and Utilization of Turingin in Agriculture and Its Rating in the Air of a Working Zone and Atmospheric Air of Settlement], Dissertation for M.M.Sci.D., (Tashkent: 1990), (in Russian).

Bhaskaram, P., "Immunology of Iron-Deficient Subjects," in R.K. Chandra, ed., Nutrition and Immunology, (Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York: 1988), 149–168.

Bhatia, A., and J. Kaur, "Recent Advances in Immunomodulatory Effects of Some Chemical Pollutants—A Review," International Journal of Environmental Studies, (1993), 45: 61–70.

Birnbaum, L.S., "Workshop on Perinatal Exposure to Dioxin-Like Compounds: V. Immunologic Effects," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (March 1995), 103(Supplement 2): 157–159.

Blair, A., and H.M. Hayes, Jr., "Mortality Patterns Among US Veterinarians, 1947–1977: An Expanded Study," *International Journal of Epidemi*ology, (1982), 11(4): 391–396.

Blair, A., H. Malker, K.P. Cantor, L. Burmeister, and K. Wiklund, "Cancers Among Farmers: A Review," Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environmental Health, (1985), 11: 397–407.

Blair, A., and S.H. Zahm, "Cancer Among Farmers," Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews, (July–September 1991), 6(3): 335–354. —, "Methodologic Issues in Exposure Assessment for Case-Control Studies of Cancer and Herbicides," American Journal of Industrial Medicine, (1990), 18: 285–293.

- Blair, A., S.H. Zahm, N.E. Pearce, E.F. Heineman, J.F. Fraumeni, Jr., "Clues to Cancer Etiology from Studies of Farmers," *Scandinavian Journal* of Work and Environmental Health, (1992), 18: 209–215.
- Blakely, B.R., and B.H. Schiefer, "The Effects of Topically Applied n-Butylester of 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic Acid on the Immune Response in Mice," *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, (1986), 6: 291–295.
- Blakely, B.R., C.S. Sisodia, and T.K. Mukkur, "The Effect of Methylmercury, Tetraethyl Lead, and Sodium Arsenite on the Humoral Immune Response in Mice," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1980), 52: 245–254.
- Bolivia, Ministerio de Prevencion Social y Salud Publica/Centro Internacional de Investigacion para el Desarollo (CIID) Canada/Instituto Nacional de Salud Ocupacional, *Investigacion sobre Intoxicacion de Trabajadores Agricolas por Plaguicidas*, (Ministerio de Prevencio Social y Salud Publica, Bolivia: 1990), (in Spanish).
- Bolkhovitianova, V.M., and R.F. Kogan, "The Effects of Sevin on the Immunological Reactivity of the Organism," *Faktory Vneshnei Sredy i ikh Znachnenie dlia Zdorovia Naseleniia*, (1969), (1): 129–132, (in Russian).
- Botham, P.A., "Are Pesticides Immunotoxic?," Adverse Drug Reactions and Acute Poisoning Review, (1990), 9(20): 91–101.
- Bouwes Bavinck, J.N., "Epidemiological Aspects of Immunosuppression: Role of Exposure to Sunlight and Human Papillomavirus on the Development of Skin Cancer," *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, (1995), 14: 98.
- Bouwman, H., P.J. Becker, and C.H.J. Schutte, "Malaria Control and Longitudinal Changes in

Levels of DDT and Its Metabolites in human Serum from KwaZulu," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, (1994), 72(6): 921–930.

- Bouwman, H., and C.H.J. Schutte, "Effects of Sibship on DDT Residue Levels in Human Serum from Malaria Endemic Area in Northern KwaZulu," *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1993), 50: 300–307.
- Bradley, S.G., "Introduction to Animal Models in Immunotoxicology: Host Resistance," in G.R. Burleson, J.H. Dean, and A.E. Munson, eds., *Methods in Immunotoxicology, Volume 2*, (Wiley-Liss, Inc., New York: 1995), 135–141.
- Bress, G., "Immunotoxicity of Tri-n-Butyltin Oxide and Tri-n-Butyltin Chloride in the Rat," *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, (1991), 11(6): 397–402.
- Brewster, M.A., B.S. Hulka, and T.L. Lavy, "Biomarkers of Pesticide Exposure," *Reviews of En*vironmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1992), 128: 17–42.
- Bridger, M.A., and J.P. Thaxton, "Humoral Immunity in the Chicken as Affected by Mercury," *Archives of Environmental Comtamination and Toxicology*, (1983), 12: 45.
- Brooks, B.O., and J.B. Sullivan, "Immunotoxicology," in J.B. Sullivan, Jr., and G.R. Krieger, eds., *Hazardous Materials Toxicology: Clinical Principles of Environmental Health*, (Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore: 1992), 190–214.
- Broughton, A., J.D. Thrasher, and R. Madison, "Chronic Health Effects and Immunological Alterations Associated with Exposure to Pesticides," *Comments in Toxicology*, (1990), 4(1): 59–71.
- Brusilovskii, S.S., N.A. Vieveskii, D.V. Zinchenko, and A.M. Fialkovskii, "Clinical and Experimental Study of the Component During Action of Chemical Substances," *Immunologiia*, (1973), (6): 72, (in Russian).

Bryan, C.F., and M.J. Stone, "The Immunoregulatory Properties of Iron," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 105–126.

Burge, P.S., M.G. Sherwood, M.G. Harries, W.K. Lam, I.M. O'Brien, and P.A. Patchett,"Occupational Asthma Due to Formaldehyde," *Thorax*, (1985), 40: 255–260.

Burger, M., J. Pronczuk, C. Alonso, H. Triador, M. Illa, E. Americo, C. Decia, R. Antonaz, and E. Fogel, "Residuos de Plaguicidas Organoclorados en Leche Humana," *Toxicologia (Montevideo)*, (Setiembre–Diciembre 1987), 2(3): 11–17, (in Spanish).

Burrell, R., D.K. Flaherty, and L.J. Sauers, "Agents and Effects of Immunotoxicity," *Toxicology of the Immune System: A Human Approach*, (Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York: 1992a), 235–292.

—, "Relevance of Immunotoxicologic Findings to Human Immune Competence," *Toxicology of the Immune System: A Human Approach*, (Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York: 1992b), 214–234.

Carver, J.D., "Dietary Nucleotides: Cellular Immune, Intestinal and Hepatic System Effects," *Journal of Nutrition*, (1994), 124: 144S–148S.

Casale, G.P., S.D. Cohen, and R.A. DiCapua, "The Effects of Organophosphate-Induced Cholinergic Stimulation on the Antibody Response to Sheep Erythrocytes in Inbred Mice," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1983), 68: 198–205.

Casale, G.P., J.L. Vennerstrom, S. Bavari, and T.L. Wang, "Inhibition of Interleukin 2 Driven Proliferation of Mouse CTLL2 Cells, By Selected Carbamate and Organophosphate Insecticides and Conengers of Carbaryl," *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, (1993), 15(2&3): 199–215.

Castañeda, C.P., "A Study of Occupational Pesticide Exposure Among Filipino Farmers, in San Leonardo, Nueva Ecija," in P.S. Teng and K.L. Heong, eds., *Pesticides Management and Integrated Pest Management in Southeast Asia*, (Consortium for International Crop Protection, College Park, Maryland: 1988), 441–444.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Subcommittee on Biomarkers of Organ Damage and Dysfunction, "Summary Report: Biomarkers of Organ Damage or Dysfunction for the Renal, Hepatobiliary, and Immune Systems," (CDC, Atlanta: August 1990).

Chakrabarty, P., and V. Banerjee, "Effect of Organophosphorus Pesticides on the Peripheral Hemogram of the Fish Channa punctatus," *Environmental Ecology*, (1988), 2: 390–394.

Chandra, R.K., "Protein-Energy Malnutrition and Immunological Response," *Journal of Nutrition*, (1992), 122: 597–600.

Chang, K-J., J.-S. Chen, P.-C. Huang, and T.-C. Tung, "Study of Patients with Polychlorinated Biphenyls Poisoning: I. Blood Analyses of Patients," *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, (1980), 79: 304–313, (in Chinese).

Chang, K.-J., K.-H. Hsieh, T.-P. Lee, S.-Y. Tang, and T.-C Tung, "Immunologic Evaluation of Patients with Polychlorinated Biphenyl Poisoning: Determination of Lymphocyte Subpopulations," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1981), 61: 58–63.

Chang, K.-J., K.-H. Hsieh, T.-P. Lee, and T.-C. Tung, "Immunologic Evaluation of Patients with Polychlorinated Biphenyl Poisoning: Determination of Phagocyte F_c and Complement Receptors," *Environmental Research*, (1982), 28: 329–334.

Chaouat, G., "The Roots of the Problem: 'The Fetal Allograft," in G. Chaouat, ed., *Immunology of Pregnancy*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1993), 1–17.

Chester, G., G. Gurunathan, N. Jones, and B.H. Woollen, "Occupational Exposure of Sri Lankan Tea Plantation Workers to Paraquat," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, (1993), 71(5): 625–632.

Chugunikhina, N.V., and M.I. Khasanova, "The Influence of Pesticides on Nonspecific Resistance of Organism to Infection," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1994), (1): 19–21, (in Russian).

Clark, I.A., K.A. Rockett, and W.B. Cowden, "TNF in Malaria," in B. Beutler, ed., *Tumor Necrosis Factors: The Molecules and Their Emerging Role in Medicine*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1992), 303–328.

Cole, D.C., R. McConnell, D.L. Murray, and F. Pacheco Anton, "Pesticide Illness Surveillance: The Nicaraguan Experience," *PAHO Bulletin*, (1988), 22(2): 119–132.

Colosio, C., M. Maroni, W. Barcellini, P. Meroni, D. Alcini, A. Colombi, D. Cavallo, and V. Foa, "Toxicological and Immune Findings in Workers Exposed to Pentachlorophenol (PCP)," *Archives of Environmental Health*, (March/April 1993), 48(2): 81–88.

Cook-Mills, J.M., and P.J. Fraker, "The Role of Metals in the Production of Toxic Oxygen Metabolites by Mononuclear Phagocytes," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 127–140.

Coovadia, H. M., "Immunoparesis Caused by Viral and Bacterial Infections," in R.K. Chandra, ed., *Nutrition and Immunology*, (Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York: 1988), 241–268.

Cornacoff, J.B., L.D. Lauer, and R.V. House, "Evaluation of the Immuotoxicity of Beta-Hexachlorocyclohexane (B-HCH)," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1988), 11: 293–299.

Cossarini-Dunier, M., A.K. Siwicki, and A. Demael, "Effects of Organophosphorus Insecticides. Effects of Trichlorfon and Dichlorvos on the Immune Response of Carp (Cyprinus carpio): III. In Vitro Effects on Lymphocyte Proliferation and Phagocytosis and In Vivo Effects on Humoral Response," *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, (1991), 22: 79–87.

Crocker, J.F.S., R.L. Ozere, H.S. Safe, S.C. Digout, K.R. Rozee, and O. Hutzinger, "Lethal Interaction of Ubiquitous Insecticide Carriers with Virus," *Science*, (June 25, 1976), 192: 1351–1353.

Cuneo, A., F. Fagioli, I. Pazzi, A. Tallarico, R. Previati, N. Piva, M.G. Carli, M. Balboni, and G. Castoldi, "Morphologic, Immunologic and Cytogenetic Studies in Acute Myeloid Leukemia Following Occupational Exposure to Pesticides and Organic Solvents," *Leukemia Research*, (1992), 16(8): 789–796.

Cunningham-Rundles, W.F., Y. Berner, and S. Cunningham-Rundles, "Interaction of Vitamin C in Lymphocyte Activation: Current Status and Possible Mechanisms of Action," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 91–103.

Curti, T., Statistics Department, Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), Rome, Private Communication, June 1994.

Dandliker, W.B., A.N. Hicks, S.A. Levinson, K. Stewart, and R.T. Brawn, "Effects of Pesticides on the Immune Response, U.S. NTIS Report PB80-1309834," Environmental Science and Technology, (1979), 16(2): 204–210.

Daniel, V., W. Huber, K. Bauer, and G. Opelz, "Impaired In-Vitro Lymphocyte Responses in Patients with Elevated Pentachlorophenol (PCP) Blood Levels," *Archives of Environmental Health*, (July/August 1995), 50(4): 287–292.

Dardenne, M., and J.-F. Bach, "Rationale for the Mechanism of Zinc Interaction in the Immune System," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 501–509.

Das, S.N., B.N. Paul, A.K. Saxena, and P.K. Ray, "Effect of In Utero Exposure to Hexachlorocyclohexane on the Developing Immune System of Mice," *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, (1990), 12(2): 293–310.

- Davidyan, A.A., V.I. Krivoruchko, N.A. Azylova, L.P. Savazova, and E.S. Rusanova, "[Allergic Diseases of the Respiratory Tract Under Conditions of Agri-Industrial Pollution]," [Immunodeficiencies and Allergy: Summaries of the Republic All-Union Symposium], (Moskov: 1986), 240–241, (in Russian).
- Davies, K., "Human Exposure Routes to Persistent Toxic Chemicals in the Great Lakes Basin: A Case Study," in N.W. Schmidtke, ed., Toxic Contamination in Large Lakes, Volume I: Chronic Effects of Toxic Contaminants in Large Lakes, (Lewis Publishers, Inc., Chelsea, Michigan: 1988), 195–226.
- Davis, D.L., A. Blair, and D.G. Hoel, "Agricultural Exposures and Cancer Trends in Developed Countries," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1992), 100: 39–44.
- Dayan, A.D., R.F. Hertel, E. Heseltine, G. Kazantzis, E.M. Smith, and M.T. Van der Venne, eds., *Immunotoxicity of Metals and Immunotoxicology*, (Plenum Press, New York: 1990).
- De Campos, M., "Problemas Asociados con el Uso de Plaguicidas en Guatemala, OPS/ Lucam," Seminario sobre Problemas Sociados con el Uso de Plaguicidas en Centroamerica y Panama, (San Jose, Costa Rica: 1987), (in Spanish).
- De Guise, S.A. Lagace, and P. Beland, "Tumors in St. Lawrence Begula Whales (Delphinapterus leucas)," *Veterinary Pathology*, (1994), 31: 444–449.
- De Guise, S., D. Martineau, P. Beland, and M. Fournier, "Possible Mechanisms of Action of Environmental Contaminants on St. Lawrence Beluga Whales (Delphinapterus leucas)," Environmental Health Perspectives, (May 1995), 103(Supplement 4): 73–77.

- De Swart, R.L., Impaired Immunity in Seals Exposed to Bioaccumulated Environmental Contaminants, Dissertation for Doctorate, (Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, June 1995a).
- De Swart, R.L., R.M.G. Kluten, C.J. Huizing, L.J. Vedder, P.J.H. Reijnders, I.K.G. Visser, F.G.C.M. UytdeHaag, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, "Mitogen and Antigen Induced B and T Cell Responses of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells from the Harbour Seal (Phoca vitulina)," Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, (1993), 37: 217–230.
- De Swart, R.L., P.S. Ross, H.H. Timmerman, H.W. Vos, P.J.H. Reijnders, J.G. Vos, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, "Impaired Cellular Immune Response in Harbour Seals (Phoca vitulina) Feeding on Environmentally Contaminated Herring," *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, (1995b), 101: 480–486.
- De Swart, R.L., P.S. Ross, L.J. Vedder, H.H. Timmerman, S.H. Heisterkamp, H. Van Loveren, J.G. Vos, P.J.H. Reijnders, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, "Impairment of Immune Function in Harbor Seals (Phoca vitulina) Feeding on Fish from Polluted Waters," *Ambio*, (March 1994), 23(2): 155–159.
- Dean, J.H., L.D. Lauer, R.V. House, M.J. Murray, W.S. Stillman, R.D. Irons, W.H. Steinhagen, M.C. Phelps, and D.O. Adams, "Studies of Immune Function and Host Resistance in B6C3F1 Mice Exposed to Formaldehyde," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1984), 72: 519–529.
- Dean, J.H., L.M. Thurmond, L.D. Lauer, and R.V. House, "Comparative Toxicology and Correlative Immunotoxicology in Rodents," in E.J. Burger, R.G. Tardiff, and J.A. Bellanti, eds., *En*vironmental Chemical Exposure and Immune System Integrity, (Princeton Scietific Publishing Co., Inc., Princeton, New Jersey: 1987), Advances in Modern Environmental Toxicology, Volume XIII, 85–104.

- Dean, T.N., V.N. Kakkanaiah, M. Nagarkatti, and P.S. Nagarkatti., "Immunosuppression by Aldicarb of T Cell Responses to Antigen-Specific and Polyclonal Stimuli Results from Defective II-1 Production by the Macrophages," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1990b), 106: 408–417.
- Dean, T.N., R.S. Selvan, H.P. Misra, M. Nagarkatti, and P.S. Nagarkatti, "Aldicarb Treatment Inhibits the Stimulatory Activity of Macrophages Without Affecting the T-Cell Responses in the Syngeneic Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1990a), 12: 337–348.
- DeMaeyer, E. M., Preventing and Controlling Iron Deficiency Anemia Through Primary Health Care: A Guide for Health Administrators and Programme Managers, (World Health Organization, Geneva: 1989).
- Descotes, J., "Immunotoxicity of Pesticides," Immunotoxicology of Drugs and Chemicals, Second, Updated Edition, (Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam: 1988), 337–440.
- Desi, I., I. Dobronyi, and L. Varga, "Immuno-, Neuro-, and General Toxicologic Animal Studies on a Synthetic Pyrethroid: Cypermethrin," *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, (1986), 12: 220–232.
- Desi, I., L Varga, I. Dobronyi, and G. Szklenarik, "Immunotoxicological Investigation of the Effects of a Pesticide: Cypermethrin," *Archives of Toxicology*, (1985), Supplement 8: 300–304.
- Desi, I., L. Varga, and I. Farkas, "The Effects of DDVP, an Organophosphorus Pesticide on Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immunity of Rabbits," Archives of Toxicology, (1980), 4: 171–174.
- —, "Studies on the Immunosuppressive Effect of Organochlorine and Organophosphoric Pesticides in Subacute Experiments," *Journal of Hygiene, Epidemiology, Microbiology, and Immunology*, (1978), 22: 115–122.

Desi, I., G. Vetró, and M. Nehéz, "Greenhouse Exposure to Anticholinesterases," in B. Ballantyne and T.C. Marrs, eds., *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 346–351.

- Dewailly, E., P. Ayotte, S. Bruneau, C. Laliberte, D.C.G. Muir, and R.J. Norstrom, "Inuit Exposure to Organochlorines Through the Aquatic Food Chain in Arctic Quebec," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (December 1993b), 101(7): 618–620.
- Dewailly, E., S. Bruneau, P. Ayotte, C. Laliberte, S. Gingras, D. Belanger, and L. Ferron, "Health Status at Birth of Inuit Newborn Prenatally Exposed to Organochlorines," *Chemosphere*, (1993a), 27(1–3): 359–366.
- Dewailly, E., S. Bruneau, C. Laliberte, M. Belles-Iles, J.P. Weber, P. Ayotte, and R. Roy, "Breast Milk Contamination by PCBs and PCDDs/ PCDFs in Arctic Quebec: Preliminary Results on the Immune Status of Inuit Infants," in H. Fiedler, H. Frank, O. Hutzinger, W. Parzefall, A. Riss, and S. Safe, eds., *Dioxin '93: 13th International Symposium on Chlorinated Dioxins and Related Compounds*, (Federal Environmental Agency, Vienna: September 1993c), Organohalogen Compounds, Volume 13, 403–406.
- Dewailly, E., A. Nantel, S. Bruneau, C. Laliberte, L. Ferron, and S. Gingras, "Breast Milk Contamination by PCDDs, PCDFs and PCBs in Arctic Quebec: A Preliminary Assessment," *Chemosphere*, (1992), 25(7–10): 1245–1249.
- Dewailly, E., A. Nantel, J.-P. Weber, and F. Meyer, "High Levels of PCBs in Breast Milk of Inuit Women from Arctic Quebec," *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1989), 43: 641–646.
- Dewailly, E., J.-P. Weber, S. Gingras, and C. Laliberte, "Coplanar PCBs in Human Milk in the Province of Quebec, Canada: Are They More Toxic Than Dioxin For Breast Fed Infants?,"

Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1991), 47: 491–498.

Dieter, M.P., M.I. Luster, G.A. Boorman, C.W. Jameson, J.H. Dean, and J.W. Cox, "Immunological and Biochemical Responses in Mice Treated with Mercuric Chloride," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1983), 68: 218–228.

Diez Córdova, J.P., A.M. Díaz Fernández, M. de Armas Jiménez, L.I. Perez, and A.O. Díaz, "Estúdio Inmunologico de Niños Residentes en Una Comunidad Expuesta a la Utilizacion Intensiva de Plaguicidas con Fines Agricolas," *Revista Cubana de Pediatria*, (1991), 63(2): 94–99, (in Spanish).

Dinham, B., "Review of the Global Pesticide Market," *Interim Report: Presenting the Evidence*, (The Pesticides Trust, London: June 1994), 19–29.

---, *The Pesticide Hazard: A Global Health and Environmental Audit,* (Zed Books for The Pesticides Trust, London: 1993).

Dolin, P.J., M.C. Raviglione, and A. Kochi, "A Review of Current Epidemiological Data and Estimation of Future Tuberculosis Incidence and Mortality," (World Health Organization, Geneva: 1993), WHO/TB/93.173.

Dorofeyev, V.M., G.G. Ladnova, A.V. Romash, and V.S. Gromova, "Topical Issues of Safe Application of Chemicals in Agriculture," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1985), 1: 82–84, (in Russian).

Drew, L.L., "Health of Canada's Aboriginal People," *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, (March–April 1992), 83(2): 163–164.

Druet, P., "Metal-Induced Autoimmunity," *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, (1995), 14: 120–121.

Dunier, M., and A.K. Siwicki, "Effects of Pesticides and Other Organic Pollutants in the Aquatic Environment on Immunity of Fish: A Review," Fish and Shellfish Immunology, (1993), 3: 423–438. DuPont, H.L., "Diarrheal Diseases in the Developing World," *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, (June 1995), 9(2): 313–324.

Dzumatov, U., "[Incidence of Dental Caries in School Children Living in Districts with Intensive Utilization of Pesticides]," [*Clinical Stomatology*], (Collection of Scientific Works, Tashkent: 1988), 32–35, (in Russian).

Egboka, B.C.E., G.I. Nwankwor, I.P. Orajaka, and A.O. Ejiofor, "Principles and Problems of Environmental Pollution of Groundwater Resources with Case Examples from Developing Countries," *Environmental Health Perspectives* (1989), 83: 39–68.

Elferink, J.G.R., M. Deierkauf, and J. Van Stevenick, "Toxicity of Organotin Compounds for Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes: The Effect of Phagocytosis and Exocytosis," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, (1986), 35(21): 3727–3732.

Emmett, E.A., P.G. Lewis, F. Tanaka, M. Bleecker, R. Fox, A.C. Darlington, D.R. Synkowski, A.M. Dannenberg, Jr., W.J. Taylor, and M.S. Levine, "Industrial Exposure to Organophosphorus Compounds," *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, (December 1985), 27(12): 905–914.

English, B.K., and C.B. Wilson, "Neonate as an Immunocompromised Host," in C.C. Patrick, ed., Infections in Immunocompromised Infants and Children, (Churchill Livingstone, New York: 1992), 95–118.

Ercegovich, C.D., "Relationship of Pesticides to Immune Responses," *Federation Proceedings*, (1973), 32(9): 2010–2016.

Esa, A.H., G.A. Warr, and D.S. Newcombe, "Immunotoxicity of Organophosphorus Compounds: Modulation of Cell-Mediated Immune Responses by Inhibition of Monocyte Accessory Functions," *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology*, (1988), 49: 41–52.

Eshanov, A.T., A.V. Kulakov, V.V. Kulakov, and A.D. Chernousov, "The Characteristics of the

Immune Status of Populations in the Karakalpakstan Republic," *Immunologiia*, (1993), (3): 59–61, (in Russian).

Evdokimov, E.S., "Effects of Organochlorine Pesticides on Animals," *Veterinariia (Moskva)*, (1974), (12): 94–95, (in Russian).

Exon, J.H., N.I. Kerkvliet, and P.A. Talcott, "Immunotoxicity of Carcinogenic Pesticides and Related Compounds," *Environmental Carcinogenesis Reviews: Part C of The Journal of Environmental Science and Health*, (1987), C5(1): 73–120.

Exon, J.H., and L.D. Koller, "Effects of Chlorinated Phenols on Immunity in Rats," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1983), 5: 131.

Fairbrother, A., T.M. Yuill, and L.J. Olson, "Effects of Three Plant Growth Regulators on the Immune Response of Young and Aged Deer Mice Peromyscus maniculatus," Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1986), 15: 265.

Faiziev, H.T., "Hygienic Problems of Enviromental Protection and Population Health in Villages of the Hungry Steppe," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1989), (7): 63–65, (in Russian).

Fan, A.M.M., "Effects of Pesticides on Immune Competency: Influence of Methyl Parathion and Carbofuran on Immunologic Response to Salmonella typhimurium," *Dissertation Abstracts International B*, (February 1981), 41(8): 2962B.

Fan, A.M.M., J.C. Street, and R.M. Nelson, "Immunosuppression in Mice Administered Methyl Parathion and Carbofuran by Diet," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1984), 45(1): 35.

—, "Immunosuppression in Mice Administered Methyl Parathion and Carbofuran by Diet," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1978), 45(1): 235. Fedorina, L.A., "[T- and B-Systems of Immunity Under Combined Effects of Pesticides and Vibration]," [Problems of Hygiene and Pesticide Toxicology: Summaries of the Sixth Republic All-Union Scientific Conference], (Kiev: 1981), Part 2: 208, (in Russian).

Figgs, L.W., M. Dosemeci, and A. Blair, "United States Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Surveillance by Occupation 1984–1989: A Twenty-Four State Death Certificate Study," *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, (1995), 27: 817–835.

Fiore, B.J., H.A. Anderson, L.P. Hanrahan, L.J. Olson, and W.C. Sonzogni, "Sport Fish Consumption and Body Burden Levels of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons: A Study of Wisconsin Anglers," Archives of Environmental Health, (March/April 1989), 44(2): 82–88.

Fiore, M.C., H.A. Anderson, R. Hong, R. Golubjatnikov, J.E. Seiser, D. Nordstrom, L. Hanrahan, and D. Belluck, "Chronic Exposure to Aldicarb-Contaminated Groundwater and Human Immune Function," *Environmental Research*, (1986), 41: 633–645.

Fisher, D.R., and G.C. Mueller, "Gamma-Hexachlorocyclohexane Inhibits the Initiation of Lymphocyte Growth by Phytohemagglutinin," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, (1971), 20: 2515–2518.

- Fleming, L.E., and W. Timmeny, "Aplastic Anemia and Pesticides," *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, (1993), 35(11): 1106–1116.
- Fokina, K.V., Gigiena i Toksikologiia Novykh Pestitsidov i Klinika Otravlennii [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticide Use and Poisoning Clinics], Volume 15, (USSR Glavnaia Gosudarstvennaia Sanitarnaia Inspektsiia, Moscow: 1985), 188–189, (in Russian).
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), *Agrostat*, (FAO, Rome: 1994).
- --, "Worldwide Estimates and Projections of the Agricultural and the Non-Agricultural Popula-

tion Segments, 1950–2025," (FAO, Rome: 1986), ESS/MISC, 86–2.

Forget, G., "Pesticides and the Third World," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1991), 32: 11–31.

Forgue, M.-F., B. Pipy, M. Beraud, M.-C. Souqual, and J.-M. Combis, "1-Naphphyl n-Methyl Carbamate Effect on Intra- and Extracellular Concentrations of Arachidonic Acid Metabolites, and on the Chemiluminescence Generation by Mouse Perinoteal Macrophages," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1990), 12(2): 155–163.

Fournier, M., "Interspecies Extrapolation to Human Health: In Vitro Indications Obtained After Metal Exposure," Abstract presented at the Conference, Modulators of Immune Responses: The Evolutionary Trail—Phylogeny of Regulators of Immune Responses and Immunotoxicants, Breckenridge, Colorado, July 8–13, 1995b.

Fournier, M., B.R. Blakely, and H. Boermans, "Interspecies Extrapolation," Abstract presented at the Canadian Network of Toxicology Centres' Annual Research Symposium, Toronto, Canada, May 2–3, 1995a.

- Fournier, M., G. Chevalier, D. Nadeau, B. Trottier, and K. Krzystyniak, "Virus-Pesticide Interactions with Murine Cellular Immunity after Sublethal Exposure to Dieldrin and Aminocarb," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1988), 25: 103–118.
- Fournier, M., J. Friborg, D. Girard, S. Mansour, and K. Krzystyniak, "Limited Immunotoxic Potential of Technical Formulation of the Herbicide Atrazine (AAtrex) in Mice," *Toxicology Letters*, (1992), 60(3): 263–274.

Friend, M., and D.O. Trainer, "Experimental Dieldrin-Duck Hepatitis Virus Interaction Studies," *Journal of Wildlife Management*, (1974), 38: 896–902. Gainer, J.H., and T.W. Pry, "Effects of Arsenicals on Viral Infections in Mice," *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, (1972), 33: 2299–2307.

Gao, X.-Q., "[Overview of Immunotoxicology in China]," Hua Gong Lao Dong Bao Hu [Occupational Health Protection in the Chemical Industry], (1990), 11(6): 267–269, (in Chinese).

- Garry, V.F., T.J. Danzl, R. Tarone, J. Griffith, J. Cervenka, L. Krueger, E.B. Whorton, Jr., and R.L. Nelson, "Chromosome Rearrangements in Fumigant Appliers: Possible Relationship to Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Risk," *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, (May/ June 1992), 1:287–291.
- Gaworski, C.L., and R.P. Sharma, "The Effects of Heavy Metals on [³H]Thymidine Uptake in Lymphocytes," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1978), 46: 305–313.
- Germolec, D.R., and M.I. Luster, "Hypersensitivity and Occupational Exposure," *Journal of Immunology and Immunopharmacology*, (1994), XIV(3–4): 107–113.
- Gill, T.S., J. Pande, and H. Tewari, "Hemopathological Changes Associated with Experimental Aldicarb Poisoning in Fish (Puntius conchonius hamilton)," Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1991), 47: 628–633.
- Glick, B., "Antibody-Mediated Immunity in the Presence of Mirex and DDT," *Poultry Science*, (1974), 53(4): 1476–1485.
- Grabarczyk, M., J. Wozniak, U. Podstawka, and J. Kopec-Szlezak, "Late Toxic Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Lindane in Peripheral Blood Cells in Rabbits: II Erythrocyte Changes," *Materia Medica Polona*, (July–September 1990), 22(3–75): 184–187.
- Graham, J.A., F.J. Miller, M.J. Daniels, E.A. Payne, and D.E. Gardner, "Influence of Cadmium, Nickel and Chromium on Primary Immunity in Mice," *Environmental Research*, (1978), 16: 77.

- Grasman, K.A., "Developmental Immunotoxicity of Environmental Contaminants in Fish-Eating Birds of the Great Lakes," Abstract presented at the Conference, Chemically-Induced Alterations in the Developing Immune System: The Wildlife/Human Connection, Racine, Wisconsin, February 10–12, 1995.
- Grasman, K.A., P.F. Scanlon, and G.A. Fox, "Immunological Biomarkers and Environmental Contaminants in Fish-eating Birds of the Great Lakes," Poster presented at the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) Conference, Denver, Colorado, November 1994.
- Grissom, R.E., and P.V. Shah, "Cutaneous Absorbtion of Anticholinesterases," in B. Ballatyne and T. Aldridge, eds., *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 321–333.
- Gronik, O.N., and I.I. Viskovatova, "[The State of Natural Resistance Among Children in Districts with Intensive Chemicalization of Agriculture]," [Health Protection], (1978), (1): 9–12, (in Russian).
- Gupta, M., G. Bagchi, S. Bandyopadhyay, D. Sasmal, T. Chatterjee, and S.N. Day, "Hematological Changes Produced in Mice by Nuvacron or Furadan," *Toxicology*, (1982), 25: 255–260.
- Hajoui, O., D. Flipo, S. Mansour, M. Fournier, and K. Krzystyniak, "Immunotoxicity of Subchronic Versus Chronic Exposure to Aldicarb in Mice," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1992), 14(7): 1203–1211.
- Haley, P.J., G.M. Shopp, and J.M. Benson, "The Immunotoxicity of Three Nickel Compounds Following 13-Week Inhalation Exposure in the Mouse," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1990), 15(3): 476–487.
- Hallet, D.J., "Ecosystems Surprise: Toxic Chemical Exposure and Effects in the Great Lakes," in N.W. Schmidtke, ed., *Toxic Contamination in*

Large Lakes, Volume I: Chronic Effects of Toxic Contaminants in Large Lakes, (Lewis Publishers, Inc., Chelsea, Michigan: 1988), 25–37.

- Hanson, L.Å., I. Adlerberth, B.U.M. Carlsson, M. Hahn-Zoric, L. Mellander, F. Jalil, S. Zaman, and D.M. Robertson, "Human Milk Antibodies and Their Importance for the Infant," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 525–532.
- He, F., "Biological Monitoring of Occupational Pesticides Exposure," *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, (1993), 65: S69–S76.
- Hemminki, K., I. Saloniemi, T. Salonen, T. Partanen, and H. Vainio, "Childhood Cancer and Parental Occupation in Finland," *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, (1981), 35:11–15.
- Henao, S., J. Finkelman, L. Albert, and H.W. de Koning, *Pesticides and Health in the Americas*, (Pan American Health Organization, Division of Health and Environment, Washington, DC: February 1993), Environmental Series Number 12.
- Hermanowicz, A., and S. Kossman, "Neutrophil Function and Infectious Disease in Workers Occupationally Exposed to Phosphoorganic Pesticides: Role of Mononuclear-Derived Chemotactic Factor for Neutrophils," *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology*, (1984), 33: 12–22.
- Hermanowicz, A., Z. Nawarska, D. Borys, and A. Maslankiewicz, "The Neutrophil Function and Infectious Diseases in Workers Occupationally Exposed to Organochlorine Insecticides," *Interational Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, (1982), 50: 329–340.
- Hewett, J.A., and R.A. Roth, "Dieldrin Activates Rat Neutrophils In Vitro," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1988), 96: 269–278.

Hiroyuki, N., "The Immunotoxicity of Triphenyltin Chloride in Mice," *Journal of Pharmacobio-Dynamics*, (1990), 13(9): 543–548.

Hoar, S.K., A. Blair, F.F. Holmes, C.D. Boysen,
R.J. Robel, R. Hoover, and J.F. Fraumeni,
"Agricultural Herbicide Use and Risk of Lymphoma and Soft-Tissue Sarcoma," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, (September 5, 1986), 256(9): 1141–1147.

Hoffman-Goetz, L., "Lymphokines and Monokines in Protein-Energy Malnutrition," *Nutrition and Immunology*, (Alan R. Liss, Inc.: 1988), 9–23.

Hoffmann, R.E., P.A. Stehr-Green, K.B. Webb,
R.G. Evans, A.P. Knutsen, W.F. Schramm, J.L.
Staake, B.B. Gibson, and K.K. Steinberg,
"Health Effects of Long-term Exposure to
2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, (April 18, 1986), 255(15): 2031–2038.

Holleb, A.I., D.J. Fink, and G.P. Murphy, "Principles of Tumor Immunology," *The America Cancer Society Textbook of Clinical Oncology*, (American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia: 1991), 71–79.

Holliday, S.D., and M.I. Luster, "Developmental Immunotoxicology," in C.A. Kimmel, and J. Buelke-Sam, eds., *Developmental Toxicology*, *Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 93–118.

Honduras, "Contaminacion del Medio Ambiente," XXVII Reunion de Ministros de Salud Publica y XII de Directores Generales de Salud de Centroamerica y Panama, (San Jose, Costa Rica, 1982), (in Spanish).

Hong, R., "Effects of Environmental Toxins on Lymphocyte Function: Studies in Rhesus and Man," Annals of Allergy, (June 1991) 66: 474–480.

Honstead, J.P., and D.W. Dreesen, "Safety Aspects of Aflatoxins in Grain and in Edible

Swine Tissues," in R.F. Keeler, N.B. Mandava, and A.T. Tu, eds., *Natural Toxins: Toxicology, Chemistry and Safety*, (Alaken, Inc., Fort Collins, Colorado: 1992), 346–363.

Hooper, K., and G.C. Clark, "Workshop on Perinatal Exposure to Dioxin-Like Compounds: VI.
Role of Biomarkers," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (March 1995), 103(Supplement 2): 161–167.

Hoover, R.N., and A. Blair, "Pesticides and Cancer," *Cancer Prevention*, (February 1991), 1–11.

Hovinga, M.E., M. Sowers, and H.E.B. Humphrey, "Environmental Exposure and Lifestyle Predictors of Lead, Cadmium, PCB, and DDT Levels in Great Lakes Fish Eaters," *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, (March/April 1993), 48(2): 98–104.

Hugo, P., P. Bernier, K. Krzystyniak, and M. Fournier, "Transient Inhibition of Mixed Lymphocyte Reactivity by Dieldrin in Mice," *Toxicology Letters*, (1988a), 41: 1–9.

Hugo, P., J. Bernier, K. Krzystyniak, E.F. Potorowski, and M. Fournier, "Abrogation of Graft-Versus Host Reaction by Dieldrin in Mice," *Toxicology Letters*, (1988b), 41: 11–22.

Infante, P.F., S.S. Epstein, and W. Newton, "Blood Dyscrasias and Childhood Tumors and Exposure to Chlordane and Heptachlor," *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental Health*, (1978), 4: 137.

Institoris, L., O. Siroki, and I. Desi., "Immunotoxicity Study of Repeated Small Doses of Dimethoate and Methylparathion Admininstered to Rats Over Three Generations," *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, (1995b), 14: 879–883.

Institoris, L., O. Siroki, K. Fekete, and I. Desi, "Immunotoxicological Investigation of Repeated Doses of Dichlorvos (DDVP) in Three Generations of Rats," *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, (1995a), 5: 57–63. Institute of Medicine (IOM), Committee to Review the Health Effects in Vietnam Veterans of Exposure to Herbicides, "Other Health Effects," Veterans and Agent Orange: Health Effects of Herbicides Used in Vietnam, (National Academy Press, Washington, DC: 1994), 672–720.

- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), *Occupational Exposure to Insecticides Application and Some Pesticides*, (IARC Scientific Publications, Lyon: 1991), IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Volume 53.
- International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS), *Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Terphenyls, Second Edition*, (WHO, Geneva: 1993), WHO Environmental Health Criteria Series, Number 140.
- ---, Principles for Evaluating Health Risks From Chemicals During Infancy and Early Childhood: The Need for a Special Approach, (WHO, Geneva: 1986), WHO Environmental Health Criteria Series, Number 59.
- Isakanderov, T.I., "[Current Aspects of Hygiene in Utilization of Pesticides in Cotton-Growing Regions of Uzbekistan]," [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 16], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1986), 28–31, (in Russian).

Ivashina, S.A., and L.I. Komarova, "The Humoral and Cellular Factors on Non-Specific Immunity in Individuals Exposed to Zineb," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1980), (6): 82–83, (in Russian).

- Iwata, H., S. Tanabe, N. Sakai, and R. Tatsukawa, "Distribution of Persistent Organochlorines in the Oceanic Air and Surface Seawater and the Role of Ocean on Their Global Transport and Fate," *Environmental Science and Technology*, (1993), 27(6): 1080–1098.
- Iwata, H., S. Tanabe, K. Ueda, and R. Tatsukawa, "Persistent Organochlorine Residues in Air, Water, Sediments, and Soils from the Lake

Baikal Region, Russia," *Environmental Science* and Technology, (1995), 29(3): 792–801.

- Jabtorov, R.P., in R.V. Petrov, ed., [Methodology, Organization, and Results of Mass Immunological Examinations: Summaries of a Republic All-Union Conference], (Angarsk: 1987), 184–185, (in Russian).
- Jamall, I.S., and B. Davis, "Chemicals and Environmentally Caused Diseases in Developing Countries," *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, (1991), 5(2): 365–375.
- Jani, J., and J. Patel, "Levels of Organochlorine Pesticides in Human Milk in Ahmedabad, India," *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, (1988), 60: 111–113.
- Jensen, A.A., "Levels and Trends of Environmental Chemicals in Human Milk," in A.A. Jensen and S.A. Slorach, eds., *Chemical Contaminants in Human Milk*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1991), 45–198.
- Jeyaratnam, J., "Acute Pesticide Poisoning: A Major Global Health Problem," World Health Statistics Quarterly, (1990), 43: 139–144.
- Jeyaratnam, J., K.C. Lun, and W.O. Phoon, "Survey of Acute Pesticide Poisoning Among Agricultural Workers in Four Asian Countries," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, (1987), 65(4); 521–527.
- Jingbo, S., L. Jishan, L. Xin, and Y. Yuchun, "[The Humoral Immunity Level of Workers Exposed to Malathion]," Abstract presented at the Second Chinese National Conference on Immunology and Toxicology, Nan Jing, October 1991, (in Chinese).
- Johnson, K.W., M.P. Holsapple, and A.E. Munson, "An Immunotoxicological Evaluation of g-Chlordane," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicol*ogy, (1986), 6: 317–326.
- Johnson, K.W., N.E. Kaminski, and A.E. Munson, "Direct Suppression of Cultured Spleen Cell

Responses by Chlordane and the Basis for Differential Effects on In Vivo and In Vitro Immunocompetence," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1987), 22: 497–515.

Jolicoeur, P., M. Fournier, and K. Krzystyniak, "Suppression of Microbiocidal Activity of Peritoneal Exudate by Sublethal Dieldrin Exposure of Outbred and Inbred Mice," *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, (1988), 31: 203–212.

Julien, G., J.D. Baxter, M. Crago, H.J. Ilecki, and F. Therien, "Chronic Otitis Media and Hearing Deficits Among Native Children of Kuujjuaraapik (Northern Quebec): A Pilot Project," *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, (January/February 1987), 78: 57–61.

Jyonouchi, H., "Nucleotide Actions on Humoral Immune Responses," *Journal of Nutrition*, (1994) 124: 1385–1435.

Kaloyanova, F.P., and M.A. El Batawi, "Organochlorine Compounds," *Human Toxicology of Pesticides*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1991a), 59–100.

—, "Combined Exposure," Human Toxicology of Pesticides, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1991b), 161–172.

Kaminski, N.E., J.F. Roberts, and F.E. Guthrie, "The Effects of DDT and Dieldrin on Rat Peritoneal Macrophages," *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, (1982), 17: 191–195.

Kanja, L., J.U. Skare, I. Nafstad, C.K. Maitai, and P. Lokken, "Organochlorine Pesticides in Human Milk From Different Areas of Kenya 1983–85," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1986), 19: 449–464.

Karakaya, A.E., S. Burgaz, and I. Kanzik, "Organochlorine Pesticide Contaminants in Human Milk from Different Regions of Turkey," Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1987), 39: 506–510. Kashap, S.K., "Health Surveillance and Biological Monitoring of Pesticide Formulators in India," *Toxicology Letters*, (1986), 33: 107–114.

Katsenovich, L.A., R.N. Nuritdinova, and R.I. Karimov, "[Problems of Clinical Pathology Under Effects of Pesticides Utilized in Cotton-Growing]," [Problems of Hygiene and Pesticide Toxicology: Summaries of the Sixth Republic All-Union Conference], (Kiev: 1981a), Part 2: 181–185, (in Russian).

Katsenovich, L.A., R.M. Ruzybakiev, and L.A. Fedorina, "T- and B-Systems of Immunity in Patients with Pesticide Intoxication," *Gigiena Truda i Professionalnye Zabolevaniia*, (1981c), (4): 17–19, (in Russian).

Katsenovich, L.A., R.M. Ruzybakyev, L.A. Fedorina, and L.I. Vakhidov, "[Disturbances of Immunological Status in Patients with Pesticidal Intoxication and Its Pharmacological Correction]," [Problems of Hygiene and Pesticide Toxicology: Summaries of the Sixth Republic All-Union Conference], (Kiev: 1981b), Part 2: 223, (in Russian).

Katsenovich, L.A., and I.Y. Usmanova, "[On the Appearance of Liver Autoantibodies in Persons in Contact with Pesticides]," *Meditsinskii Zhurnal Uzbekistana*, (1970), (7): 6, (in Russian).

Kawatsu, H., "Study of the Anemia of Fish: VIII. Hemorrhagic Anemia of Carp Caused by a Herbicide, Molinate," *Nippon Suisan Gakkai Shi* [Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries], (1977), 43: 905.

Kendall, M.D., and M.A. Ritter, eds., *Thymus Up*date 4: The Thymus in Immunotoxicology, (Harwood Academic Publishers, London: 1991).

Kerkvliet, N.I., "Immunotoxicology of Dioxins and Related Chemicals," in A. Schecter, ed., *Dioxins and Health*, (Plenum Press, New York: 1994a), 199–225.

 —, "Immunotoxicity of TCDD and Related Halogenated Aromatic Hydrocarbons," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994b), 97–121.

- Kerkvliet, N.I., L. Baecher-Steppan, and J.A. Schmitz, "Immunotoxicity of Pentachlorophenol (PCP): Increased Susceptibility to Tumor Growth in Adult Mice Fed Technical PCP-Contaminated Diets," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1982), 62: 55–64.
- Kerkvliet, N.I., J.A. Brauner, and L. Baecher-Steppan, "Effects of Dietary Technical Pentachlorophenol Exposure on T Cell, Macrophage and Natural Killer Cell Activity in C57B1/6 Mice," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1985), 7(2): 239–247.
- Kerkvliet, N.I., and L.D. Koller, "Effect of Cadmium, Arsenic and PCBs on Tumor-Directed Cell-Mediated Cytotoxic Immune Reactions in Mice Injected with MSB Sarcoma Cells," in I.M. Asher, ed., *Inadvertent Modification of the Immune Response: The Effects of Foods, Drugs, and Environmental Contaminants—Proceedings of The Fourth FDA Science Symposium*, (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Office of Health Affairs, Rockville, Maryland: 1978), 275–279.
- Kervliet, N.I., L.B. Steppan, and L.D. Koller, and J.H. Exon, "Immunotoxicology Studies of Sodium Arsenate: Effects of Exposure on Tumor Growth and Cell-Mediated Tumor Immunity," *Journal of Environmental Pathology and Toxicology*, (1980), 4: 65.
- Keusch, G.T., "Nutrition and Infection," in M.E. Shils, J.A. Olson, and M. Shike, eds., *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, Eighth Edition, Volume 2*, (Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia: 1994), 1241–1258.
- ---, "Malnutrition and the Thymus Gland," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 283–299.

Khan, S.A., and S.A. Ali, "Assessment of Certain Hematological Responses of Factory Workers Exposed to Pesticides," *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1993), 51: 740–747.

- King, S.F., "Some Effects of DDT on the Guppy and the Brown Trout," U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Special Science Report on Fish, Number 399, (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, DC: 1962).
- Kinloch, D., H. Kuhnlein, and D.C.G. Muir, "Inuit Foods and Diet: A Preliminary Assessment of Benefits and Risks," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 122: 247–278.
- Kishi, M., N. Hirschorn, M. Djajadisastra, L.N. Satterlee, S. Strowman, R. Dilts, "Relationship of Pesticide Spraying to Signs and Symptoms in Indonesian Farmers," *Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environmental Health*, (1995), 21(2): 124–33.
- Komarova, L.I., [Immunology and Allergy], (1984), 192–193, (in Russian).
- Kovalchuk, L.V., and A.N. Cheredayev, "The Actual Problems of Estimation of the Human Immune System at the Modern Stage," *Immunologiia*, (1990), (5): 4–7, (in Russian).
- Kovtyukh, L.P, "Health Status of the Population of Moldova in Districts with Heavy Pesticide Application, Summary Report, 1990–1993," Report prepared for the World Resources Institute, Program in Economics and Population, (Moldovan Branch of Ecological and Genetic Monitoring, Kishinev: 1995a).
- —, "The Influence of Pesticides on the Immune System of Populations in the Former USSR," Report prepared for the World Resources Institute, Program in Economics and Population, (Moldovan Branch of Ecological and Genetic Monitoring, Kishinev: 1995b).
- --, "The Influence of Pesticides on the Health Status of Populations in the Former USSR," Report prepared for the World Resources Insti-

tute, Program in Economics and Population, (Moldovan Branch of Ecological and Genetic Monitoring, Kishinev: 1995c).

- —, "Ecological and Health Risk Assessment in Central Moldova," Abstract presented at the Eighth International IUPAC Congress of Pesticide Chemistry, 1994.
- Kozintseva, P., L. Kuznetsova, and D. Zinchenko, "[Clinical Significance of the Detection of Antipesticide Circulating Antibodies]," Gigiena i Toksikologiia Novykh Pestitsidov i Klinika Otravlennii [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticide Use and Poisoning Clinics], (USSR Glavnaia Gosudarstvennaia Sanitarnaia Inspektsiia, Moscow: 1973), 345, (in Russian).
- Kozlyuk, A.S., L.A. Anisimova, G.V. Kushnir, and E.C. Pivnic, "[Immunological Status of Man as an Indicator of Environmental Pollution]," [Ecological Problems Facing the Republic and Their Lines of Attack], (Kishinev: 1989a), 354, (in Russian).
- Kozlyuk, A.S., L.A. Anisimova, and I.G. Shroit, [Immunologic Methods in Hygiene Studies], (Stiintsa, Kishinev: 1987a), (in Russian).
- Kozlyuk, A.S., L.A. Anisimova, I.G. Shroit, A.F. Vasilos, G.V. Kushnir, V.D. Dmitrienko, and E.A. Todorova, "Immunity in Children Living in Regions with Different Levels of Pesticide Applications," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1987b), (6): 26–28, (in Russian).
- Kozlyuk, A.S., G.V. Kushnir, L.A. Anisimova, I.G. Shroit, and N.I. Opopol, "The Immune Status of Children Living in Districts with Increased Nitrate Content in Drinking Water," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1989c), (3): 19–22, (in Russian).
- Kozlyuk, A.S., G.V. Kushnir, and I.G. Shroit, "[The Characteristics of the Immune Status of Children in Various Districts of Moldovian SSR]," [Proceedings of the First Republic All-Union Immunological Congress, Volume 2], (Moskow: 1989b), 221, (in Russian).

- Krajnc, E.I., P.W. Wester, J.G. Loeber, F.X.R. van Leeuwen, J.G. Vos, H.A.M.G. Vaessen, and C.A. van der Heijden, "Toxicity of Bis(Tri-n-Butyltin)Oxide in the Rat: I. Short-Term Effects on General Parameters and on the Endocrine and Lymphoid Systems," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1984), 75: 363–386.
- Krieger, R.I., J.H. Ross, and T. Thongsinthusak, "Assessing Human Exposure to Pesticides," *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1992), 128: 1–15.
- Krivoruchko, V.I., and R.D. Dzhabbarov, "Possibility of Using Immunologic Indices in the Assessment of Pesticide-Related Body Effect," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1989), (3): 22–24, (in Russian).
- Kross, B.C., L.F. Burmeister, L.J. Fuortes, and L.K. Ogilvie, "Propotionate Mortality Study of Golf Course Superintendents," Abstract presented at the 65th International Golf Course Conference and Show, Golf Course Superintendents Association of America, Dallas, Texas, February 6, 1994.
- Krzystyniak, K., J. Bernier, P. Hugo, and M. Fournier, "Suppression of MHV3 Virus-Activated Macrophages by Dieldrin," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, (1986), 35(15): 2577–2586.
- Krzystyniak, K., P. Hugo, D. Flipo, and M. Fournier, "Increased Susceptibility to Mouse Hepatitis Virus 3 of Peritoneal Macrophages Exposed to Dieldrin," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1985), 80: 397–408.
- Krzystyniak, K., B. Troffler, P. Jolicoeur, and M. Fournier, "Macrophage Functional Activities Versus Cellular Parameters upon Sublethal Pesticide Exposure," *Molecular Toxicology*, (1987), 1: 247–259.
- Kulkarni, A.D., F.B. Rudolph, and C.T. VanBuren, "Nucleotide Nutrition Dependent Immunosurveillance: Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity, Gamma Interferon Production, and Polynuclear Cell Function," in R.A. Forse, S.J. Bell,

G.L. Blackburn, and L.G. Kaebbash, eds., *Diet*, *Nutrition, and Immunity*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1994), 229–235.

- Kuratsune, M., "Yusho, with Reference to Yu-Cheng," in R.D. Kimbrough and A.A. Jensen, eds., Halogenated Biphenyls, Terphenyls, Naphthalenes, Dibenzodioxins and Related Products, Second Fully Revised Edition, (Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.-Biomedical Division, Amsterdam: 1989), 381–400.
- Kuzmenok, A.S., in R.V. Petrov, ed., [Methodology, Organization, and Results of Mass Immunological Examinations: Summaries of a Republic All-Union Conference], (Angarsk: 1987), 41–42, (in Russian).
- Ladnova, G.G., V.M. Dorofeyev, I.V. Ovchinnikova, and A.V. Romash, "The Labour Conditions and Health Status of Machine-Operators Exposed to Pesticides," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1984), (9): 30–32, (in Russian).
- Lafarge-Frayssinet, C., and F. Decloitre, "Modulatory Effect of the Pesticide Captam on the Immune System in Rats and Mice," *Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1982), 4: 43.
- Lahvis, G.P., R.S. Wells, D. Casper, and C.S. Via, "In-Vitro Lymphocyte Response of Bottlenose Dolphins (Tursiops truncatus): Mitogen-Induced Proliferation," *Marine Environmental Research*, (1993), 35: 115–119.
- Lahvis, G.P., R.S. Wells, D.W. Kuehl, J.L. Stewart, H.L. Rhinehart, and C.S. Via, "Decreased Lymphocyte Responses in Free-Ranging Bottlenose Dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) Are Associated with Increased Concentrations of PCBs and DDT in Peripheral Blood," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (May 1995), 103(Supplement 4): 67–72.
- Landell Mills Market Research, "Research Proposal for Special Study: Current Usage and Development Trends of Agrochemicals in China," (Landell Mills Market Research, Ltd., Bath, England: August 1994a).

- —, "The Agrochemical Market in Russia, Sample of Report," (Landell Mills Market Research, Ltd., Bath, England: 1994b).
- Lara, W.H., H.H.C. Barretto, and O.N.K. Inomata, "Níveis de Pesticidas Organoclorados em Soro Sangüíneo de Pessoas Expostas à Doença de Chagas No Brasil," *Revista do Instituto Adolfo Lutz*, (1987), 47(1/2): 19–24, (in Portuguese).
- Lawrence, D.A., "Heavy Metal Modulation of Lymphocyte Activities: I. In Vitro Effects of Heavy Metals on Primary Humoral Immune Responses," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1981), 57: 439–451.
- Lederberg, J., R.E. Shope, and S.C. Oaks, Jr., eds., *Emerging Infections: Microbial Threats to Health in the United States*, (National Academy Press, Washington, DC: 1992), Appendix B, 199–260.
- Ledermann, S.A., "Environmental Contaminants and their Significance for Breastfeeding in the Central Asian Republics," (Wellstart International, Washington, DC: July 1993).
- Lee, M.J., and H.C. Waters III, "Inhibition of Monocyte Esterase Activity by Organophosphate Insecticides," *Blood*, (November 1977), 50(5): 947–951.
- Lee, T.-P., R. Moscati, and B.H. Park, "Effects of Pesticide on Human Leukocyte Functions," *Research Communications in Chemical Pathology and Pharmacology*, (March 1979), 23(3): 597–609.
- Leiss, J.K., and D.A. Savitz, "Home Pesticide Use and Childhood Cancer: A Case-Control Study," *American Journal of Public Health*, (February 1995), 85(2): 249–252.
- Lenardon, A., M.I.M. de Havia, and S.E. de Carbone, "Organochlorine Pesticides in Argentinian Butter," *Science of the Total Environment*, (April 1994), 144: 273–277.
- Lewis, D.B., and C.B. Wilson, "Developmental Immunology and Role of Host Defenses in Neonatal Susceptibility to Infections," in J.S.

Remington, and J.O. Klein, eds., *Diseases of the Fetus and Newborn Infant, Fourth Edition*, (W.B. Saunders Company, London: 1995), 20–98.

Lindstrom, G., K. Hooper, M. Petreas, R. Stephens, and A. Gilman, "Workshop on Perinatal Exposure to Dioxins-Like Compounds: I. Summary," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (March 1995), 103(Supplement 2): 135–142.

Lockhart, W.L., R. Wagemann, B. Tracey, D. Sutherland, and D.J. Thomas, "Presence and Implications of Chemical Contaminants in the Freshwaters of the Canadian Arctic," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 122: 165–243.

Loevinsohn, M.E., "Insecticide Use and Increased Mortality in Rural Central Luzon, Philippines," *The Lancet*, (June 13, 1987), 1359–1362.

Loose, L.D., "Macrophage Induction of T Suppressor Cells in Pesticide Exposed and Protozoan-Infected Mice," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1982), 42–43: 89–97.

Loose, L.D., K.A. Pittman, K. Benitz, and J.B. Silkworth, "PCB and HCB Induced Immunosuppression in Mice," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1977), 41: 201–202.

Loose, L., K. Pittman, J. Silkworth, W. Mueller, and F. Coulston, "Environmental Chemical-Induced Immune Dysfunction," *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, (1978a), 2: 173–178.

Loose, L.D., J.B. Silkworth, S.P. Mudzinski, K.A. Pittman, K.F. Benitz, and W. Mueller, "Modification of the Immune Response by Organochlorine Xenobiotics," *Drug Chemistry and Toxicology*, (1979), 2: 11.

Loose, L.D., J.B. Silkworth, K.A. Pittman, K.-F. Benitz, and W. Mueller, "Impaired Host Resistance to Endotoxin and Malaria in Polychlorinated Biphenyl- and Hexachlorobenzene-Treated Mice," *Infection and Immunity*, (April 1978b), 20: 30–35. López-Carillo, L. and M. López-Cervantes, "Effect of Exposure to Organophosphate Pesticides on Serum Cholinesterase Levels," *Archives of Environmental Health*, (September/October 1993), 48(5): 359–363.

Lotzova, E., "Immune Surveillance and Natural Immunity," in E.L. Cooper, and E. Nisbet-Brown, eds., *Developmental Immunology*, (Oxford University Press, New York: 1993), 401–425.

Lukic, M.L., L. Popeskovic, and B.D. Jankovic, "Potentition of Immune Responsiveness in Rats Treated with DDT," *Federation Proceedings*, (1973), 32: 1037Abs.

Lupashku, M.F., "[Environmental Protection Under Agricultural Production Intensification]," [Conservation of Natural Resources of Moldova], (Kishinev: 1984), 28, (in Russian).

—, "[The Ecological Basis of Conservation of Natural Resources in Moldova]," [Protection of the Biosphere], (Kishinev: 1980), 36, (in Russian).

Luster, M.I., A.E. Munson, P.T. Thomas, M.P. Holsapple, J.D. Fenters, K.L. White, L.D. Lauer, D.R. Germolec, G.J. Rosenthal, and J.H. Dean, "Methods Evaluation: Development of a Testing Battery to Assess Chemical-Induced Immunotoxicity—National Toxicology Program's Guidelines for Immunotoxicity Evaluation in Mice," Fundamental and Applied Toxicology, (1988), 10:2–19.

Luster, M.I., C. Portier, D.G. Pait, G.J Rosenthal, and D.R. Germolec, "Immunotoxicology and Risk Assessment," in G.R. Burleson, J.H. Dean, and A.E. Munson, eds., *Methods in Immunotoxicology, Volume 1*, (Wiley-Liss, Inc., New York: 1995), 51–68.

Luster, M.I., and G.J. Rosenthal, "Chemical Agents and the Immune Response," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1993a), 100: 219–236.

Luster, M.I., C. Portier, D.G. Pait, G.J. Rosenthal, D.R. Germolec, E. Corsini, B.L. Blaylock, P. Pollack, Y. Kouchi, W. Craig, K.I. White, A.E. Munson, and C.E. Comment, "Risk Assessment in Immunotoxicology: II. Relationships Between Immune and Host Resistance Tests," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1993b), 21: 71–82.

- Luster, M.I., C. Portier, D.G. Pait, K.I. White, C. Gennings, A.E. Munson, and G.J. Rosenthal, "Risk Assessment in Immunotoxicology: I. Sensitivity and Predictability of Immune Tests," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1992), 18: 200–210.
- Madison, R.E., A. Broughton, and J.D. Thrasher, "Immunologic Biomarkers Associated with an Acute Exposure to Exothermic Byproducts of a Ureaformaldehyde Spill," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1991), 94: 219–223.
- Madzhidov, A.V., Z.S. Kamalov, and R.M. Ruzybakyev, "[Pesticides and Immunoregulation]," [Ecological Aspects of Immunopathological States: Summaries of an All-Union Conference], (Alma-Ata: 1990), Part 1: 107, (in Russian).
- Majoor, G.D., K. Wiel, H. Wodzig, and P.J.C. Van Breda Vriesman, "Cyclosporin-Induced Autoimmunity," in M.D. Kendall, and M.A. Ritter, eds., *Thymus Update 4: The Thymus in Immunotoxicology*, (Harwood Academic Publishers, Switzerland: 1991), 179–200.
- Maksudov, D.A., [The Characteristics of Immune Status in the Contingent of Workers of a Plant for Production of Pesticides], Disseration for M.M.Sci.D., (Tashkent: 1992), (in Russian).
- Maroni, M., and A. Fait, *Health Effects in Man from Long-Term Exposure to Pesticides: A Review of the* 1975–1991 Literature, (Elsevier Scientific Publishers Ireland, Ltd.: 1993).
- McCabe, M., D. Maguire, and M. Nowak, "The Effects of Arsenic Compounds on Human and Bovine Lymphocyte Mitogenesis In Vitro," *Environmental Research*, (1983), 31: 323.
- McChesney, M.B., and M.B.A. Oldstone, "Viruses Perturb Lymphocyte Functions: Selected Prin-

ciples Characterizing Virus-Induced Immunosuppression," *Annual Review of Immunology*, (1987), 5: 279–304.

McConkey, D.J., M.B. Jondal, and S.G. Orrenius, "Chemical-Induced Apotosis in the Immune System," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 473–485.

- McConnachie, P.R., and A.C. Zahalsky, "Immune Alterations in Humans Exposed to the Termiticide Technical Chlordane," *Archives of Environmental Health*, (July/August 1992), 47(4): 295–301.
- —, "Immunological Consequences of Exposure to Pentachlorophenol," Archives of Environmental Health, (July/August 1991), 46(4): 249–253.
- McConnell, E.E., J.A. Moore, B.N. Gupta, A.H. Rakes, M.I. Luster, J.A. Goldstein, J.K. Haseman, and C.E. Parker, "The Chronic Toxicity of Technical and Analytical Pentachlorophenol in Cattle: I. Clinicopathology," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1980), 52: 468–490.
- McConnell, R., *in* J. Appel, and I.M. Beck, eds., *Diagnostico Global sobre Plaguicidas en Nicaragua y sus Efectos a la Salud Humana y al Media Ambiente*, (Managua: 1990), MASICA/CSUCA/ OPA, (in Spanish).
- McConnell, R., M. Cordon, and D.L. Murray, "Subclinical Health Effects of Environmental Pesticide Contamination in a Third World Setting," *Environmental Research*, (Submitted).
- McConnell, R., G. Corey, S. Henao, O.N. Zapata,
 L. Rosenstock, A. Trapé, and I. Wesseling,
 "Pesticides," in J. Finkelman, G. Corey, and R.
 Calderon, eds., Environmental Epidemiology: A Project for Latin America and the Caribbean, (Pan American Center for Human Ecology and Health, Pan American Health Organization, Mexico City: 1993a), 147–200.

McConnell, R., and A.J. Hruska, "An Epidemic of Pesticide Poisoning in Nicaragua: Implications for Prevention in Developing Countries," *American Journal of Public Health*, (November 1993b), 83(11): 1559–1562.

McDougall, L., L. Magloire, C.J. Hospedales, J.E. Tollefson, M. Ooms, N.C. Singh, and F.M.M. White, "Attitudes and Practices of Pesticide Users in Saint Lucia, West Indies," *Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization*, (1993), 27(1): 43–51.

Meera, P., P.R. Rao, R. Shanker, and O. Tripathi, "Immunomodulatory Effects of g-HCH (Lindane) in Mice," *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, (1992), 14(1&2): 261–282.

Meier, P.G., D.C. Fook, and K.F. Lagler, "Organochlorine Pesticide Residues in Rice Paddies in Malaysia, 1981," Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1983), 30: 351–357.

Menna, J.H., J.B. Barnett, and L.S.F. Soderberg, "Influenza Type A Virus Infection of Mice Exposed in Utero to Chlordane: Survival and Antibody Studies," *Toxicology Letters*, (1985), 24: 45–52.

Meybeck, M., D.V. Chapman, and R. Helmer, eds., "Organic Micropollutants," *Global Environment Monitoring System—Global Freshwater Quality: A First Assessment*, (Blackwell Reference for WHO/UNEP, Oxford: 1989), 175–194.

Meydani, S.N., and J.B. Blumberg, "Vitamin E and the Immune Response," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 223–238.

Mirkin, I.R., H.A. Anderson, L. Hanrahan, R. Hong, R. Golubjatnikov, and D. Belluck, "Changes in T-Lymphocyte Distribution Associated with Ingestion of Aldicarb-Contaminated Drinking Water: A Follow-Up Study," *Environmental Research*, (1990), 51: 35–50. Mogilynaya, G.M., Peilivanyan, and M.G. Shubich, "[NTS-Test in Estimation of Pesticidal Effects on a Human Organism]," *Pestitsidy i Gigiena* [*Pesticides and Health*], (Krasnodar: 1989), 94–97, (in Russian).

- Moldova, Central Statistical Board, "Statistical Reports, 1983–1992," 02.03076, Number 141, (Kishinev: 1992a), (in Russian).
- —, Ministry of Public Health, Republican Centre for Hygiene and Epidemiology, "Annual Reports, 1990–1992," (Kishinev: 1992b), (in Russian).
- Moon, C.K., Y.P. Yun, and S.H. Lee, "Effects of Some Organophosphate Pesticides on the Murine Immune System Following Subchronic Exposure (II)," *Archives of Pharmaceutical Research*, (1986b), 9(3): 183–187.
- Moon, C.K., Y.P. Yun, S.H. Lee, and Y.S. Lee, "Effects of Some Organophosphate Pesticides on the Murine Immune System Following Subchronic Exposure (I)," *Archives of Pharmaceutical Research*, (1986a), 9(3): 175–181.
- Morgan, A., "Introduction: EULEP International Symposium on the Role of the Alveolar Macrophage in the Clearance of Inhaled Particles," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1992), 97: 3.
- Moses, M., E.S. Johnson, W.K. Anger, V.W. Burse, S.W. Horstman, R.J. Jackson, R.G. Lewis, K.T. Maddy, R. McConnell, W.J. Meggs, and S.H. Zahm, "Environmental Equity and Pesticide Exposure," *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, (1993), 9(5): 913–959.
- Mount, D.I., and G.J. Putnicki, "Summary Report of the 1963 Mississippi Fish Kill," *Transactions* of the Thirty-First North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference, (Wildlife Management Institute, Washington, DC: 1966), 178.
- Muggli, R., "Vitamin C and Phagocytosis," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation*

of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 75–90.

Muir, D.C.G., R. Wagemann, B.T. Hargrave, D.J. Thomas, D.B. Peakall, and R.J. Norstrom, "Arctic Marine Ecosystem Contamination," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 122: 75–134.

Murray, M.J., and P.T. Thomas, "Toxic Consequences of Chemical Interactions with the Immune System," in K. Miller, J.T. Turk, and S. Nicklin, eds., *Principles and Practice of Immunotoxicology*, (Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford: 1992), 65–85.

Mushak, E.W., and W.T. Piver, "Agricultural Chemical Utilization and Human Health," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1992), 97: 269–274.

Mwanthi, M.A., "Pesticides Use in Kenya," *Journal of Environmental Health*, (May 1993a), 55(7): 11–16.

Mwanthi, M.A. and V.N. Kimani, "Agrochemicals: A Potential Health Hazard Among Kenya's Small-Scale Farmers," in G. Forget, T. Goodman, A. de Villiers, eds., *Impact of Pesticide Use on Health in Developing Countries*, (International Development Research Centre, Ottawa: 1993b).

Nair, A., and M.K.K. Pillai, "Trends in Ambient Levels of DDT and HCH Residues in Humans and the Environment of Delhi, India," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 121: 145–157.

Nakatsuru, S., J. Oohashi, H. Nozaki, S. Nakada, and N. Imura, "Effect of Mercurials on Lymphocyte Functions In Vitro," *Toxicology*, (1985), 36: 297–305.

National Research Council (NRC), Board on Agriculture and Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, "Perinatal and Pedriatric Toxicity," *Pesticides in the Diets of Infants and Children*, (National Academy Press, Washington, DC: 1993), 49–125. —, Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, *Biological Markers in Immunotoxicology*, (National Academy Press, Washington, DC: 1992).

Newcombe, D.S., "Immune Surveillance, Organophosphorus Exposure, and Lymphomagenesis," *The Lancet*, (February 29, 1992b), 339: 539–541.

Newcombe, D.S., and A.H. Esa, "Immunotoxicity of Organophosphorus Compounds," in D.S. Newcombe, N.R. Rose, and J.C. Bloom, eds., *Clinical Immunotoxicology*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1992a), 349–363.

Nieto, O., Morbilidad y Mortalidad por Plaguicidas en Antioquia, 1978–1989, Servicio Seccional de Salud de Antioquia, (Medellin: 1990), (in Spanish).

Nikolaev, A.I., and R.A. Isayeva, "[The Values of Immunological Reactions in Expertise of Allergic States Caused by Pesticides]," [Transactions of Legal and Medical Experts of Uzbekistan], (Tashkent: 1975), 27–28, (in Russian).

Nikolaev, A.I., L.A. Katsenovich, and S.T. Atabaev, *Pestitsidy i Immunitet [Pesticides and Immunity]*, (Meditsina UzSSR, Tashkent: 1988), (in Russian).

Nikolaev, A.I., L.A. Ponomareva, I.S. Geller, M.I. Rozgon, and F.S. Garipova, "Immunodepressive Action of Some Poisonous Chemicals," *Farmakologiia i Toksikologiia (Moscow)*, (1972), 35: 352, (in Russian).

Noda, M., "Leukocidins," in J. Moss, M. Iglewski, M. Vaughan, and A.T. Tu, eds., Bacterial Toxins and Virulence Factors in Disease, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1995), Handbook of Natural Toxins, Volume 8, 573–588.

Nordlind, K., and S. Liden, "Mercuric Chloride Inhibition of Leukocyte Migration," *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, (1990), 12(4): 715–721.

- Nordman, H., "Occupational Asthma—Time for Prevention," Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environmental Health, (1994), 20: 108–115.
- Nuritdinova, F.N., "[The Diagnostics of a Pre-Clinical Stage of Chronic Pesticide Intoxication]," *Meditsinskii Zhurnal Uzbekistana*, (1985), (7): 10–12, (in Russian).
- Olefir, A.I., "Effect of Chronic Intoxication with Carbamine Pesticides on the Immunobiological Reactivity and Antiinfectious Resistance," *Vrachneboe Delo*, (1973a), (8): 137–141, (in Ukrainian).
- —, "Effect of Acute Poisoning with Carbamine Pesticides on the Immunological Reactivity," *Vrachneboe Delo*, (1973b), (4): 138–141, (in Ukrainian).
- —, "Study of the Effects of Chemical Substances on the Formation of Acquired Immunity," *Vrachneboe Delo*, (1971), (10): 125, (in Ukrainian).
- Olson, L.J., "The Immune System and Pesticides," The Journal of Pesticide Reform, (1986a), Summer.
- Olson, L.J., B.J. Erickson, R.D. Hinsdill, J.A. Wyman, W.P. Porter, L.K. Binning, R.C. Bidgood, and E.V. Nordheim, "Aldicarb Immunomodulation in Mice: An Inverse Dose-Response to Parts Per Billion Levels in Drinking Water," Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1987), 16: 433–439.
- Olson, L.J., B.J. Erickson, R.D. Hinsdill, J.A. Wyman, W.P. Porter, L. Binning, R. Bidgood, and E. Nordheim, "Immunosuppression of Mice by a Pesticide Groundwater Comtaminant," Proceedings of the 1986 Fertilizer and Pest Management Conference, Madison, WI, (January 21–23, 1986b), 25: 155.
- Olson, L.J., and R.D. Hinsdill, "Influence of Feeding Chlorocholine Chloride and Glyphosine on Selected Immune Parameters in Deer Mice, Peromyscus maniculatus," *Toxicology*, (1984), 30: 103–114.

- Olson, L.J., R.D. Hinsdill, and D.J. Weltman, "The Immunomodulatory Effects of Two Plant Growth Regulators Cycloheximide and Maleic Hydrazide in White Mice," *Drug Chemistry and Toxicology*, (1983), 6: 341.
- Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., R.L. De Swart, P.S. Ross, H.H. Timmerman, H. Van Loveren, P.J.H. Reijnders, and J.G. Vos, "Impairment of Immune Function in Harbour Seals (Phoca vitulina) Feeding on Fish Contaminated Through the Food Chain," Abstract presented at the Conference, Chemically-Induced Alterations in the Developing Immune System: The Wildlife/ Human Connection, Racine, Wisconsin, February 10–12, 1995.
- Páldy, A., N. Puskás, K. Vincze, and M. Hadházi "Cytogenic Studies on Rural Populations Exposed to Pesticides," *Mutation Research*, (1987), 187: 127–132.
- Palvanova, S.I., "[Functional Gastrointestinal Tract Status of Individuals Occupationally Exposed to Pesticides]," *Meditsinskii Zhurnal Uzbekistana*, (1987), (2): 43–45, (in Russian).
- Park, B.H., and T.P. Lee, "Effects of Pesticides on Human Leukocyte Function," in I.M. Asher, ed., Inadvertent Modification of the Immune Response: The Effects of Foods, Drugs, and Environmental Contaminants—Proceedings of The Fourth FDA Science Symposium, (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Office of Health Affairs, Rockville, Maryland: 1978), 273–274.
- Patz, J.A., P.R. Epstein, T.A. Burke, and J.M. Balbus, "Global Climate Change and Emerging Infectious Diseases," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, (January 17, 1996), 275(3): 217–223.
- Pearce, F., "Tropical Toxins Ruin Arctic Catch," New Scientist, (July 5, 1995), 147(1987): 7.
- Perelygin, V.M., M.B. Shpirt, O.A. Aripov, and V.I. Ershova, "The Action of Certain Pesticides on the Immunological Reactivity," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1971), 36(12): 29–33, (in Russian).

Pesticide Action Network (PAN), "Toxaphene in North Sea Fish," *Global Pesticide Campaigner*, (November 1993), 3(4): 17.

- PAN—Pesticide Action Network International, for The Pesticides Trust, *The FAO Code: Missing Ingredients—Prior Informed Consent in the International Code of Conduct on the Distribution and Use of Pesticides, Final Report,* (PAN: October 1989).
- Pestka, J.J., and G.S. Bondy, "Mycotoxin-Induced Immune Modulation," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 163–182.
- Plumb, J.A., and N. Areechon, "Effects of Malathion on Humoral Immune Response of Channel Catfish," *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, (1990), 14: 355–358.
- Pocchiari, F., V. Silano, and A. Zampieri, "Human Health Effects From Accidental Release of Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) at Seveso, Italy," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, (1979), 79: 311–320.
- Pocino, M, "Influence of Oral Administration of Excess Copper on Immune Responses," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1991), 16(2): 249–256.
- Pocino, M., I. Malave, and L. Baute, "Zinc Administration Restores the Impaired Immune Response Observed in Mice Receiving Excess Copper by Oral Route," *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, (1990), 12(4): 697–713.
- Polchenko, V.I., [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 17], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1987b), 51–53, (in Russian).
- Polchenko, V.I., and D.V. Zinchenko, "[Immunity Indices in Epidemiological Studies of Children from Districts with Intensive and Limited Use

of Pesticides]," in R.V. Petrov, ed., [Methodology, Organization, and Results of Mass Immunological Examinations: Summaries of a Republic All-Union Conference], (Angarsk: 1987a), 184–185, (in Russian).

- Prapamontol, T., and D. Stevenson, "Preliminary Observations of Organochlorine Pesticide Contamination in Northern Thai Mothers' Milk," Abstract presented at the Second Princess Chulabhon Science Congress: Environment, Science and Technology, The Challenges of the 21st Century, Bangkok, November 2–6, 1992.
- Prasad, A.S., "Acquired Zinc Deficiency and Immune Dysfunction in Sickle Cell Anemia," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 393–410.
- Prasad, T.A.V., T. Srinivas, G. Rafi, and D.C. Reddy, "Effect of In Vivo Atrazine on Haematology and O₂ Consumption in Fish, Tilapia mossambica," *Biochemistry International*, (1991), 23: 157–161.
- Prescott, C.A., B.N. Wilkie, B. Hunter, and R.J. Julian, "Influence of a Purified Grade of Pentachlorophenol on the Immune Response of Chickens," *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, (March 1982), 43(3): 481–487.
- Procianoy, R.S., and S. Schvartsman, "Blood Pesticide Concentration in Mothers and Their Newborn Infants," *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, (1981), 70: 925–928.
- Proulx, J.-F., "Meningitis in Hudson's Bay, Northern Quebec, Canada," Arctic Medical Research, Abstracts of the 7th International Congress on Circumpolar Health, (1987), 45.
- Pruett, S.B., "Immunotoxicity of Organophosphorus Compounds," Organophosphates: Chemistry, Fate, and Effects, (Academic Press, Inc., San Diego: 1992a), 367–385.
- Pruett, S.B., D.B. Barnes, Y.C. Han, and A.E. Munson, "Immunotoxicological Characteristics of

Sodium Methyldithiocarbamate," Fundamental and Applied Toxicology, (1992b), 18: 40–47.

Pruett, S.B., Y. Han, A.E. Munson, and B.A. Fuchs, "Assessment of Cholinergic Influences on a Primary Humoral Immune Response," *Immunology*, (1992c), 77: 428–435.

Purchase, I.F.H., "Current Knowledge of Mechanisms of Carcinogenicity: Gentoxins Versus Non-Genotoxins," Human and Experimental Toxicology, (1994), 13:17–28.

Queiroz, M.L.S., "Efeitos Toxicos de Pesticidas Sobre os Sistemas Hematologico e Immunologico—Revisao Bibliographica," *Ciencia e Cultura*, (Junho de 1986), 36(6): 968–972, (in Portuguese).

Radhakrishnan, C.V., N.P. Thompson, and D.J. Forrester, "Susceptibility of Chickens Fed p'p'-DDT to Histomaniasis," *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1972), 8(3): 147–152.

Raise, B.T., "Role of Adaptive Immune Defense Mechanisms," in B.T. Rouse, C. Lopez, eds., *Immunobiology of Herpes Simplex Virus Infection*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1983), 69–73.

Rakhmanov, T., "The Effects of Bazudin on the Immunological Reactivity of the Body," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1975), (8): 104–106, (in Russian).

Rao, D.S.V.S, and B. Glick, "Pesticide Effects on the Immune Response and Metabolic Activity of Chicken Lymphocytes," *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, (1977), 154: 27–29.

Rao, P., "Haematological Effects in Fishes from Complex Polluted Waters in Visakhapatnam Harbours," *Indian Marine Environmental Research*, (1990), 30(30): 217–231.

Rastogi, S.K., B.N. Gupta, T. Husain, N. Mathur, and N. Garg, "Study of Respiratory Impairments Among Pesticide Sprayers in Mango Plantations," *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, (1989), 16: 529–538.

Ray, P.K., and A.K. Prasad, "Immunotoxic and Other Health Effects of TCDD and Toxic Oils," in K. Miller, J.L. Turk, and S. Nicklin, eds., *Principles and Practice of Immunotoxicology*, (Blackwell Scientific Publications, London: 1992), 251–262.

Rea, W.J., "Pesticides," Chemical Sensitivity: Sources of Total Body Load, Volume 2, (Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida: 1994), 837–939.

—, "Pollutant Effects on the Blood and Reticuloendothelial System (Lymphatic and Immune System)," *Chemical Sensitivity, Volume 1*, (Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida: 1992), 155–219.

Rea, W.J., and H.-C. Liang, "Effects of Pesticides on the Immune System," *Journal of Nutritional Medicine*, (1991), 2: 399–410.

Reddy, S.J., B.V. Reddy, and R. Ramamurthi, "Impact of Chronic Phosalone Toxicity on Erythropoietic Activity of Fish, Oreochromis mossambicus," *Biochemistry International*, (1991), 25: 547–552.

Reece, E.R., "Ontogeny of Immunity in Inuit Infants," Arctic Medical Research, Abstracts of the 7th International Congress on Circumpolar Health, (1987), 45: 62.

Relman, D.A., "Bordetella Pertussis: Determinants of Virulence," in J. Moss, M. Vaughan, B. Iglewski, and A.T. Tu, eds., *Bacterial Toxins and Virulence Factors in Disease*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1995), Handbook of Natural Toxins, Volume 8, 367–405.

Rice, C.D., and B.A. Weeks, "Influence of Tributyltin on In Vitro Activation of Oyster Toadfish Macrophages," *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health*, (1980), 1: 62–68.

Richard, J.L., "Selected Biological Effects of Mycotoxins Relative to Health and Safety," in R.F. Keeler, N.B. Mandava, and A.T. Tu, eds., *Natural Toxins: Toxicology, Chemistry and Safety,* (Alaken, Inc., Fort Collins, Colorado: 1992), 318–336.

- Richter, E.D., "Aerial Application and Spray Drift of Anticholinesterases: Protective Measures," in B. Ballatyne and T. Aldridge, eds., *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 623–631.
- Rita, P., P.P. Reddy, and S.V. Reddy, "Monitoring of Workers Occupationally Exposed to Pesticides in Grape Gardens of Andhra Pradesh," *Environmental Research*, (1987), 44: 1–5.
- Rivas, F., Niveles de Colinesterasa Sanguinea y Frecuencia de Sintomas en Poblacion Expuesta a Plaguicidas Organofosforados Aplicados por Aspersion Aerea, Doctoral Dissertation, (National Autonomous University of Nicaragua School of Medicine, Leon, Nicaragua: 1991), (in Spanish).
- Rivas, J.M., and S.E. Ullrich, "Ultraviolet B Radiation and Skin Immunology," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 435–453.
- Rodgers, K.E., "The Immunotoxicity of Pesticides in Rodents," *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, (1995), 14: 111–113.
- Rodgers, K.E., B.H., Devens, and T. Imamura, "Immunotoxic Effects of Anticholinesterases," in B. Ballantyne, and T.C. Marrs, eds, *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 211–222.
- Rodgers, K.E., and D.D. Ellefson, "Modulation of Respiratory Burst Activity and Mitogenic Response of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and Murine Splenocytes and Peritoneal Cells by Malathion," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, (1990), 14(2): 309–317.

- Rodgers, K.E., N. Leung, C.F. Ware, B.H. Devens, and T. Imamura, "Lack of Immunosuppressive Effects of Acute and Subacute Administration of Malathion on Murine Cellular and Humoral Immune Response," *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, (1986), 25: 358–365.
- Rogillio, G.J., Effects of Mirex on Selected Organs of the Channel Catfish (Ictalurus punctatus): A Light and Electron Microscopic Study, Dissertation for Ph.D., (Mississippi State University: 1974).
- Rola, A.C. and P.L. Pingali, *Pesticides, Rice Productivity, and Farmers' Health: An Economic Assessment,* (International Rice Research Institute and World Resources Institute, Manila and Washington, DC: 1993).
- Rola, Agnes C., *Pesticides, Health Risks and Farm Productivity: A Philippine Experience*, (University of Philippines at Los Banos, Agricultural Policy Research Program, Los Banos: September 1989), Monograph Number 89-01.
- Romash, A.V., "[Morphofunctional and Cytochemical Investigations of Peripheral Blood in Early Diagnosis of Pesticidal Effects on an Organism]," [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 17], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1987), 184–186, (in Russian).
- Rose, N.R., and J.B. Margolick, "The Immunological Assessment of Immunotoxic Effects in Man," in D.S. Newcombe, N.R. Rose, and J.C. Bloom, eds., *Clinical Immunotoxicology*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1992), 9–25.
- Rosenberg, A., "Environmental Factors Contributing to the Induction of Human Autoimmune Disease," Abstract presented at the Canadian Network of Toxicology Centres' Annual Research Symposium, Toronto, Canada, May 2–3, 1995.
- Ross, P.S., Seals, Pollution, and Disease: Environmental Contaminant-Induced Immunosuppression, Dissertation for Ph.D., (Universiteit Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands: September 1995a).

Ross, P.S., R.L. De Swart, P.J.H. Reijnders, H. Van Loveren, J.G. Vos, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, "Contaminant-Related Suppression of Delayed-Type Hypersensitivity and Antibody Responses in Harbor Seals Fed Herring from the Baltic Sea," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (February 1995b), 103(2): 162–167.

Ross, P.S., R.L. De Swart, I.K.G. Visser, L.J. Vedder, W. Murk, W.D. Bowen, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, "Relative Immunocompetence of the Newborn Harbour Seal, Phoca vitulina," *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, (1994a), 42: 331–348.

Ross, C.A., and U.G. Hammerling, "Retinoids and the Immune System," in M.B. Sporn, A.B. Roberts, and D.S. Goodman, eds., *The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry, and Medicine*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994b), 521–543.

Roux, F., I. Treich, C. Brun, B. Desoize, and E. Fournier, "Effect of Lindane on Human Lymphocyte Responses to Phytohemagglutinin," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, (1979), 28: 2419–2426.

Rupa, D.S., P.P. Reddy, and O.S. Reddi, "Clastogenic Effect of Pesticides in Peripheral Lymphocytes of Cotton-Field Workers," *Mutation Research*, (1991), 261: 177–180.

Rupa, D.S., P. Rita, P.P. Reddy, and O.S. Reddi, "Screening of Chromosomal Aberrations and Sister Chromatid Exchanges in Peripheral Lymphocytes of Vegetable Garden Workers," *Human Toxicology*, (1988), 7: 333–336.

Russu-Lupan, I.T., "[Functional Immune System Status of Individuals Working at Agricultural Chemical Facilities]," [Ecological Problems Facing the Republic and Their Lines of Attack], (Kishinev: 1989), 358, (in Russian).

Russu-Lupan, I.T., V.E. Bukova, S.A. Shwartz, and V.D. Dmitrienko, "[The Effects of Combined Pesticide Exposure on the Specific Immune Reactivity of an Organism]," [Health Protection], (1983), (4): 26–29, (in Russian). Ruzybakyev, R.M., V.A. Chinenkov, R.Z. Sagidov, L.I. Askarov, and O.I. Sipko, "[Immune Status and Effects of Pesticides]," [Proceedings of the First Republic All-Union Immunological Congress, Volume 2], (1989a), 266, (in Russian).

- Ruzybakyev, R.M., and L.A. Fedorina, "[Circulation of T, B and O Lymphocytes in Peripheral Blood of Patient with Pesticide Intoxication]," [Responses of an Organism in the Standard and Pathology: Summaries of the Republic Conference of Young Scientists], (Ufa: 1983), 107–108, (in Russian).
- Ruzybakyev, R.M., F.Z. Gafurov, R.Z. Sagidov, and L.I. Askarov, "[Immune Status in Individuals Occupationally Exposed to Pesticides and Defoliants]," [Secondary Immunodeficient States: Etiology, Pathogenesis, Diagnostics and Treatment], (Tashkent: 1989b), 117–121, (in Russian).
- Saboori, A.M., and D.S. Newcombe, "Environmental Chemicals with Immunotoxic Properties," in D.S. Newcombe, N.R. Rose, and J.C. Bloom, *Clinical Immunotoxicology*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1992), 365–400.
- Sadikova, S.S., "[Exchange of Iron and Cellular Immunity in Healthy Children and Children with Iron-Deficiency Anemia Living in Districts with Intensive and Limited Utilization of Pesticides]," [New Progress in Hematology and Transfusiology: Summaries of the Third Republic Congress of Hematologists and Transfusiologists of Uzbekistan], (Tashkent: 1990), 104–105.
- Saidarimov, S.K., M.V. Valyalieva, N.V. Olkhovaya, and N.K. Sameritdinov, "[Certain Peculiarities of Immunological Reactivity of Machine-Operators in Uzbekistan]," [Problems of Regional Allerology: Summaries of the Scientific Conference of Allerologists in Uzbekistan], (Tashkent: 1989), 173, (in Russian).
- Saliev, D.K., B.H. Akhmedov, N.S. Mamasoliev, and K.K. Saliev, "[Regional Specifity of Spreading of Chronic Non-Specific Pulmonary Diseases and Risk Factors Among Rural Populations Under Conditions of Pesticidal Utiliza-

tion and Measures for Their Prophylactics]," [Proceedings of The International 'Healthy Way of Life' Conference, Leningrad], (1990), 248, (in Russian).

Salimonu, L.S., "Natural Killer Activity in Protein-Calorie Malnutrition," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., *Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response*, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 359–368.

Samedov, M.Z., N.M. Minevitch, and N.M. Golubeva, "[Immuno-Epidemiological Examination of Workers Producing Plant Protective Chemicals]," [Ecological Aspects of Immunopathological States: Summaries of an All-Union Conference], (Alma-Ata: 1990), Part 1: 80, (in Russian).

Sanders, V.M., K.L. White, G.M. Shopp, and A.E. Munson, "Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immune Status of Mice Exposed to 1,1,2-Trichloroethane," *Drug Chemistry and Toxicol*ogy, (1985), 8: 357.

Sargent, I.L., C.W.G. Redman, and P.M. Starkey, "The Placenta as a Graft," in C.W.G. Redman, I.L. Sargent, and P.M. Starkey, eds., *The Human Placenta: A Guide for Clinicians and Scientists*, (Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford: 1993), 334–361.

Savitz, D.A., and J. Chen, "Parental Occupation and Childhood Cancer: Review of Epidemiologic Studies," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, (1990), 88: 325–337.

Schoenthal, N.D., "Some Effects of DDT on Cold Water Fish and Fish-Food Organisms," Proceedings of the Montana Academy of Sciences, (1963), 23: 63–70.

Selgrade, M.K., M.J. Daniels, J.W. Illing, A.L. Ralston, M.A. Grady, E. Charlet, and J.A. Graham, "Increased Susceptibility to Parathion Poisoning Following Immune Cytomegalovirus Infection," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1984), 76: 356–364. Senthilselvan, A., H.H. McDuffie, and J.A. Dosman, "Association of Asthma with Use of Pesticides," American Review of Respiratory Diseases, (1992), 148: 884–887.

Sesline, D.H., and R.J. Jackson, "The Effects of Prenatal Exposure to Pesticides," H.L. Needleman and D. Bellinger, eds., *Prenatal Exposure to Toxicants: Development Consequences*, (The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore: 1994), 233–248.

Shabat Alam Malaysia (Friends of the Earth), *Pesticide Dilemma in the Third World—A Case Study of Malaysia*, (Shabat Alam Malaysia, Pulau Pinang, Malaysia: 1984).

Sharma, R.P., "Environmental Immunotoxicity: An Overview," in I.M. Asher, ed., Inadvertent Modification of the Immune Response: The Effects of Foods, Drugs, and Environmental Contaminants—Proceedings of The Fourth FDA Science Symposium, (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Office of Health Affairs, Rockville, Maryland: 1978), 165–169.

Sharma, R.P., and R.S. Tomar, "Immunotoxicology of Anticholinesterase Agents," in B. Ballantyne, and T.C. Marrs, *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 203–210.

Sharp, D.S., and B. Eskenazi, "Delayed Health Hazards of Pesticides," *Annual Review of Public Health*, (1986), 7: 441–471.

Sher, A., R.T. Gazzinelli, I.P. Oswald, M. Clerici, M. Kullberg, E.J. Pearce, J.A. Berzofsky, T.R. Mosmann, S.L. James, H.C. Morse III, and G.M. Shearer, "Role of T-Cell Derived Cytokines in the Downregulation of Immune Responses in Parasitic and Retroviral Infection," *Immunological Reviews*, (1992), 127: 181–204.

Sherman, A.R., "Zinc, Copper, and Iron Nutriture and Immunity," *Journal of Nutrition*, (1992) 122: 604–609. Shirazi, M.A., "An Analysis of Risk from Exposure to Aldicarb Using Immune Response on Non Uniform Population of Mice," Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1990), 19(3): 447–456.

Shopp, G.M., J.A. McCay, and M.P. Holsapple, "Suppression of the Antibody Response by a Formamidine Pesticide: Dependence on the Route of Exposure," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1985), 15: 293–304.

Shou-Zhen, X., "Health Effects of Pesticides: A Review of Epidemiologic Research From the Perspective of Developing Nations," *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, (1987), 12: 269–279.

Shtenberg, A.I., Y.I. Ashmenskas, and I.A. Kusevitsky, "Immunobiological Body Reactivity Changes Under the Effects of Some Pesticides Belonging to the Group of Carbamine and Dithiocarbamine Compounds," *Voprosy Pitaniia*, (1972), 31(1): 58–63, (in Russian).

Shu, X.O., Tang, Y., L.A. Brinton, M.S. Linet, J.T. Tu, W. Zheng, and J.F. Fraumeni, "A Population-Based Case-Control Study of Childhood Leukemia in Shanghai," *Cancer*, (August 1, 1988), 62: 635–644.

Sigal, L.H. and Y. Ron, "The Immune Response of Normal Children," Immunology and Inflammation: Basic Mechanisms and Clinical Consequences, (McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York: 1994), 563–571.

Silkworth, J., and L. Loose, "Environmental Chemical-Induced Modifications of Cell-Mediated Immune Responses," in M.R. Escobar, and H. Friedman, eds., *Macrophages and Lymphocytes: Nature, Functions, and Interaction, Part A*, (Plenum Press, New York: 1980), Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, Volume 121, 499–522.

Sim, F.G., *The Pesticide Poisoning Report: A Survey* of *Some Asian Countries*, (International Organization of Consumers Unions, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, Penang, Melaysia: 1985). Simons, M., "Dead Mediterranean Dolphins Give Nations Pause," *The New York Times*, (February 2, 1992), 10.

Simpson, J.R., and L. Hoffman-Goetz, "Nutritional Deficiencies and Immunoregulatory Cytokines," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 31–45.

Siwicki, A.K., M Cossarini-Dunier, M. Studnicka, and A. Demael, "In Vivo Effect of an Organophosphorus Insecticide. Trichlorfon on Immune Response of Carp (Cyprinus carpio): II. Effect of Trichlorfon on Nonspecific Immune Response in Carp (Cyprinus carpio)," *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, (1990), 19: 98–105.

Slikker, W., and R.K. Miller, "Placental Metabolism and Transfer: Role in Developmental Toxicology," in C.A. Kimmel and J. Buelke-Sam, eds., Developmental Toxicology, Second Edition, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 245–283.

Smialowicz, R.J., "Developmental Immunotoxicology," Position Paper prepared for the International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS) Working Group meeting in Luxembourg, December 13–17, 1984.

Smialowicz, R.J., R.W. Luebke, M.M. Riddle, R.R. Rogers, and D.G. Rowe, "Evaluation of the Immunotoxic Potential of Chlordecone with Comparison to Cyclophosphamide," *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, (1985a), 15: 561–574.

Smialowicz, R.J., R.W. Luebke, R.R. Rogers, M.M. Riddle, and D.G. Rowe, "Evaluation of Immune Function in Mice Exposed to Ordram," *Toxicology*, (1985b), 37: 307–314.

Smialowicz, R.J., M.M. Riddle, R.R. Rogers, R.W. Luebke, and C.B. Copeland, "Immunotoxicity of Tributyltin Oxide in Rats Exposed as Adults or Pre-Weanlings," *Toxicology*, (1989), 57: 97–111.

- Smoger, G.H., P.C. Kahn, G.C. Rodgers, S. Suffin, and P.R. McConnachie, "In Utero and Postnatal Exposure to 2,3,7,8-TCDD in Times Beach, Missouri: 1. Immunological Effects: Lymphocyte Phenotype Frequencies," in H. Fiedler, H. Frank, O. Hutzinger, W. Parzefall, A. Riss, and S. Safe, eds., Dioxin '93: 13th International Symposium on Chlorinated Dioxins and Related Compounds, (Federal Environmental Agency, Vienna: September 1993), Organohalogen Compounds, Volume 13, 345–348.
- Snyder, C.A., "Organic Solvents," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Sec*ond Edition, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 183–190.
- Sobti, R.C., A. Krishan, and C.D. Pfaffenberger, "Cytokinetic and Cytogenetic Effects of Some Agricultural Chemicals on Human Lymphoid Cells in Vitro: Organophosphates," *Mutation Research*, (1982), 102: 89–102.
- Socacio, G., "Modification in Thymus and Bursa of Fabricus Induced by N-Butyltin Pesticides Treatment in Chickens," *Aggressologie*, (1985), 27(2): 123–125.
- Socolov, M.S., "Monitoring Pesticide Hazards to Human Health and the Environment," *Preventive Toxicology, Volume 2*, (Moscow: 1984), Part 1: 163, (in Russian).
- Sorenson, W.G., "Mycotoxins: Toxic Metabolites of Fungi," in J.W. Murphy, H. Friedman, and M. Bendinelli, eds., *Fungal Infections and Immune Responses*, (Plenum Press, New York: 1993), 469–491.
- Spyker-Cranmer, J.M., J.B. Barnett, D.L. Avery, and M.F. Cranmer, "Immunoteratology of Chlordane: Cell Mediated and Humoral Immune Responses in Adult Mice Exposed in Utero," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1982), 62: 402–408.
- St. Omer, V.E.V., and G.E. Rottinghaus, "Biochemical Determination of Cholinesterase Ac-

tivity in Biological Fluids and Tissues," in B. Ballatyne and T. Aldridge, eds., *Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, Ltd., Oxford: 1992), 15–27.

- Stancek, D., G. Kosecka, M. Oltman, A. Keleova, and E. Jahnova, "Links Between Prolonged Exposure to Xenobiotics, Increased Incidence of Hepatopathies, Immunological Disturbances and Exacerbation of Latent Epstein-Barr Virus Infections," *International Journal of Immunopharmacology*, (1995), 17(4): 321–328.
- Starkey, P.M., "The Decidua and Factors Controlling Placentation," in C.W.G. Redman, I.L. Sargent, and P.M. Starkey, eds., *The Human Placenta: A Guide for Clinicians and Scientists*, (Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford: 1993), 362–413.
- Steen, R.G., "Cancer and the Immune System," A Conspiracy of Cells: The Basic Science of Cancer, (Plenum Press, New York: 1993), 129–146.
- Stelzer, K.J., and M.A. Gordon, "Effects of Pyrethroids on Lymphocyte Mitogenic Responsiveness," *Research Communications in Chemical Pathology and Pharmacology*, (October 1984), 46(1): 137–150.
- Stephens, S., "Maturation of the Immune System in Breast-Fed and Bottle-Fed Infants," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modulation of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 301–318.
- Street, J.C., "Pesticides and the Immune System," in R.P. Sharma, ed., *Immunologic Considerations in Toxicology, Volume I*, (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1981), 45–66.
- Street, J.C., and R.P. Sharma, "Alteration of Induced Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses by Pesticides and Chemicals of Environmental Concern: Quantitative Studies of Immunosuppression by DDT, Arochlor 1254, Carbaryl, Carbofuran and Methylparathion,"

Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, (1975), 32(3): 587–602.

- Styles, J.A., "Studies on the Effects of Paraquat and Diquat on Cells in Culture: Viability of Macrophages and Fibroblasts Incubated with Paraquat and Diquat," British Journal of Experimental Pathology, (1974), 55: 71–77.
- Szmedra, P., "Pesticides and the Agrochemical Industry in Sub-Saharan Africa," A report prepared for the Bureau of African, U.S. Agency for International Development, (Winrock International Environmental Alliance, Environmental and Natural Resources Policy and Training Project, Arlington, Virginia: July 1994).
- Talankin, I.N., [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 17], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1987), 183–185, (in Russian).
- Tan, S.H., S. Ramasamy, C.H. Yeoh, and K.
 Ahmad, "A Comparative Study on the Occupational Exposure of Spray Workers Using Knapsack and Spinning Disc Sprayers," in P.S. Teng and K.L. Heong, eds., *Pesticides Management and Integrated Pest Management in Southeast Asia*, (Consortium for International Crop Protection, College Park, Maryland: 1988), 407–415.
- Tayaputch, N., "Pesticide Residues in Thailand," in P.S. Teng and K.L. Heong, eds., *Pesticides Management and Integrated Pest Management in Southeast Asia*, (Consortium for International Crop Protection, College Park, Maryland: 1988), 345–347.
- Thaxton, P., and C.R. Parkhurst, "Toxicity of Mercury to Young Chickens: 3. Changes in Immunological Responsiveness," *Poultry Science*, (1973), 52: 761.
- Theus, S.A., D.R. Tabor, L.S.F. Soderberg, and J.B. Barnett, "Macrophage Tumoricidal Mechanisms Are Selectively Altered by Prenatal Chlordane Exposure," *Agents and Actions*, (1992a), 37: 140–146.

- Theus, S.A., K.A. Lau, D.R. Tabor, L.S.F. Soderberg, and J.B. Barnett, "In Vivo Prenatal Chlordane Exposure Induces Development of Endogenous Inflammatory Macrophages," *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, (April 1992b), 51: 366–372.
- Theus, S.A., D.R. Tabor, and J.B. Barnett, "Alteration of Macrophage TNF Production by Prenatal Chlordane Exposure," *The FASEB Journal*, (1991), 5: A1347.
- Thomas, D.J., B. Tracey, H. Marshall, and R.J. Norstrom, "Arctic Terrestrial Ecosystem Contamination," *The Science of the Total Environment*, (1992), 122: 135–164.
- Thomas, P.T., W.W. Busse, N.I. Kerkvliet, M.I.
 Luster, A.E. Munson, M. Murray, D. Roberts,
 M. Robinson, J. Silkworth, R. Sjoblad, and R.
 Smialowicz, "Immunologic Effects of Pesticides," in S.R. Baker, and C.F. Wilkinson, eds.,
 The Effects of Pesticides on Human Health,
 (Princeton Scientific Publishing Co., Inc.,
 Princeton: 1988), Advances in Modern Environmental Toxicology, Volume XVIII, 261–295.
- Thrasher, J.D., A. Broughton, and R. Madison, "Immune Activation and Autoantibodies with Long Term Exposure to Formaldehyde," *International Archives of Environmental Health*, (1990), 45: 217–223.
- Thrasher, J.D., R. Madison, and A. Broughton, "Immunologic Abnormalities in Humans Exposed to Chlorpyrifos: Preliminary Observations," Archives of Environmental Health, (March/April 1993), 48:(2): 89–93.
- Thrupp, L.A., with G. Bergeron and W. Waters, *Bittersweet Harvest for Global Supermarkets: Challenges in Latin America's Agricultural Export Boom*, (World Resources Institute, Washington, DC: 1995), Appendix 3, 155–157.
- Tiefenbach, B., and P. Lange, "Studies on the Action of Dimethoate on the Immune System," *Archives of Toxicology*, (1980), 4: 167–170.

Tinoco, R., R. Tinocco, J. Parsonnet, and D. Halperin, "Paraquat Poisoning in Southern Mexico: A Report of 25 Cases," Archives of Environmental Health, (March–April 1993), 48(2): 78–80.

Tracey, K.J., "The Acute and Chronic Pathophysiologic Effects of TNF: Mediation of Septic Shock and Wasting (Cachexia)," in B. Beutler, ed., Tumor Necrosis Factors: The Molecules and Their Emerging Role in Medicine, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1992), 255–273.

Trichopoulos, D., "Epidemiologic Studies and Cancer Etiology in Humans," *Medicine, Exercise, Nutrition, and Health*, (1994), 3: 206–225.

Tryphonas, H., "Immunotoxicity of Polychlorinated Biphenyls: Present Status and Future Considerations," *Experimental and Clinical Immunogenetics*, (1994), 11: 149–162.

Turner, R.J., ed., *Immunology: A Comparative Approach*, (John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., Chichester, England: 1994).

Ubaydulayev, R.U., and R.A. Kasymov, "[Hygienic Estimation of Atmospheric Air in Cotton-Growing Districts of Uzbekistan]," [Actual Problems of Hygiene and Sanitation in Uzbekistan], (Tashkent: 1984), 134–137, (in Russian).

Umarova, D.T., "[The T and B-Immunity System Status in Patients with Chronic Enterocolitis Occupationally Exposed to Organochlorine and Organophosphorus Pesticides]," *Meditsinskii Zhurnal Uzbekistana*, (1985), (6): 43–44, (in Russian).

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), *State* of the World's Children 1995, (Oxford University Press, New York: 1995).

Utsch, H., *Pesticide Poisoning in a Rice and a Vegetable Growing Area of Sri Lanka*, Dissertation for Ph.D., (Universitat Zurich, Zurich: 1991).

Vainio, H., E. Matos, and M. Kogevinas, "Indentification of Occupational Carcinogens," in N. Pearce, E. Matos, H. Vainio, P. Boffetta, and M. Kogevinas, eds., *Occupational Cancer in Developing Countries*, (International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon: 1994), Scientific Publications Number 129, 41–59.

Van Buren, C.T., A.D. Kulkarni, and F.B. Rudolph, "The Role of Nucleotides in Adult Nutrition," *Journal of Nutrition*, (1994), 124: 160S–164S.

Van Loveren, H., "Host Resistance Models," *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, (1995), 14: 137–140.

Vargas Melo, A., and M. del Carmen Vallejo R, "Residuos de Insecticidas Organoclorados en Leche Humana y de Vaca en Colombia," *Boletin de la Oficina Sanitaria Panamericana*, (1990), 108(3): 220–228, (in Spanish).

Vasilos, A.F., "[The Effect of Pesticides on Human Health]," [Ecological Problems Facing the Republic and Their Lines of Attack], (Kishinev: 1989), 368, (in Russian).

Vasilos, A.F., and V.D. Dmitrienko, "[The Complex Estimation of the Health Status of Children Living in Rural Districts with Different Levels of Chemicalization of Agricultural Production]," [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 16], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1986), 173–176, (in Russian).

Vasilos, L.V., A.F. Vasilos, P.M. Stratulat, A.V. Gorshkov, A.P. Maksimchuk, and G.S. Voronko, "Health Status of Children in Zones with Intensive Chemicalization of Agriculture," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1993), (1): 48–51, (in Russian).

Viveros, A.D., and L.A. Albert, "Estudios sobre Plaguicidas en Leche Materna en Mexico," *Ciencia y Desarrollo*, (1990), XVI(91): 83–90, (in Spanish).

Volkova, E.V., [Nature of Fibrous Changes and the State of Functional Activity of Surfactant System

During Pulmonary Tuberculosis at the Background of Chronic Pesticidal Intoxication], Dissertation for Med.Sci.M., (1991), (in Russian).

- Vos, J.G, R. Smialowicz, and H. Van Loveren, "Animal Models for Assessment," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 19–30.
- Vos, J.G., H. Van Loveren, and H.-J. Schuurman, "Immunotoxicity of Dioxin: Immune Function and Host Resistance in Laboratory Animals and Humans," *Branbury Report 35: Biological Basis for Risk Assessment of Dioxins and Related Compounds*, (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: 1991), 79–93.
- Vos, J.G., M.J. van Logten, J.G. Kreeftenberg, and W. Kruizinga, "Effect of Triphenyltin Hydroxide on the Immune System of the Rat," *Toxicology*, (1984a), 29: 325–336.

Vos, J.G., A. de Klerk, E.I. Krajnc, W. Kruizinga, B. van Ommen, and J. Rozing, "Toxicity of Bis(Tri-n-Butyltin) Oxide in the Rat: II. Suppression of Thymus-Dependent Immune Responses and of Parameters of Nonspecific Resistance After Short-Term Exposure," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1984b), 75: 387–408.

- Vos, J.G., E.I. Krajnc, P.K. Beekhof, and M.J. van Logten, "Methods for Testing Immune Effects of Toxic Chemicals: Evaluation of the Immunotoxicity of Various Pesticides in the Rat," in J. Miyamoto, ed., *IUPAC Pesticide Chemistry: Human Welfare and the Environment*, (Pergamon Press, Oxford: 1983a).
- Vos, J.G., G.M.J. Brouwer, F.X.R. van Leewen, and S.J. Wagenaar, "Toxicity of Hexachlorobenzene in the Rat Following Combined Preand Post-Natal Exposure: Comparison of Effects on Immune System, Liver, and Lung," in G.G. Gibson, R. Hubbard, and D.V. Parke, eds., *Immunotoxicology*, (Academic Press, London: 1983b), 219–235.

- Vos, J.G., M.J. van Logten, J.G. Kreeftenberg, P.A. Steerenberg, and W. Kruizinga, "Effect of Hexachlorobenzene on the Immune System of Rats Following Combined Pre- and Post-Natal Exposure," Drug Chemistry and Toxicology, (1979a), 2: 61.
- Vos, J.G., M.J. van Logten, J.G. Kreestenberg, and W. Kruizinga, "Hexachlorobenzene-Induced Stimulation of the Humoral Immune Response in Rats," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, (1979b), 320: 535–550.
- Walsh, A.H., *The Pathology of Pesticide Poisoning in Fish*, Dissertation for Ph.D., (University of Wisconsin, Madison: 1974).
- Walsh, A.H., and W.E. Ribelin, "The Pathology of Pesticide Poisoning," in W.E. Ribelin and G. Migaki, eds., *The Pathology of Fishes*, (The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison: 1975), 515–557.
- Ward, P.A., P. Goldschmidt, and N.D. Greene, "Suppressive Effects of Metal Salts on Leukocyte and Fibroblastic Function," *Journal of the Reticuloendothial Society*, (November 1975), 18(5): 313–321.
- Wassermann, M., D. Wassermann, Z. Gershon, and L. Zellermayer, "Effects of Organochlorine Insecticides on Body Defense Systems," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, (June 23, 1969), 160(1): 393–401.
- Wassermann, M., D. Wassermann, E. Kedar, and M. Djavaherian, "Effects of Dieldrin and Gamma BHC on Serum Proteins and PBI," Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1972), 8(3): 177–185.
- —, "Immunological and Detoxification Interaction in p,p-DDT Fed Rabbits," *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1971), 6: 426–435.
- Watson, R.R., and D.L. Earnest, "Retinoids, Carotenoids, and Macrophage Activation," in S. Cunningham-Rundles, ed., Nutrient Modula-

tion of the Immune Response, (Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York: 1993), 63–74.

- Wesseling, C., Testifying before a U.S. Senate Panel on Workers in Developing Countries and Their Poisoning Risks from U.S. Products, Washington, DC, June 5, 1991.
- Wesseling, C., and M. Trivelato, *Plaguicidas Medio Ambiente y Salud, Costa Rica, Proyecto MASICA/ OPS*, (San Jose, Costa Rica: 1990), (in Spanish).
- Wiltrout, R.W., C.D. Ercegovich, and W.S. Ceglowski, "Humoral Immunity in Mice Following Oral Administration of Selected Pesticides," Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (1978), 20(3): 423–431.
- Wishkovsky, A., E.S. Mathews, and B.A. Weeks, "Effect of Tributyltin on the Chemiluminescent Response of Phagocytes from Three Species of Estuarine Fish," *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1989), 18: 826–831.
- Wolfe, H.R., J.F. Armstrong, D.C. Staiff, S.W. Comer, and W.F. Durham, "Exposure of Apple Thinners to Parathion Residues," *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, (1975), 3: 257–267.
- Wood MacKenzie Consultants, Ltd., Agrichemical Division, "Update of the Country Report," *Reference Volume of the Agrochemical Service*, (Wood McKenzie Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland: May 1994a).
- Wood MacKenzie Consultants, Ltd., Agrichemical Division, "Update of the Product Report," *Reference Volume of the Agrochemical Service*, (Wood McKenzie Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland: December 1994b).
- Woodin, A.M., and A. Harris, "The Inhibition of Locomotion of the Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte by Organophosphorus Compounds," *Experimental Cell Research*, (1973), 77: 41–46.
- Woods, J.S., L. Polissar, R.K. Severson, L.S. Heuser, and B.G. Kulander, "Soft Tissue Sar-

coma and Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma in Relation to Phenoxyherbicide and Chlorinated Phenol Exposure in Western Washington," *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, (May 1987), 78(5): 899–910.

- World Health Organization (WHO), *The World Health Report 1995: Bridging the Gaps*, (WHO, Geneva: 1995a).
- , WHO Report on the Tuberculosis Epidemic, 1995, (WHO, Geneva: 1995b), WHO/TB/95.183.
- —, "International Workshop: Setting Priorities in Environmental Epidemiology," Archives of Environmental Health, (July / August 1994), 49(4): 239–245.
- World Health Organization and United Nations Environment Programme, *Public Health Impact* of *Pesticides Used in Agriculture*, (WHO, Geneva: 1990a).
- WHO, Potential Health Effects of Climatic Change: Report of a WHO Task Group, (WHO, Geneva: 1990b), WHO/PEP/90/10.
- World Resources Institute (WRI), in collaboration with The United Nations Environment Programme and The United Nations Development Programme, *World Resources 1994–1995*, (World Resources Institute, Washington, DC: 1994).
- Wright, P.F.A., W.D. Thomas, and N.H. Stacey, "Effects of Trichloroethylene on Hepatic and Splenic Lymphocytotoxic Activities in Rodents," *Toxicology*, (1991), 70: 231–242.
- Wu, Y.-C., R.-P. Hsieh, and Y.-C. Lu, "Altered Distribution of Lymphocyte Subpopulations and Augmentation of Lymphocyte Proliferation in Chronic PCB Poisoned Patients," Chinese Journal of Microbiology and Immunology, (1984), 17: 177–187.
- Wysocki, J., Z. Kalina, and I. Owczarzy, "Effect of Organophosphoric Pesticides on the Behaviour

of NBT-Dye Reduction and E Rosette Formation Tests in Human Blood," *International Archives of Occuptional and Environmental Health*, (1987), 59: 63–71.

-, "Serum Levels of Immunoglobulins and C-3 Component of Complement in Persons Occupationally Exposed to Chlorinated Pesticides," *Medical Practitioner*, (1985), 36: 111–117.

Yoder, J., M. Watson, and W.W. Benson, "Lymphocyte Chromosome Analysis of Agricultural Workers During Extensive Occupational Exposure to Pesticides," *Mutation Research*, (1973), 21: 335–340.

Yoder, M.C., "Development of Respiratory Defenses," in G.M. Loughlin, and H. Eigen, eds., *Respiratory Disease in Children: Diagnosis and Management*, (Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore: 1994), 35–45.

Zahm, S.H., D.D. Weisenburger, R.C. Saal, J.B. Vaught, P.A. Babbitt, and A. Blair, "The Role of Agricultural Pesticide Use in the Development of Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma in Women," Archives of Environmental Health, (September/October 1993), 48(5): 353–358.

Zeakes, S.J., M.F. Hansen, and R.J. Robel, "Increased Susceptibility of Bobwhites (Colinus virginianus) to Histomonas meleagridis After Exposure to Sevin Insecticide," *Avian Diseases*, (1981), 25(4): 981–987.

Zeeman, M.G., and W.A. Brindley, "Effects of Toxic Agents Upon Fish Immune Systems: A Review," in R.P. Sharma, ed., Immunological Considerations in Toxicology, Volume II (CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida: 1981), 1–60.

--, "DDT-Induced Antibody Immunosuppression in Goldfish," *Proceedings of the Utah Academy of Science, Arts, and Letters,* (1975), 52: 46. Zejda, J.E., and J.A. Dosman, "Respiratory Disorders in Agriculture," *Tubercle and Lung Disease*, (1993), 74: 74–86.

Zelicoff, J.T., "Fish Immunotoxicology," in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and I. Kimber, eds., *Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology, Second Edition*, (Raven Press, Ltd., New York: 1994), 71–95.

Ziemsen, B., J. Angerer, and G. Lehnert, "Sister Chromatid Exchange and Chromosomal Breakage in Pentachlorophenol (PCP) Exposed Workers," *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, (1987), 59: 413–417.

Zinchenko, D.V., "[Certain Immunity Indices in Women Beet-Growers]," [Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Volume 17], (Institute of Hygiene and Toxicology of Pesticides, Polymers, and Plastics, Kiev: 1987), 190–191, (in Russian).

Ziprin, R.L., and S.R. Fowler, "Rosette-Forming Ability of Alveolar Macrophages from Rat Lung: Inhibition by Hexachlorobenzene," *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, (1977), 39: 105–109.

Zolotnikova, G.P., "Health Protection of Children and Juveniles in Connection with Utilization of Pesticides in the National Economy (A Review)," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1990), (5): 59–62, (in Russian).

—, "Early Detection of Liver Function Impairment in Hothouse Workers Exposed to Pesticides," *Gigiena i Sanitariia*, (1980a), (2): 24–27, (in Russian).

--, "Disturbances of the Immunological Reactivity of Organism Under Exposure to Pesticides in Greenhouse Conditions," *Gigiena Truda i Professionalnye Zabolenaviia*, (1980b), (3): 38–40, (in Russian).

World Resources Institute

1709 New York Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006, U.S.A.

WRI's Board of Directors: Maurice Strong Chairman John Firor Vice Chairman John H. Adams Kazuo Aichi Manuel Arango Robert O. Blake Derek Bok Robert N. Burt Sylvia A. Earle Alice F. Emerson Shinji Fukukawa William M. Haney, III Cynthia R. Helms Calestous Juma Jonathan Lash Jeffrey T. Leeds Thomas E. Lovejov Jane Lubchenco C. Payne Lucas Robert S. McNamara Scott McVav William F. Martin Matthew Nimetz Paulo Nogueira-Neto Ronald L. Olson Maria Tereza Jorge Padua Ruth Patrick Florence T. Robinson Roger W. Sant Stephan Schmidheiny Bruce Smart James Gustave Speth Mostafa K. Tolba Alvaro Umaña Victor L. Urquidi Pieter Winsemius George M. Woodwell

Jonathan Lash President J. Alan Brewster Senior Vice President Walter V. Reid Vice President for Program Donna W. Wise Vice President for Policy Affairs Robert Repetto Vice President and Senior Economist Marjorie Beane Secretary-Treasurer The World Resources Institute (WRI) is an independent center for policy research and technical assistance on global environmental and development issues. WRI's mission is to move human society to live in ways that protect Earth's environment and its capacity to provide for the needs and aspirations of current and future generations.

Because people are inspired by ideas, empowered by knowledge, and moved to change by greater understanding, the Institute provides—and helps other institutions provide—objective information and practical proposals for policy and institutional change that will foster environmentally sound, socially equitable development. WRI's particular concerns are with globally significant environmental problems and their interaction with economic development and social equity at all levels.

The Institute's current areas of work include economics, forests, biodiversity, climate change, energy, sustainable agriculture, resource and environmental information, trade, technology, national strategies for environmental and resource management, and human health.

In all of its policy research and work with institutions, WRI tries to build bridges between ideas and action, meshing the insights of scientific research, economic and institutional analyses, and practical experience with the need for open and participatory decision-making.

WORLD RESOURCES INSTITUTE

1709 New York Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006 USA